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Key performance indicators

In € million 2015/2016 2014/2015 2013/2014 

Sales 6,352 5,835 5,343
Change compared to prior year 9 % 9 % 11 % 

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and  
amortisation (EBITDA) 858 781 708
Change compared to prior year 10 % 10 % 28 % 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 816 766 656
Change compared to prior year 7 % 17 % 19 % 

Adjusted net operating profit/loss (EBIT) 476 445 399
Change compared to prior year 7 % 12 % 37 % 

Net operating profit/loss (EBIT) 420 430 347
Change compared to prior year – 2 % 24 % 13 % 

Earnings for the period 272 295 230
Change compared to prior year – 8 % 29 % 12 % 

Earnings per share (in €) 2.42 2.70 2.23
Change compared to prior year – 11 %  21 %  

Net cash flow generated from operating activities 602 560 535
Change compared to prior year 8 % 5 % 21 % 

Net capital expenditure 463 347 368
Change compared to prior year 33 % – 6 % – 14 % 

Research and development (R&D) expenses 623 544 514
Change compared to prior year 15 % 6 % 16 % 

31. Mai 2016 31. Mai 2015 31. Mai 2014

Adjusted EBITDA margin 13.5 % 13.4 % 13.3 %

EBITDA margin 12.8 % 13.1 % 12.3 %

Adjusted EBIT margin 7.5 % 7.6 % 7.5 %

EBIT margin 6.6 % 7.4 % 6.5 %

R&D expenses in relation to sales 9.8 % 9.3 % 9.6 %

Net debt (in € million) 238 131 425

Net debt/EBITDA 0.3 x 0.2 x 0.6 x

Equity ratio 39.6 % 38.8 % 30.1 %

Return on equity 14.2 % 22.0 % 19.0 %

Employees 33,689 31,864 30,692

Please note that where sums and percentages in the report have been rounded, differences may arise as a result of commercial rounding. 



HELLA Worldwide

Technologies which shape the future: HELLA has been driving technological developments 
in the automotive industry for more than 100 years. Innovative lighting technology and 
electronics components are at the centre of its operations. In addition to this, vehicle parts 
and accessories are sold via one of Europe’s largest distribution networks for the after-
market. The Special Applications business division rounds off the portfolio with products 
for specialist vehicles. Through its global footprint and network and thanks to sales of 
EUR 6.4 billion in fiscal year 2015/2016, the HELLA Group numbers among the top 40 auto-
motive suppliers worldwide. Almost 34,000 people work for the listed family-run com-
pany. More than 6,000 research and development experts among them ensure enduring 
innovative strength.
 

i Page 20

Company Profile

PATENTS
were registered in the fiscal year 
2015/2016 alone. Since its forma-
tion the HELLA Group has always 
employed its pioneering spirit to 
take the automotive industry to 
ever greater heights.

172
EMPLOYEES
work at HELLA worldwide. 6,361  
of these employees are engaged in  
Research and Development.

33,689

6.4 BILLION
euros in sales showcase  
the Company’s success.

134 LOCATIONS

all around the globe belong  
to the HELLA Group.

117
of experience and expertise: ever since Sally Windmüller  
founded the “Westfälische Metall-Industrie Aktien- 
Gesellschaft” on 11 June 1899, the company from Lippstadt, 
Germany has been constantly developing to become one  
of the leading global suppliers in the automotive industry. 

YEARS
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Minting new ideas in technology. As a leading 
supplier to the automotive industry we never 
stop pushing back the boundaries of what is 
technologically possible. We research, develop 
and work intensively to create innovative solu-
tions and technologies that shape the market. 
We supply customers the world over with 
groundbreaking lighting technology and intelli-
gent electronic components for cars, com-
mercial vehicles and special applications. With 
almost 34,000 employees at more than 125 
locations in over 35 countries we never lose 
sight of the diverse requirements of our 
stakeholders. Not standing still in develop-
ment, working out ideas and taking them  
into serial production is what drives us, every 
day. Because for us, the future begins right 
here and right now.

1



Dr. Jürgen Behrend (Managing General Partner) and Dr. Rolf Breidenbach (President and CEO)
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In the fiscal year 2015/2016 HELLA recorded further substantial growth. Consoli-
dated sales rose by 8.9 percent to € 6.4 billion. In a sometimes volatile environment 
we thus once again reached the target we had set ourselves, growing faster than 
the global automotive market. The basis of this success is the systematic focus on 
innovative technologies and product solutions for the mobility of tomorrow. In the 
past fiscal year we were driven primarily by successful new product start-ups in 
complex LED technology and innovative electronic components, which will allow 
us to cater for key megatrends such as environmental and energy efficiency, safety, 
styling and comfort. 

HELLA is growing in all segments
Our Group-wide growth has been driven forward primarily by our strong market 
position in the Automotive segment, which recorded the strongest sales growth  
of 10.1 percent. At the same time, the Aftermarket segment has returned to a 
growth course, generating a solid increase of 5,9 percent in the fiscal year 2015/2016. 
The Special Applications segment also initiated a turnaround, with sales growth  
of 2.0 percent over the prior year.

Strong growth in the core market of Europe
Looking at growth by region, the business performance in the strategically impor-
tant core market of Europe was especially gratifying, Sales in Europe – including  
Germany – were up 12.9 percent across the Group compared with the prior year. 
Supported by a stabilising market recovery, we benefited from rising demand, 
espe cially in the Automotive segment. Our activities in the Aftermarket business 
segment also have their focus in Europe, where we are one of the most important 
partners for spare parts and for independent garages.

But HELLA is stepping up its own growth not just in Europe but specifically in  
selected core markets where we expect to see positive growth momentum. It is  
essential for our long-term success to give the Company an increasingly broad 
global basis and to target our services specifically to individual growth markets. 

Accordingly, in the fiscal year 2015/2016 the HELLA team recorded further growth.  
As at 31 May 2016 HELLA employed a total staff of 33,689. This is 5.7 percent more 
than in the prior year.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

3FOREWORD



Consistent dividend policy and solid financing
With our strong and committed team we have successfully mastered the challenges 
we were faced with at the beginning of the second quarter of the fiscal year. Thanks 
to strong business performance over the course of the year we were able to partly 
offset the adverse impact on earnings that resulted from the exceptional failure of  
a supplier in China. In the year as a whole EBIT at € 420 million was nevertheless 
2.3 percent below the prior-year figure. By contrast, adjusted EBIT not including 
special items rose to a fresh high of € 476 million.

In line with our established dividend policy, we want to distribute 30 percent of 
consolidated net profit to our shareholders again for the past fiscal year. Thanks  
to the positive performance in the fiscal year 2015/2016 as a whole, this corre-
sponds to € 0.77 per share, a total amount of some € 86 million, and is thus at the 
prior year's level.

Around 70 percent of consolidated net profit will thus remain within the Company 
and provide support for the solid financing of our long-term growth course. Our 
funding structure is stable with an equity ratio of 40 percent. Going forward, this 
provides us with a high level of flexibility at all times, including times of economic 
fluctuation, to implement our business decisions systematically.

Global footprint and technological leadership as key success factors 
The past fiscal year has shown once again that our global footprint and broad cus-
tomer portfolio, which includes both premium and volume manufacturers, are  
critical to our success. By continually strengthening our HELLA network we will be 
able to take focused advantage of any growth opportunities that present them-
selves in the future as well. Over the medium term we will continue to direct our  
attention particularly to the markets in China and North America.

Innovative ideas form part of the HELLA DNA and are at the same time key factors 
for successful differentiation in the global automotive industry. This provides us 
with the opportunity to take advantage of one of our core strengths and to further 
expand our technological leadership in response to the central megatrends of  
environmental and energy efficiency, safety, styling and comfort.

4 TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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LED technology remains the principal market driver
In the past fiscal year we successfully continued our two-pronged strategy in the 
Lighting business division, expanding our range of LED-based front headlamps for 
high-volume vehicle groups while at the same time working on innovative 
high-definition headlamps for the premium segment.

In the Electronics business division, our focus is increasingly turning to the support 
of our customers as they implement more economical, safe and comfortable  
vehicles. Automated functionalities, connectivity and energy efficiency are, now 
more than ever, proving to be key features that are rapidly gaining in importance 
and increasingly in demand. In proven partnerships with our customers, the leading 
automobile manufacturers, we develop essential components which support 
these functionalities. In the past fiscal year we defended our position as market 
leader for 24 GHz radar technology for the rear vehicle areas.

With its global links, innovative products, spirit of invention and financial clout, 
HELLA is in a promising position to help shape the automobile future, not only in 
the current fiscal year but also over the long term.

Lippstadt, August 2016

Dr. Jürgen Behrend 
Managing General Partner

Dr. Rolf Breidenbach
President and CEO
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The Management Board in one of our laboratories for 
electromagnetic compatibility. In special test chambers 
HELLA examines the interference immunity of electronic 
control units to electromagnetic fields and high- 
frequency outside influences.

Dr. Rolf Breidenbach 
CEO Business divisions Electronics,  
Aftermarket and Special OE, Purchasing,  
Quality, Legal and Compliance

THE MANAGEMENT BOARD OF HELLA KGAA HUECK & CO.

Markus Bannert  
Business division 
Lighting
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Dr. Jürgen Behrend  
Managing General Partner,  
Finance and Controlling

Dr. Matthias Schöllmann 
Sales Automotive 

Stefan Osterhage  
Human Resources,  
Information Technology 
and Logistics



Dear Shareholders,

In the fiscal year 2015/2016, the Supervisory Board closely followed the situation 
and development of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. The Supervisory Board performed 
the tasks incumbent upon it as provided for by applicable law and the articles of  
association, and advised and supervised the Management Board.

The Management Board provided the Supervisory Board on a regular basis with 
written and verbal information on the business performance of HELLA KGaA 
Hueck & Co. In particular, the market and sales situation of the enterprise against 
the background of general economic developments, the financial situation of  
the Company and its subsidiaries as well as earnings trends were presented to the 
Supervisory Board. In the context of the quarterly reporting, sales and earnings  
figures were presented for the HELLA Group as a whole as well as broken down to 
business segments.

Furthermore, during the Supervisory Board meetings, the current business  
situation, the sales, results and capital expenditure planning, as well as the opera-
tive targets were discussed. Any deviations in the course of business from the  
plans were explained by the Management Board in detail. 

Focus of deliberations of the Supervisory Board
In the fiscal year 2015/2016 the Supervisory Board held four ordinary meet ings, 
which took place on 11 August 2015, 5 November 2015, 27 January 2016 and 31 May 
2016. 

At the meeting on 11 August 2015, the annual financial statements of HELLA 
KGaA Hueck & Co. and of the Group for the fiscal year 2014/2015 were presented 
and discussed in depth. Based on the initial review by the audit committee, the 
Super visory Board approved both financial statements. The Supervisory Board 
further addressed the proposals for the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting  
on 25 September 2015 and the earnings forecast for the current fiscal year 2015/2016. 
Furthermore, the Management Board presented the business plans for fiscal 
years 2015/2016, 2016/2017 and 2017/2018. 

At the meeting on 5 November 2015 the Management Board reported on the  
current business performance and provided an overview of the trend of the trading 
business, the emerging market trends and the strategies of the Aftermarket 
business division derived from them.

REPORT BY THE 
SUPERVISORY BOARD

8 TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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The main topic of the meeting on 27 January 2016 was the current financial situation 
of the Company. Another focal point was HELLA’s IT strategy.

The topics of the meeting on 31 May 2016 were the Management Board report for  
the third quarter of the fiscal year 2015/2016 and the year-end forecast, as well as the 
business plans for the fiscal year 2016/2017. Furthermore, the declaration of con-

formity regarding the German Corporate Governance Code pursuant to 
Section 161 Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, “AktG”) was adopted 
and has been published on the Company’s website at www.hella.com/
declarationofconformity.

Work of the committees 
The Supervisory Board has established an Audit Committee which is responsible for 
the initial review of the annual financial statements, of the consolidated financial state-
ments, of the management reports and of the proposals for the appropriation of 
profits. The Audit Committee is also responsible for preparing the agreements with the 
auditor, including the instruction of the auditor and fee agreement, as well as for  
defining the main points of the audit. The Audit Committee also deals with the supervi-
sory duties prescribed by Section 107 (3) sentence 2 AktG. The members of the Audit 
Committee are Klaus Kühn (Chairman), Prof. Dr. Michael Hoffmann-Becking, Paul 
Berger and Manfred Menningen.

In the year under review, the Audit Committee convened four times. At the meeting on  
5 August 2016, the Committee examined the initial review of the annual financial state-
ments and of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 May 2015. Representatives 
of the auditor of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, 
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Bielefeld, also participated in this meeting 
of the Audit Committee. Furthermore, the annual reports on corporate auditing, risk 
management and compliance management were presented and discussed.

At the meeting on 23 September 2015 the Audit Committee examined the three-month 
financial report for the fiscal year 2015/2016. Representatives of the auditor for the  
consolidated financial statements, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, also 
reported on new accounting provisions. 

9REPORT BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
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At the meeting on 7 January 2016 the half-yearly financial report for the fiscal year 
2015/2016 was presented. KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Bielefeld  
explained the result of its audit review. The reports on corporate auditing and com-
pliance management were also discussed. 

At the meeting on 7 April 2016 the nine-month financial report was discussed and 
the main points of the 2015/2016 year-end audit defined. The Audit Committee also 
examined the agreement with the auditor for the review of the annual financial 
statements for the fiscal year 2015/2016. Based on the resolution passed KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft AG, Bielefeld, was instructed to conduct the 
audit. An additional focal point of the discussion was the global tax management 
of HELLA; moreover, the draft of the auditing plan for the fiscal year 2016/2017 
was presented. 

In the fiscal year 2015/2016 the Nomination Committee convened on 31 May  
2016 following the resignation of a Supervisory Board member on the shareholder 
side effective the end of the ordinary general meeting on 29 September 2016 to 
discuss a proposal for a substitute member.

Audit of the annual financial statements  
and of the consolidated financial statements 
On 25 September 2015 the annual general meeting appointed KPMG AG Wirtschaft-
sprüfungsgesellschaft, Bielefeld, as auditor both for the annual financial state-
ments and for the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year 2015/2016. 
The annual financial statements and the management report of HELLA KGaA 
Hueck & Co. for the fiscal year 2015/2016 were prepared by the Managing General 
Partners in accordance with the provisions applicable under the German Com-
mercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, “HGB”); the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report were prepared in accordance with the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in the form they are to be applied in 
the European Union, and in accordance with the additional commercial law provi-
sions applicable under Section 315a HGB. The two financial statements including 
the management reports were audited by auditor KPMG, which issued an un-
qualified audit certificate for all documents. At the meeting on 2 August 2016 the 
Audit Committee thoroughly reviewed the financial statements. The represent-
atives of the auditor, present at the meeting of the Audit Committee, reported on the 
result of their audits and gave additional information. In the course of its audit, the 
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auditor did not find any material shortcomings in respect of the organisation and 
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management system.

Based on the preparatory initial review by its Audit Committee, the Supervisory 
Board, for its part, also reviewed the annual financial statements and the manage
ment report of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. as well as the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report for the fiscal year 2015/2016. Given 
the final result of the Supervisory Board’s review, there are no objections to be 
raised against the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial state
ments. At its meeting on 10 August 2016 the Supervisory Board approved the an
nual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements and endorsed 
the proposal of the Managing General Partners for the appropriation of distribut 
able profits. 

Composition of the Supervisory Board
No changes were made to the composition of the Supervisory Board in the fiscal 
year 2015/2016.

Thanks to the members of the Management Board and to all employees

The Supervisory Board would also like to express its gratitude and appreciation to 
the members of the Management Board and to all employees of HELLA worldwide 
for their commitment and successful work in the fiscal year 2015/2016.

Lippstadt, 10 August 2016 
On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Prof. Dr. Michael HoffmannBecking 
(Chairman)

11REPORT BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD



Capital markets with volatile uptrend 
All told, the stock market put on a bright performance in the fourth quarter of the 
last fiscal year (1 March to 31 May), although the performance was marked by high 
volatility. At the start of the calendar year, weak Chinese economic data and the 
continuing decline in commodity prices led to sustained consolidation. Subsequent-
ly, however, surprisingly positive economic figures from China, robust US eco-
nomic data and the substantial recovery in the oil price (c. + 50 %) prompted a recov-
ery move on the international capital markets. These positive underlying data 
were flanked by declining concerns about a rapid interest rate turnaround in the 
USA and further monetary policy measures initiated by the European Central 
Bank (ECB). Yet the weak growth of the People’s Republic of China and other major 
emerging markets continues to burden the German export economy.

Germany’s benchmark index, the DAX, rose by around 8 % in the period under  
review and closed the reporting period at 10,262 points while the MDAX gained 
just under 7 % and closed at 20,762 points as at 31 May 2016.

HELLA share price performance falls short of market development
Starting from a price in the mid-40s, the HELLA share recorded a stable perfor-
mance in the first two months of the fiscal year but sustained losses in the wake of  
a hefty consolidation phase lasting several days on the capital markets in mid- 
August, triggered by turbulence on the Chinese capital markets and the clouding 
over of economic prospects in China and their impact on the global economy,  
and ended the first quarter with a 16 % drop in its share price.

The share demonstrated heightened volatility in the second quarter. Reports of the 
failure of a supplier and the resultant exceptional burden on earnings led to a 9 % 
decline in the share price on 18 September. This decline continued initially in the days 
that followed on the back of the emissions affair and the negative implications for 
the sector, until the share price bottomed out at around € 31. Positive news such as 
the announcement by the central banks on the interest rate cut in China and the 
postponement of the expected lift-off in interest rates by the FED prompted strong 
gains on the capital markets starting in October and a subsequent price recovery  
of the HELLA shares, which closed out the second quarter with gains of around 4 % 
(6.3 % including dividend payout).

HELLA ON THE  
CAPITAL MARKET
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Shareholder structure

*  According to the definition of Deutsche Börse.
**  60 % of the shares are subject to a pool agreement  

up until at least 2024.

With the start of the third quarter in December 2015 the global capital markets en-
tered a prolonged consolidation phase which the HELLA shares were able to escape 
only to a limited extent. While the share price moved sideways from December 
until mid-January, the publication of the half-year results led to a positive share 
price performance up to a level above € 38 but this level could not be maintained  
in the wake of a further sell-off on the international capital markets at the start of 
Feb ruary, prompting a decline in the share price down to € 33. The share recov - 
ered in the second half of February and ended the third quarter with a decline of 
approx. 8 % below the MDAX, which consolidated by some 10 %. 

40%
Free float * 

60%
Shareholder family  
(pool-bound)** 
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The HELLA share – price development in the period under review compared to selected indices (indexed on 1 June 2015)

HELLA MDAX SDAX

HELLA bonds – development of the Z-spreads

2.375 % until 2020 1.250 % until 2017 iBoxx EUR Non-Fin Corps BBB
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At the beginning of the fourth quarter in March the HELLA shares moved broadly  
in line with the index for mid-sized businesses, the MDAX, and the sector-specific 
index of German automotive stocks (Prime Automotive) of Deutsche Börse AG. 
Following the release of the third-quarter business figures in mid-April, however, 
the HELLA share price subsequently underperformed the two above-mentioned 
indices. 

The share ended the fiscal year with a XETRA closing price of € 33.95 (as at 31 May 
2016). The share price decline in the period under review (1 June 2015 to 31 May 
2016) came to 23.7 % and was thus slightly better than the sector-specific index of 
German automobile stocks (DAXsector Automobile), which ended the period  
under review with a loss of 24.2 %. By contrast, the cross-sector MDAX gained 1.5 %.

The share’s liquidity has substantially increased compared with the prior fiscal year. 
In the period under review, the average daily XETRA trading volume was around 
139,000 shares compared with 108,000 in the prior year. An exceptionally high trading 
volume was recorded in the second quarter of the fiscal year. This was mainly 
attribut able to the report on the supplier default in China on 18 September and the 
inclusion of the HELLA share in the MDAX, Deutsche Börse’s main index for me-
dium-sized businesses, on 21 September 2016.

The family shareholders continue to constitute the largest HELLA shareholder 
group. The free float is 40 %. According to the definition of Deutsche Börse (German 
Stock Exchange), the number of shares held by the family shareholders that are  
not included in the pool agreement accounts is assigned to the free float. Following 
the private placement of around 1.6 % of the outstanding share capital by some  
family members, this percentage stood at around 11 % in April 2016. The remaining 
shares are held by institutional investors as well as private shareholders. In the  
period under review, none of the shareholders in the latter two groups held reporta-
ble shareholdings.

HELLA shares suffer slight losses in volatile markets
In the course of the fiscal year the HELLA bonds recorded a relatively stable per-
formance in a market characterised by uncertainty about the economic trend, on 
the one hand, and the central banks’ interest rate policies, on the other. In the first 
quarter the European bond market responded to doubts about the growth course  
in China with heightened credit default costs, which also prompted slight losses in 
the value of HELLA’s euro bonds. In the second quarter, sector-specific news 
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particularly surrounding the emissions issue in September prompted a slide in  
bond prices of the entire automotive and automotive supply sector and a widening  
of spreads, which was at least partly reversed by the end of November. In the third 
quarter, the persistently low interest rate policies of the central banks, in particular, 
and the accompanying decline in yields on German government bonds prompted a 
fall in risk premiums, HELLA bonds included. In the final quarter of the fiscal year 
the ECB’s announcement of its corporate bond purchase programme as a further 
quantitative easing measure resulted in an increased risk appetite among inves tors 
on the bond markets and thus a tightening of risk premiums for corporate bonds, 
which also benefited the HELLA bonds. The increased risk appetite took over from 
the considerable uncertainty on the market about global growth concerns, the low 
oil price and increased volatility. At the same time, interest rates continued to slide 
during this period, as a result of which the secondary market yield on outstanding 
bonds has continued to lose value and the price of outstanding bonds has risen. At 
the end of the fiscal year on 31 May 2016, the Z-spreads (measured in basis points 
over the euro mid-swap reference) of the 1.250 % bond maturing in September 2017 
and of the 2.375 % bond maturing in January 2020 were trading at 44 and 66 basis 
points and thus slightly above the comparative spreads of 36 and 48 basis points, 
respectively, at the beginning of the fiscal year.

Investor Relations
In the fiscal year 2015/2016 the IR team continued its constant dialogue with in-
vestors, analysts and private shareholders. All in all, the Company attended seven 
national and international conferences; investor discussions were held on a total  
of 13 roadshow days in Europe and the USA. 

The company’s presentation kicked off at the International Motorshow IAA in 
Frankfurt in September 2015 in the “New Mobility World”, where numerous inves-
tors and analysts took the opportunity to discuss trends and technologies and  
to experience the HELLA products live.

On 18 September, HELLA held an extraordinary investor conference call against  
the backdrop of the non-recurring charges arising from the default of a Chinese 
supplier in order to provide comprehensive information to all interested parties  
regarding the background to this default.

On 25 September 2015, the first Annual General Meeting since the company’s  
initial stock market quotation took place at its headquarters in Lippstadt and was 
attended by around 500 shareholders.

16 TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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On 2 December the Company held its second Capital Markets Day in London, at 
which around 50 international investors and analysts took the opportunity to obtain 
detailed information from the Company’s top management about the market, 
technologies and growth prospects of HELLA.

The capital market remains very interested in HELLA. In the course of the  
fis cal year further analysts of national and international brokers included the 
HELLA share in their coverage, as a result of which around 17 financial ana - 

lysts were watching the Company by the end of the fiscal year. An  
up-to-date list of brokers and their recommendations for the  
share can be viewed in the Investor Relations section of the website 
at www.hella.com/ir.

As HELLA places a great deal of importance on transparent communications and 
believes that all participants in the capital market are entitled to the same informa-
tion, the company conducts freely accessible conference calls for analysts and  
investors in order to publicise its quarterly figures. The documents from these con-
ferences as well as other IR presentations can be retrieved at any time on the IR 
website.

Initial stock market quotation 11 November 2014

Ticker symbol HLE

ISIN DE000A13SX22

SIN A13SX2

Share class No-par value ordinary bearer shares

Market segments Prime Standard (Frankfurt Stock Exchange)  
Regulated market (Luxembourg Stock Exchange)

Index MDAX

Share capital € 222,222,224

Number of shares issued  111,111,112 shares

Highest price in the fourth quarter € 37.55 per share

Lowest prices in the fourth quarter € 32.58 per share

Average daily trading volume 108,231 shares

Average daily trading volume € 3.77 million

Closing price on 31 May 2016 € 33.95 per share

Market capitalisation on 31 May 2016 € 3,771.67 million

All trading information relates to XETRA.
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HIGHLIGHTS
2015/2016

June 2015

HELLA Distribution GmbH based in 
Erwitte/Germany further increases 
commissioning efficiency with the 
construction of a new eight-metre 
high building and the introduction of 
dynamic commissioning technology. 
As a result, orders can be processed 
more quickly, more flexibly and in 
larger volumes. 

October 2015

Following a construction period  
of only twelve months the second 
HELLA Kinderhaus is opened in 
Lippstadt. As a result, up to 130 chil-
dren can now be cared for at the 
company head office, twice as many 
as previously. The Kinderhaus im-
proves the work/life balance and is 
open to the children of employees 
and other children in the city area.

July 2015

In July the proven starter and alter-
nator program TiMEFiT is renamed 
HELLA VALUEFIT. The range of work 
lights, single-function lights and 
multi-function lights is expanded to 
include starters and alternators. 

September 2015

Less than a year after the successful 
IPO, HELLA is included in the MDAX. 
“We are pleased that this move will 
take place only a few months after 
the share started trading”, says Dr. 
Jürgen Behrend, Managing General 
Partner of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co.

Around 500 shareholders attend the 
first ordinary annual general meeting 
since the IPO at the Company head-
quarter in Lippstadt. It decides on a 
dividend of € 0.77 per share. As an-
nounced at the IPO, the dividend thus 
comes to around 30 percent of net 
profit. The shareholders also ratify 
the acts of the Managing General 
Partners as well as the Shareholder 
Committee and the Supervisory 
Board. 

The joint venture Behr Hella Service 
celebrates its ten-year anniversary. 
Behr Hella Service was established 
in 2005 with the aim of serving the 
global free spare parts market for 
vehicle air conditioning and engine 
cooling systems. The product range  
of Behr Hella Ser vice currently com-
prises around 7,000 products for 
passenger vehicles, commercial ve-
hicles and transporters and for agri-
cultural and construction machinery. 
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November 2015

As an innovative training workplace 
with social responsibility HELLA is 
awarded  the soughtafter Taining Ace 
in Silver in the category Industry, 
Trade and Service. The Training Ace 
rewards companies which are par-
ticularly committed to training and 
developing young people. 

HELLA is carrying out a full takeover 
of the joint ventures FTZ in Denmark 
and Inter-Team in Poland expanding 
its own wholesale business further. 
Both the Danish market leader FTZ 
and Inter-Team, the second-largest 
wholesaler in Poland, form part of 
the Nordic Forum, in which HELLA 
manages the wholesale business in 
Northern and Eastern Europe.

January 2016

The new light carpet function which 
HELLA as a lighting expert has re-
alised for the first time in the form in 
the new BMW 7 illuminates the area 
around the side of the vehicle when 
a button is pressed on the car key. 
The star-shaped light carpet illumi-
nates the ground on both sides of  
the vehicle and accompanies the 
driver to the vehicle when it is dark. 

March 2016

The MULTIBEAM LED headlamp of 
Daimler AG and HELLA is in a class 
of its own: a total of 84 individually 
controlled LEDs per headlamp ad-
just the light distribution to traffic, 
weather and road conditions. The  
integrated adaptive high beam  
Assistant Plus ensures that the high 
beam can be used more often and 
offers greater safety. 

The series production of body con-
trol units and control modules of fuel 
pumps starts up at the new HELLA 
plant in Indaiatuba, Brazil. The plant 
has an initial staff of more than 30 
and supplies vehicle manufacturers 
in South America from its locations 
in Brazil. 

April 2016

World premiere on the world’s  
largest construction machinery fair, 
bauma: HELLA equips the high- 
tech future cabin of the CAB Concept 
Cluster with lighting and electron -
ics solutions. The Concept Cluster 
was established by HELLA together 
with further renowned partners in 
2015 and was presented to the public 
for the first time at the bauma. 
HELLA has contributed various in-
novations to the development. 
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HELLA is a family-run company listed on the stock market and one of the 100 largest 
German industrial companies. As one of the top 40 automotive suppliers world-
wide, we specialise in innovative lighting systems and vehicle electronics and have 
been a reliable partner for the automobile industry for more than one hundred 
years. What’s more, we are an established supplier in the European aftermarket. In 
the fiscal year 2015/2016, the Group achieved sales of € 6.4 billion and had around 
34,000 employees in over 35 countries.

Segments and business activities
The HELLA Group’s business activities are divided into three segments: Automo-
tive, Aftermarket and Special Applications. These differ in terms of the respective 
customer groups as well as their specific market cycles. The Automotive segment 
includes the business divisions Lighting and Electronics and once again contributed 
the largest share of consolidated sales in fiscal year 2015/2016 with sales of € 4.8 
billion. Its customer base includes nearly all notable vehicle manufacturers and 
other automotive suppliers. HELLA combines additional business activities in the 
Aftermarket segment, which achieved sales of € 1.2 billion in fiscal year 2015/2016: 
through its strong global sales network, HELLA acts as a retailer for passenger 
car parts and is an important service partner for independent garages. Moreover, 
we ourselves operate as a wholesaler in Northern and Eastern Europe. The Special 
Applications business segment, which achieved sales of € 0.3 billion in fiscal year 
2015/2016, develops, manufactures and sells lighting and electronic products for 
special vehicles such as buses, caravans, agricultural and construction machinery. 

Strong growth in recent years
In the last ten years, HELLA has grown at an average compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR) of around 6 percent – this growth is much stronger than that of the global 
automotive market. We have largely achieved this above-average growth organi-
cally in the business divisions Lighting and Electronics. Since the financial and 
economic crisis of 2008, we have significantly increased our pace of growth once 
again with an average annual growth rate of around 10 percent, supported by 
megatrends in the automotive industry including the environment and energy effi-
ciency, safety, styling and comfort.

COMPANY PROFILE
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Automotive

Special Applications

Aftermarket

Business Structure of the HELLA Group 

Business
Segments

76%

5%

INDEPENDENT
AFTERMARKET

WHOLESALE GARAGE
EQUIPMENT

19%

    Parts  
Wear parts, 
spare parts, 
accessories
Tools
Services  
 Technical services, 
sales support 

Full range  
Parts, tools
 Garage concepts 
Services,  
information
 Local branch 
network
 Logistics
E-commerce

Vehicle diagnostics 
and vehicle data
Air-conditioning 
service
Lighting service
 Battery service
Tools 

Headlamps
Rear Combination 
Lamps
Small lights
Interior lights
Lighting  
electronics

Body electronics
Energy management
Driver assistance  
systems
Components (sensor  
systems and actuator 
technology)
Electric power  
steering (EPS)

LIGHTING ELECTRONICS

SPECIAL
ORIGINAL 
EQUIPMENT

and construction 
equipment  
with lighting and 
electronics

Original equipment  
for special vehicles, 
e. g. buses, caravans, 
agricultural vehicles  
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€6.4 billion
IN SALES. HELLA is growing:  
in the past ten years we  
have almost doubled our sales. 

Sales to third parties according to business activity –  
fiscal year 2015/2016

33 %

Automotive  € 4,804 million 
– Lighting  € 2,720 million 
– Electronics  € 2,084 million 
Aftermarket  € 1,197 million 
Special Applications  € 315 million 

19 %

43 %
5 %

Regional market coverage by end customers – fiscal year 2015/2016  
Rounding differences may occur when using rounded percentage figures.

North and South America

€ 1,226 million

Asia, Pacific, ROW

€ 1,689 million

Rest of Europe

€ 2,450 million 

Germany

€ 987 million

19 % 16 %

27 % 39 %

Development of HELLA Group sales (in € million)

6,000

7,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

05/06 06/07 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16

€ 6.4 billion
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Innovative leadership and technological excellence 
HELLA stands for pioneering technology with vision. Thanks to our many years of 
experience and high levels of capital expenditure in developing our innovative 
strength, HELLA has established itself as one of the technological leaders in light-
ing technology as well as in many areas of electronics. Our products provide cus-
tomers with significant added value with regard to increased safety, reduced energy 
consumption, functionality, design and added comfort in applications. More than 
6,000 employees throughout the world work in research and development. In the 
past fiscal year we invested € 623 million in research and development to develop 
our technologies further. This corresponds to 9.8 percent of the consolidated sales 
and demonstrates our clear strategic objective of becoming an established tech-
nological leader in the Automotive segment with the business divisions Lighting 
and Electronics and expanding this continuously.

Developing our global presence
A central part of our strategy is gaining a global presence in significant growth 
markets. In fiscal year 2015/2016 we generated 54 percent of our consolidated sales 
in Europe, 27 percent in Asia/Pacific and 19 percent in North and South America. 
Geographic and also cultural proximity to our customers is an important success 
factor for us and ensures a great deal of flexibility in addressing local demand. In  
the relevant growth markets, we are rolling out existing products and also develop-
ing market-specific and customer-specific solutions. An important part of the 
continuous globalisation is our “lead strategy”. Our sites in Germany, in particular, 
assume a central leadership and steering function in the expansion of our global 
network.

Market leadership in attractive segments
With our cutting-edge technology, we primarily serve the three central megatrends 
of the automotive industry: environmental awareness and energy efficiency, safety, 
as well as styling and comfort. Based on technological differentiation and innov-
ation, we seek to achieve leading market positions in the relevant business fields 
and establish HELLA as a core supplier for top automobile manufacturers. With 
our high market shares, we generate the economies of scale required for us to come 
out on top against significantly larger competitors. To ensure this market-leading 
position in our business segments on a sustainable basis, we implement active port-
folio management and develop our business fields strategically as a key part of 
our strategy.
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Cooperation as strategic added value 
With our network strategy, we aim to create significant added value for our cus-
tomers through strong cooperation and joint ventures. For more than 15 years, 
this cooperation network has enabled HELLA to develop new technologies, access 
markets and create synergies by using the combined technical and financial re-
sources of the cooperation partners, while reducing the level of risk at the same 
time. In total, all the joint venture companies accounted for using the equity 
method achieved sales of € 3.3 billion in fiscal year 2015/2016. They contributed 
around € 53 million to the consolidated net profit/loss. 

Highly economically resilient business portfolio 
Our global positioning and diversified business portfolio make HELLA much more 
stable in the face of economic fluctuations. After all, while the sales of passenger 
cars in economically good times have a positive effect on the business performance 
of the Automotive segment, the activities in the Aftermarket segment stabilise 
business in times when existing vehicles are more likely to be repaired than re-
placed by new vehicles. This countercyclical orientation of the business segments 
really came into its own during the economic crisis of 2008/2009 and confirms the 
overall resilience of the HELLA business portfolio.

Operative excellence as part of the HELLA DNA 
Operative competitiveness is a key requirement in the automotive supplier industry. 
In the last few years, HELLA has significantly and continuously expanded its oper-
ative capabilities. With a gross margin of around 27 percent in fiscal year 2015/2016, 
we are among the leaders in terms of the global competition. Operative excellence 
has become an important part of the HELLA DNA, alongside leadership in technol-
ogy. To achieve operative excellence, we pursue a continuous improvement man-
agement approach with an established improvement organisation, clear process 
guidelines, objectives and a systematic focus on implementation.
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The business division Lighting grew by 12 percent to EUR 2.7 billion in the fiscal 
year 2015/2016. HELLA develops and produces headlamps, rear lamps, signal 
lamps and interior lights plus lighting electronics components for nearly all reput-
able automobile manufacturers throughout the world. Through its long-standing  
cooperation with premium original equipment manufacturers, HELLA has estab-
lished a particularly strong position in the area of innovative high-end light prod-
ucts. After a successful market launch, HELLA has also been working intensively 
on modularisation and the rollout of these technologies in other vehicle segments. 

The innovative capacity of HELLA in the lighting technology segment is central to 
the company’s history: HELLA has launched a number of innovative lighting solu-
tions since the company was first founded, starting with the first Acelyte headlamps 
in 1908 and the first headlamps with asymmetric light distribution in 1957 to the 
start of the world’s first series production of full LED headlamps in 2008. This was 
followed in 2013 by the world’s first Matrix LED headlamps, which emit a per-
manent high beam without dazzling oncoming traffic. In 2016, HELLA presented a 
world’s first – the MULTIBEAM LED headlamp. This headlamp, developed in 
collab oration with Daimler, features 84 LEDs arranged in three rows, each of which 
can be controlled individually. This individual control allows for an extremely pre-
cise, highly-adjustable light distribution in the entire high beam range and, for the 
first time, emits a low beam which is not reliant on mechanical actuators. The 
purely electronic dynamic bend lighting is also the first of its kind in the world. 

The LED technology in the headlamps holds numerous benefits over conventional 
halogen or xenon-based systems. With a similar optical design, LEDs take up  
less space and use less energy for the same performance. Their colour is close to 
daylight, offering drivers increased safety and creating a striking image. This 
means that automobile manufacturers can give individual vehicles or whole series 
of vehicles a unique face to improve recognition levels and support the current 
trend towards increased individualisation. In the years to come, we are anticipating 
continued significant improvements in market penetration. 

Business Segment

AUTOMOTIVE
BUSINESS DIVISION LIGHTING

26 THE COMPANY

HELLA develops innovati-
ve lighting systems which 
meet the highest require-
ments for safety, comfort 
and design 

For the fi rst time, hard-
ware and soft ware sit on 
a single circuit board 
to control the dynamic 
indicator light function.
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The tail light is used as socket for the stop light  
and is visually the striking centre point of the rear 
combination lamp of the new Audi A4. 
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start of the world’s first series production of full LED headlamps in 2008. This was 
followed in 2013 by the world’s first Matrix LED headlamps, which emit a per
manent high beam without dazzling oncoming traffic. In 2016, HELLA presented a 
world’s first – the MULTIBEAM LED headlamp. This headlamp, developed in 
collab oration with Daimler, features 84 LEDs arranged in three rows, each of which 
can be controlled individually. This individual control allows for an extremely pre
cise, highlyadjustable light distribution in the entire high beam range and, for the 
first time, emits a low beam which is not reliant on mechanical actuators. The 
purely electronic dynamic bend lighting is also the first of its kind in the world. 

The LED technology in the headlamps holds numerous benefits over conventional 
halogen or xenonbased systems. With a similar optical design, LEDs take up  
less space and use less energy for the same performance. Their colour is close to 
daylight, offering drivers increased safety and creating a striking image. This 
means that automobile manufacturers can give individual vehicles or whole series 
of vehicles a unique face to improve recognition levels and support the current 
trend towards increased individualisation. In the years to come, we are anticipating 
continued significant improvements in market penetration. 
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BUSINESS DIVISION LIGHTING
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The tail light is used as socket for the stop light  
and is visually the striking centre point of the rear 
combination lamp of the new Audi A4. 

27AUTOMOTIVE /BUSINESS DIVISION LIGHTING



In the business division Electronics, we are actively involved in shaping the future of 
the automotive industry. We are focusing in particular on innovative product solu-
tions for the megatrends of energy efficiency and the environment, safety and com-
fort. Thanks to our continuous and focused innovations, we have achieved a leading 
position on the global market in the fields that are relevant to us. In the fiscal year 
2015/2016, Automotive Electronics sales stood at around EUR 2 billion and had 
therefore grown by around 8 percent compared to the prior year. Our electronics 
expertise is very much in demand with customers both in established markets in 
Europe and the US as well as in growth markets like China, India and Mexico. We 
are therefore continuously expanding our presence in these regions and are pro-
viding both production capacities and substantial development capacities locally. 
This will allow us to be close to the requirements of the markets and react quickly 
for our customers.

Our range of services in the business division Electronics includes special sensors 
and actuators, body electronics, and innovative technologies for driver assistance, 
energy management systems and power steering. In total, we have over 60 product 
groups in 21 product lines, which are pooled in five strategic product segments 
and help to make vehicles safer, more efficient and more comfortable. For example, 
our radar sensors ensure a higher level of safety in traffic, as they monitor the rear 
of the vehicle and assist the driver when changing lane or carrying out a reverse bay 
parking manoeuvre. Our Intelligent Battery Sensor is key for efficient energy man-
agement in the vehicle, as it monitors the status of the battery and ensures that the 
car is ready to start at any time. Together with our network partners, we are one  
of the global market leaders with more than 10 million battery sensors sold annually 
and a total of around 10 million 24 GHz radar sensors sold to date. In the field of 
comfort functions, we offer a wide variety of products on a global basis, including 
radio transmitter keys, rain/light sensors and air-conditioning sensors.

Vehicle electronics offers huge growth potential: in 2010, around 30 percent of  
the production costs of a car were attributed to electronic components. We expect  
this share to grow to up to 50 percent by 2030. Due to ever-increasing demands  
in relation to safety, autonomous driving, the electrification of the drive train and  
networking, automotive electronics are becoming increasingly relevant.

Business Segment

AUTOMOTIVE 
BUSINESS DIVISION ELECTRONICS
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of energy efficiency, road 
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contributing to a longer lifetime, 
and increased reliability and safety.
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The Battery Management Unit – this is where all of 
the data relevant for modern Battery Management 
Systems is stored and controlled accordingly.
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In the business division Electronics, we are actively involved in shaping the future of 
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fort. Thanks to our continuous and focused innovations, we have achieved a leading 
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groups in 21 product lines, which are pooled in five strategic product segments 
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our radar sensors ensure a higher level of safety in traffic, as they monitor the rear 
of the vehicle and assist the driver when changing lane or carrying out a reverse bay 
parking manoeuvre. Our Intelligent Battery Sensor is key for efficient energy man-
agement in the vehicle, as it monitors the status of the battery and ensures that the 
car is ready to start at any time. Together with our network partners, we are one  
of the global market leaders with more than 10 million battery sensors sold annually 
and a total of around 10 million 24 GHz radar sensors sold to date. In the field of 
comfort functions, we offer a wide variety of products on a global basis, including 
radio transmitter keys, rain/light sensors and air-conditioning sensors.

Vehicle electronics offers huge growth potential: in 2010, around 30 percent of  
the production costs of a car were attributed to electronic components. We expect  
this share to grow to up to 50 percent by 2030. Due to ever-increasing demands  
in relation to safety, autonomous driving, the electrification of the drive train and  
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As the complexity of modern vehicles is rising, the spare parts business is also  
becoming increasingly more challenging. HELLA provides garages with a compre-
hensive service package which includes a wide range of products and services  
to ensure safe and quick repairs. In the fiscal year 2015/2016, the Aftermarket busi-
ness segment contributed EUR 1.2 billion to consolidated sales. 

Our Aftermarket business segment is based on three pillars: the independent after-
market, garage equipment and wholesale. We are one of the leading independent 
aftermarket partners in Europe for spare parts and for independent garages. Via our 
own network and together with our partners, we sell vehicle-specific or universal 
wear parts, spare parts and accessories and offer our customers the highest level 
of technical service and sales support. Our product range includes over 40,000 
products, covering lighting, electrics, electronics, thermal management and brakes 
in OEM quality. Our joint ventures, Behr Hella Service and Hella Pagid, help us to 
expand our internal expertise. 

With our offer of high-quality garage equipment, at the heart of which is our subsid-
iary, Hella Gutmann Solutions, we help garages to diagnose, maintain and repair 
vehicles. Thanks to our comprehensive expertise and longstanding experience, we 
are a strong partner for garages that require practical support with extensive ve-
hicle data and diagnostics units that are intuitive to use. At the same time, our ser-
vice offering in this area is growing continuously. On top of diagnostics, we also 
successfully launched the air-conditioning technology and calibration systems 
product divisions on the market.

We have also enjoyed success as a wholesaler in Northern and Eastern Europe and 
hold leading market positions there. Our companies in Denmark, Norway and  
Poland are bundled together under the Nordic Forum umbrella and sell a compre-
hensive range of more than 300,000 OEM-quality products directly to garages via  
a subsidiary and partner network that is constantly growing. What’s more, we pro-
vide our partners with complete, regionally adapted garage concepts and technical 
training. In the Wholesale segment, we have taken the first step towards introducing 
wholesale e-commerce on the Polish market in the past fiscal year and we will 
strengthen this pillar further.

Business Segment

AFTERMARKET

30 THE COMPANY
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of high-tech sensors for 
driver assistance systems.
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The importance of driver assistance systems is  
rising rapidly, in tandem with demand for camera 
calibration and radar adjustment equipment.
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As the complexity of modern vehicles is rising, the spare parts business is also  
becoming increasingly more challenging. HELLA provides garages with a compre-
hensive service package which includes a wide range of products and services  
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hicle data and diagnostics units that are intuitive to use. At the same time, our ser-
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hold leading market positions there. Our companies in Denmark, Norway and  
Poland are bundled together under the Nordic Forum umbrella and sell a compre-
hensive range of more than 300,000 OEM-quality products directly to garages via  
a subsidiary and partner network that is constantly growing. What’s more, we pro-
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The importance of driver assistance systems is  
rising rapidly, in tandem with demand for camera 
calibration and radar adjustment equipment.
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Business Segment

SPECIAL  
APPLICATIONS

In the Special Applications segment, we develop, manufacture and sell lighting and 
electronics products for special vehicles such as construction equipment, agricul-
tural vehicles, buses and motor homes, as well as for the marine sector. Our high 
level of technological expertise in the Automotive segment provides the launch 
pad for innovative product solutions in this segment. Segment sales in fiscal year 
2015/2016 came to around EUR 0.3 billion. The main driver of the business perform-
ance here, too, is the increased replacement of conventional lighting products with 
LED technology. Demand for LEDs is thus growing thanks to their robustness, du-
rability, energy efficiency and the design possibilities. 

We offer standard products as well as vehicle-specific innovations for commercial 
and numerous special vehicles. As a result, our customers benefit from techno-
logical and economical synergies with our large-scale automotive production. The 
highly diversified portfolio of the Lighting division includes front and rear lights, 
work and auxiliary headlamps, beacons and roof beams. Our range of electric and 
electronic products includes components for smart energy management in ve-
hicles, rain and light sensors, turning angle sensors, module switches and flasher 
units. Our products are specially designed for the extreme external conditions to 
which agricultural and construction vehicles, municipal vehicles or off-road vehicles 
are exposed on a day-to-day basis. As a result, the driver can rely on HELLA’s 
quality even in the event of impact from stones, extreme temperatures or constant 
vibrations. 

THE COMPANY

Technological expertise 
in special vehicles

Striking design and a high 
level of functionality in 
a small installation space.

90 mm LED module.•
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HELLA is the sole supplier of all five 90-mm front  
light functions in LED with two modules. These 90-mm  
modules are used by equipment manufacturers of  
agricultural vehicles, among others. A striking design 
feature of the modules: the ring-shaped homogeneous 
daytime running light.
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Technological expertise 
in special vehicles

Striking design and a high 
level of functionality in 
a small installation space.

90 mm LED module.•



32

Business Segment

SPECIAL  
APPLICATIONS

In the Special Applications segment, we develop, manufacture and sell lighting and 
electronics products for special vehicles such as construction equipment, agricul
tural vehicles, buses and motor homes, as well as for the marine sector. Our high 
level of technological expertise in the Automotive segment provides the launch 
pad for innovative product solutions in this segment. Segment sales in fiscal year 
2015/2016 came to around EUR 0.3 billion. The main driver of the business perform
ance here, too, is the increased replacement of conventional lighting products with 
LED technology. Demand for LEDs is thus growing thanks to their robustness, du
rability, energy efficiency and the design possibilities. 

We offer standard products as well as vehiclespecific innovations for commercial 
and numerous special vehicles. As a result, our customers benefit from techno
logical and economical synergies with our largescale automotive production. The 
highly diversified portfolio of the Lighting division includes front and rear lights, 
work and auxiliary headlamps, beacons and roof beams. Our range of electric and 
electronic products includes components for smart energy management in ve
hicles, rain and light sensors, turning angle sensors, module switches and flasher 
units. Our products are specially designed for the extreme external conditions to 
which agricultural and construction vehicles, municipal vehicles or offroad vehicles 
are exposed on a daytoday basis. As a result, the driver can rely on HELLA’s 
quality even in the event of impact from stones, extreme temperatures or constant 
vibrations. 

THE COMPANY

Thanks to the low power con-
sumption feature, the modules 
help reduce consumption and 
CO2 emissions and come equipped 
with integrated driver electronics.
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HELLA is the sole supplier of all five 90-mm front  
light functions in LED with two modules. These 90-mm  
modules are used by equipment manufacturers of  
agricultural vehicles, among others. A striking design 
feature of the modules: the ring-shaped homogeneous 
daytime running light.
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In everything we do we keep the major trends in the automotive sector firmly  
in sight: safety is increasing in importance. LEDs are taking the place of other 
light sources. Efficiency-enhancing components are saving the climate and  
our wallets. And “automotive” is turning into “autonomous”: vehicles now do 
more than just power themselves, they are also taking the strain off the  
driver through sophisticated assistance systems and increasing automation.

Seeing
the future
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With the new Mercedes-Benz E-class the next generation of the 
high-resolution MULTIBEAM LED headlamp is celebrating its  
world premiere. Featuring fully variable on-road illumination, it is 
making night-time driving more comfortable and safer than ever 
before. HELLA has invested in a new precision production facility at  
its Lippstadt plant to bring the innovative lighting technology with  
the required accuracy and quality onto the road. 

It is late. A long day at work, many meetings, too many e-mails to count. Outside  
the building I am welcomed by the darkening night-time sky – and by a fine drizzle.  
I have 25 kilometres between me and home, mainly on country roads. Long enough 
to allow me to run through the day in my mind and get some distance from it. The 
LED headlamps play a major part in my enjoyment of the drive home in my new car. 
On such days I used to have to dip the high beam constantly so I would not dazzle 
the drivers coming towards me. This required a lot of concentration; above all, dip-
ping the high beam meant that I was not able to see everything on my side of the 
carriageway clearly. 

The new car at my side means that everything has changed: As soon as we leave  
a built-up area, my car now automatically switches to high beam. And it remains on 
all the time. What about the oncoming traffic? My car recognises it using a camera 
installed at the same height as the rear-view mirror and fades out the portion of the 
light beam that would dazzle the oncoming vehicles. The rest of the road ahead of 
me, including the verges, remains illuminated in a dazzling white similar to the mid-
day sun in southern climes. And the headlamps can do even more: in every bend 
the light follows the course of the road. If the light shines on a road sign with a high-
ly reflective surface, the light is dimmed in that area so that I can read the sign easily. 

The technical idea behind the MULTIBEAM LED headlamps in the new Mercedes-
Benz E-class is actually quite simple: a total of 84 LEDs arranged in three rows 
create the dipped headlights and the high beam. Each of the light emitting diodes 
can not only be added individually, it can also be dimmed to a figure between 0 and 

off
Spot
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I LOOKED DEEPLY INTO ITS 
EYES AND LIKED IT IMMEDI-
ATELY. THAT MAY BE BECAUSE 
I AM CRAZY ABOUT BLUE 
EYES. CAN A CAR HAVE BLUE 
EYES? YES IT CAN.

MULTIBEAM LED

37SPOT OFF



100 percent of the maximum light intensity. This creates fully variable light distri-
bution on the road. In combination with the navigation system and a front camera 
this leads an unprecedented level of night-time driving comfort. And not only for  
the driver but also for the other road users. For example, a bad weather function  
ensures that if it rains the light falling onto the opposite carriageway is dimmed 
slightly, thereby reducing the indirect glare from the wet road surface.

But the engineers at supplier HELLA had to undertake years of development work 
to translate the idea into series production. One of the biggest challenges was 
that even though the light beam is created by up to 84 individual pixels, this must 
not be visible to the driver. The light beam has to be completely even, as if it was  
derived from a single source, which even includes the points of transition between 
individual LEDs. This requires a few technical tricks, and above all, precision in 
production that goes substantially beyond what is already the high level of head-
lamp technology today.

Plant 2 in Lippstadt. If you enter the hall where the key components of the  
MULTIBEAM LED headlamps of the new E-Class are produced you first have to stick 
one end of some small conducting straps underneath the sole of your shoes and  
push the other end into your socks. The visitor is then asked to step onto an appara-
tus which looks like a set of scales and which is designed to prevent electrostatic 
charging. “Even the tiniest amounts of electrical charge can destroy the electronic 
component parts”, explains plant manager Dr. Ingo Engler. The production special-
ist has worked for HELLA for two years and is visibly proud of the production line 
where the core module is assembled. “Many of the production steps have been 
developed specifically for this headlamp – and they are showing us what the pro-
duction of the future will look like.”

At the start of the process stands the light source module, which is a printed circuit 
board on which the 84 LEDs are already mounted. First of all, what is known as 
the primary optics need to be mounted directly onto the printed circuit board. The 
primary optics ensure that the light beam of every single LED appears in a pre-
cisely predetermined direction on the actual lenses of the headlamp (“secondary 

WITH THE HIGH-END 
PRODUCTION OF HEADLAMPS 

IN THE NEW E-CLASS WE 
HAVE ENTERED NEW TERRITORY

IN MANY AREAS.
Dr. Ingo Engler, plant manager at HELLA
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optics”). Mounting of the optical component demands the highest level of precision. 
It cannot deviate more than 50 micrometres to the side from the ideal position; 
this is equivalent to the diameter of a single hair. No machine is able to position 
two components in relation to each other with such precision at the first try. For  
this reason, the optics are initially placed on the carrier frame of the light source 
mod ule and then precisely adjusted under the observation of two high-resolution 
cameras. The plant for the geometric alignment of the optics is a world first and was 
developed specifically for the production of the new LED headlamp. Once they 
have been aligned, the optics and the light source module are joined with an ad-
hesive which hardens within seconds under ultraviolet light. 

They are checked, measured and adjusted continually throughout the further pro-
duction process. The goal is always to achieve perfect quality. It is attained through 
a production philosophy which Engler describes as follows: “For us, every compo-
nent in the first instance is a bad component. It is not until a permanently monitored 
production step or subsequent examination show that it works perfectly that it 
becomes a good component, which can then be released for further processing.” 

Precision counts: To achieve a completely even 
light distribution, fractions of a millimetre count 
in assembly. 
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The next decisive step comes when the light source module equipped with the pri-
mary optics is connected to the electronic control unit for the first time: now every 
single LED is powered one after another and the light created is measured. This is 
important because the brightness of light emitting diodes tends to fluctuate slightly. 
Such fluctuations can be offset by calibrating the electronic control unit so that 
the luminous flux from the headlamp is very evenly distributed. 

Then the robot takes over the work. It mounts the secondary optics and all further 
components of the core module in a star-shaped cell. Here, too, an adjustment 
system ensures perfect quality. Even the distance between primary and secondary 
optics must be set precisely to fractions of a millimetre so that the light can fall 
exactly on the section of the road that is to be illuminated. In the end, an opto-elec-
tronic precision module has been created which, as a core component of the head-
lamp, is transported to final assembly located in a neighbouring section of the hall. 
At the end of this highly automated assembly process each individual headlamp 
goes to a testing station where all light functions are tested one after the other for a 
short time: daytime running light, dipped headlights and high beam as well as the 
coming home function and the cornering light.

During the drive I think about the first time I met my new car. I looked deeply into  
its eyes and liked it immediately. That may be because I am crazy about blue eyes. 
Can a car have blue eyes? Yes it can. The HELLA technicians refer to “blue pro-
duction” because, of course, the light emitted by the headlamps is white – the law-
makers would not allow anything else. It is only passively, i. e. in the inside of the 
headlamps, that my car shines in fascinating blue. 

“Blue illumination is a nice example of how closely product and production experts 
can work together here”, says Engler. It should be visible both when the daytime 
running light is switched on and during the night. Realising the latter was unprob-
lematic: a side cover between the primary and secondary optics ensures a blue 
shine. It was more difficult to create for daytime running light, which in the new 
E-class is realised by means of two distinctive light guides. The higher of the two 
light guides also needed to be equipped with an additional cover. Following intensive 
experimentation the HELLA technicians not only found a transparent plastic which 
can be easily welded, they also identified the correct arrangement for the light exit: 
not via a long, straight line, which would inevitably have led to fluctuations in the 
production quality, but through dozens of small transverse openings. “We had never 
done anything like it before, and yet we were able to present our customer with 
the first functioning prototype within a period of time that is outstanding in terms of 
development technology”, is how Engler describes the result of the collaboration.

Arriving home. The feeling starts as I enter the village, when the light beam of the 
headlamps suddenly changes. Now they ensure particularly broad illumination of 
the carriageway. When turning off, LEDs mounted at the side of the headlamp illu-
minate the side road. All that is left to do is to stop and get out, the headlamps shine 
on for another 30 seconds after I have left the vehicle. My new car says,“Good night!”
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Every single one of the 84 LEDs can 
be dimmed at will – for example,  

to make it easier to read road signs 
with a reflective surface.

The light intensity of every single LED is tested and the control adjusted accord-
ingly. This ensures that only modules without fault leave the assembly line.

By switching off individual LEDs,
dazzling oncoming vehicles  
and vehicles in front can be avoided.

84 Individually  
controlled LEDs for 
each headlamp

»PERFECT QUALITY IS 
NOT ONLY A QUESTION OF
TECHNOLOGY BUT ALSO 

OF PRODUCTION PHILOSOPHY.«
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Climate protection as one of the major challenges of our time makes 
efficiency a key topic in the automobile industry: in order to emit  
less carbon dioxide, vehicles have to make every litre of fuel – or every 
kilowatt hour of energy – last longer than before. It is this develop-
ment which HELLA is supporting thanks to a large selection of products 
from the business division Electronics. We present below four of these 
initially inconspicuous looking efficiency products.

Gram 
for gram

Intelligent Battery Sensor
HELLA’s Intelligent Battery Sensor is the key to efficient vehicle  
energy management. It monitors the battery’s parameters – voltage,  
current and temperature – reliably and accurately. Thanks to the  
values measured, the energy reserves in the vehicle can always be  
reliably planned and energy flows controlled as required. 

 
Intelligent 

Battery Sensor
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Battery Management System
The Battery Management System is used in electric 
and hybrid vehicles. It monitors the status of the  
lithium-ion battery and records all relevant parameters 
of the battery system. If the battery’s condition  
is critical, the system initiates the measures required 
to protect the battery and the vehicle.

Cooling Valve Actuator
The electric Cooling Valve Actuator is an important key component for  
active temperature control of the engine. It enables the engine control  
unit to regulate the coolant flow exactly and within the space of a few 
seconds. This means that following a cold start the engine can warm up 
more quickly by blocking the circulation of the coolant. As soon as the 
operating temperature is reached, the coolant temperature can be ad-
justed according to requirements. This reduces fuel consumption and 
emissions that are harmful to the environment.
 

Auxiliary Water Circulation Pump
The Auxiliary Water Circulation Pump ensures an  
even more flexible coolant flow in the vehicle,  
irrespectively of the main circuit. It is attached to  
selected junctions of the cooling circuit and  
ensures that only as much pressure as needed is  
created at these locations. This means that for  
hybrid vehicles, for example, both the battery and  
the exhaust gas recirculation can be cooled,  
depending on the driving situation, thereby saving  
additional energy.

 
Battery Management

System

 
Cooling Valve

Actuator

 
Auxiliary Water

Circulation Pump
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Global use for efficiency

The competencies at HELLA are distributed globally more than ever 
before when it comes to the development of electronic components. 
This increases proximity to the customer while at the same time allowing 
new kinds of requirements, ideas and concepts to be picked up, 
turning them into innovative product solutions. 

The individual HELLA Centers of Competence were already working 
together in a global network as part of pre-development. In addition, 
there are Centers of Application in major growth regions, which adjust 
products that are ready for production to customer-specifi c require-
ments on site. Global thinking at HELLA thus extends from the idea 
through to implementation – the chart shows the networks involved in 
the case of the electric Auxiliary Water Circulation Pump.

Development of the electric Auxiliary 
Water Circulation Pump
This development project is coordinated and managed centrally from 
Germany. The development centres in India and Romania are closely involved 
to enable them to contribute their specific competencies. As soon as the 
pump is ready for production, customised adjustments are made at the Centers 
of Application in major growth regions. For example, the subsidiary in 
Plymouth, Michigan (USA) will be responsible for potential North American 
customers while the HELLA plant in Shanghai will look after Chinese 
customers. The new electric auxiliary water pump is due to be launched on 
the market in 2018.

Timişoara, Romania
Center of Competence: 
so� ware

Lippstadt, Germany
Center of Competence: 
lead 

Delhi, India
Center of Competence: 

competence for electric motors

Shanghai, China
Center of Application

Plymouth, Michigan, USA
Center of Application
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Every gram counts: the automobile industry aims to play its part in global climate 
protection with the development of increasingly energy and fuel efficient vehicles. 
Political regulation lends further urgency to the manufacturers’ efforts. The trend 
towards ever stricter limits is unmistakable: 95 g of CO2 per kilometre is the magic 
target which must be reached by 2020 within the EU. As a technological and inno-
vation leader HELLA supports the automobile manufacturers in both the volume 
and premium segments in the development of ever more economical and efficient 
vehicles with especially intelligent, innovative and efficient electronic products. 

Optimum operating temperature through thermal management
One of the key concepts on the path towards more efficient vehicles is “thermal 
management”. It means that manufacturers and suppliers together attempt to use 
the thermal energy created during driving in the best possible way and to en-
hance the efficiency of engines and other aggregates through intelligent electronic 
components to ensure that they always run at optimum operating temperature. 
Thermal energy is needed at certain times and in certain situations, for example 
during the cold start of a vehicle, while at other times the same energy urgently 
needs to be removed. Belt-driven water pumps and thermostat valves are mostly 
used to achieve this at present. These control valves work on the principle of a 
heating thermostat: they are based on the expansion of certain materials and thus 
their response to changes in temperature is relatively slow. A logical conse-
quence of this is the automobile manufacturers’ wish for substantially greater flexi-
bility. HELLA has therefore developed an electric Cooling Valve Actuator as a 
key component. It enables the engine control unit to regulate the rate of flow exact-
ly and respond within seconds. This means that following a cold start, the engine 
can warm up more quickly if the the circulation of the coolant is blocked. As soon as 
the operating temperature is reached, the coolant temperature can be adjusted 
according to requirements. This reduces fuel consumption and emissions that are 
harmful to the environment.

The coolant flow can be managed with even greater flexibility and fuel efficiency if 
electric auxiliary water circulation pumps are installed at certain junctions and are 
able to produce as much pressure as needed at these locations. This means that 
individual components, systems or areas can be heated or cooled depending on 
the driving situation, independently of the main circuit and exactly as required. Such 
an Auxiliary Water Circulation Pump – a roughly fist-sized, cylinder-shaped com-
ponent – is currently being developed by HELLA. The pump is scheduled to be ready 
for production by 2018. Such exact temperature regulation contributes decisively  
to the vehicle's overall efficiency. For hybrid vehicles, for example, the battery or the 
exhaust gas recirculation can be cooled in this way. For vehicles with an internal 
combustion engine, for example, the turbocharger, the intercooler and the exhaust 
gas recirculation and, in the case of an electric vehicle, the battery, the power elec-
tronics and the electric motor can be cooled efficiently in this way. 

2015 2020

130 g

95 g

27%
Saving energy – stricter  
EU CO2 targets
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Energy management for every driving situation
Cars become substantially more climate-friendly through an electric drive, be it  
in the shape of a hybrid concept or as a pure electric car. In this context lithium-ion 
batteries play a central role. They are substantially more powerful than lead-acid 
batteries but also more sensitive: the batteries used can be damaged by extreme 
heat and by an uneven load distribution. Consequently, energy management is in-
dispensable. HELLA is therefore offering a modular Battery Management System 
which can be expanded depending on the target voltage and number of individual 
components and can thus be configured to suit all electric drive concepts. The sys-
tems include sensors that monitor the load and tempera -ture of the individual 
cells, a control unit and relay elements able to regulate the power flow from each 
cell.

With this technology for hybrid and electric vehicles HELLA is building on its  
experience in the area of conventional 12 volt vehicle wiring systems. Although their 
lead-acid batteries do not require a sophisticated energy management system, 
their charge condition should at least be monitored, especially with regard to the 
start/stop automatic system that has been established for some years now. This  
is because it must only become active if the battery is sufficiently charged: if the 
engine pauses at every red traffic light while the air conditioning, lights and radio 
are still in operation the battery may experience a net loss in charge. And if the ve-
hicle is subsequently switched off for a prolonged period, the reserves may not be 
enough for the ensuing cold start. 

The solution to the problem: an Intelligent Battery Sensor which measures the 
amperage at one of the battery poles continuously and is thus able to calculate the 
load in the battery at any time. It is only when it gives the go-ahead that the start/
stop automatic system can intervene. HELLA launched just such a sensor on the 
market as early as 2005 – making the company a trailblazer and global market 
leader to this date. The fifth generation is now available, substantially smaller, even 
more precise and 44 percent lighter than the first model. 

The Intelligent Battery Sensor, the Battery Management System, the cooling 
valve actuator and the Auxiliary Water Circulation Pump – each of these four  
selected HELLA electronic components fulfils a key role in the improvement of the 
energy efficiency of vehicles. However, they constitute only a small selection of 
what HELLA has to offer in the product portfolio of the business division Electron-
ics. Through the continuous further development of products HELLA wants to  
remain the technological leader in this area and to support the automobile manu-
facturers in the development of ever more economical and efficient vehicles – 
gram for gram.
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Vehicles in the EU will have to save an average of  
another good 30 grams of CO2 by 2020. How much  
of this figure can be saved through intelligent elec-
tronic products? 

Michael Jaeger For us, the overall view is always 
important. We develop and build components which fit 
into a complex system. This makes it very difficult to 
make a direct comparison between a vehicle with and 
one without a specific HELLA electronic component. The 
saving only materialises as part of the overall system 
and is dependent on many parameters. For example, we 
were able to reduce CO2 emissions in a prototype by 18 
grams through a 48 volt vehicle wiring system – but this 
saving applies only to this vehicle with exactly these  
48 volt components. What can be said with certainty today 
is that the various drive concepts will play a very decisive 
role in increased efficiency. 

Talking about the various drive concepts, why is it that 
they play a decisive role with regard to the efficiency 
debate and how is HELLA positioned in this regard? 

Dr. Christian Amsel What we need is a kind of mixed 
costing. The 95 gram target can probably not be achieved 
with optimised petrol and diesel engines alone. Every 
pure electric vehicle is, according to the law, included 
in the CO2 average at zero grams; however, there is 
unlikely to be enough of them by 2020. Even for full hybrid 
vehicles, that is, vehicles able to drive solely with an 
electric motor as and when required, we expect no huge 
sales figures because prices are still very high. This  
is what makes the 48 volt mild hybrid so interesting: 

although the CO2 reduction is smaller than in a full 
hybrid, production is relatively inexpensive and it will 
probably soon be ready for the mass market. For  
large unit numbers the effect on the CO2 average will be 
considerable. HELLA is well-positioned in these areas 
because we invested in innovative concepts early on. We 
contribute our competencies for the entire range of 
drive concepts and are able to help achieve efficiency 
gains in crucial areas.

The European automobile industry is normally a  
trailblazer in the sector, but the climate can only  
be saved through a global effort. What does this  
mean for HELLA?

Michael Jaeger It means that we have to think globally if 
we are to run with the leading pack at all times. We can 
see that even now important stimuli for the international 
automobile sector are coming from China and the USA. 
Accordingly, our development approach seeks to develop 
innovations in a global alliance.

Dr. Christian Amsel Specifically, we have different 
centers of competence at various locations around the 
world which are interlinked from the start when it  
comes to new products. This ensures, first of all, that 
we have our ear close to the market and its require-
ments worldwide and that we are able to respond quickly 
to new trends. Furthermore, we are thus able to manage 
our resources globally in an optimum way and we are 
working together to reduce CO2 emissions even further 
going forward. 

Mixed costing and global approach
Three questions for Michael Jaeger and Dr. Christian Amsel,
Members of the Executive Board of the business division Electronics 
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THE WAY FORWARD
INTO AN AUTONOMOUS
FUTURE
Automated driving is one of the major trends in the automotive industry. Assistance 
systems are increasingly helping drivers to master dangerous situations. In a 
few years’ time they will be able to perform a preliminary set of routine tasks fully 
automatically. And there are no signs of an end to the trend towards ever safer 
mobility. But it is clear that electronics and lighting technology are of key importance 
along this path. Technology with vision is what is needed.  

Assistants
Lane change assistant, monitoring of blind spots or assistance when  
getting out of the car: for some years now HELLA’s radar systems have  
been making driving both simpler and safer. At present, they employ  
mainly sensors which make use of the 24 GHz frequency band. They are 
technologically mature; HELLA is the leader in this segment. 
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Chauffeur
The goal waiting on the horizon: the fully autonomous car, 
which if desired finds and arrives at the destination 
completely unaided – even through the densest city traffic  
if necessary. In addition to the technologies already 
mentioned, precise lighting technology is also important  
for such a vehicle, especially at night. This is because 
although radars and other non-optical sensors are able to 
locate objects, identifying what these objects actually  
are is not possible without a camera and visual recognition. 

Copilot
The next step which the major carmakers are aiming  
to take within the next several years is a form of  
electronic copilot, which will be able to steer the vehicle 
independently in certain situations. For example, the  
driver will then be able to read and reply to e-mails safely 
while in stop-and-go traffic on the motorway. 

Two sensor technologies will play a decisive role: the  
even more powerful radar technology and optical image 
processing. Through its subsidiary HELLA Aglaia, a soft-
ware supplier for camera systems, HELLA is among the 
leaders in this field.
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HELLA continues on its  
growth trajectory (Sales  
growth prior year: 9 %) 

9% Sales Growth 
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FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015/2016

General information  
on the HELLA Group

Business model
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. is one of the top 40 international auto-
motive suppliers and among the 100 largest German in dustrial 
companies. In the Automotive business segment, HELLA sup-
plies original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) with electronic 
and lighting technology products. Furthermore, in the Aftermar-
ket business segment, HELLA is one of the most important part-
ners for spare parts distributors and independent garages for 
products, diagnostics and services in Europe. The high degree of 
technological expertise, innovative ability and operational per-
formance of the automotive business is applied to specialist 
vehicles in the Special Applications segment. At the end of fiscal 
year 2015/2016 on 31 May 2016, HELLA had approximately 
34,000 permanent employees in over 35 countries at more than 
125 locations and generated € 6.4 billion in sales. 

HELLA corporate structure
The HELLA Group’s business activities are divided into three 
segments: Automotive, Aftermarket and Special Applications.

The Automotive segment combines the HELLA business activi-
ties in original equipment and corresponding original replacement 
part business. In the areas of lighting technology and vehicle elec-
tronics, HELLA develops, produces and markets vehicle-specific 
solutions worldwide both for automotive OEMs and other auto-
motive suppliers. Furthermore, technological innovations aligned 
with global megatrends are developed and brought to market 
maturity.

In the Aftermarket business segment, HELLA pools trading 
vehicle parts and accessories via a global sales network as well 
as workshop equipment in the independent replacement parts 
market. Additionally, HELLA acts as a service partner for whole-
salers and garages, and operates as a wholesaler itself in 
Northern and Eastern Europe. These activities are complemented 
by the range of high-grade garage equipment, such as vehicle 
data as well as professional diagnostic tools and garage equip-
ment, which enable specialist vehicle repair and maintenance at 
the garage.

In the Special Applications segment, HELLA develops, manu-
factures and markets lighting technology and electronic prod-
ucts for specialist vehicles such as construction and agricultural 
machinery, buses, caravans or for the marine sector. Our tech-
nological competence is closely linked to our Automotive busi-
ness, which means that we can expand the range of applica-
tions in LED and electronic products appropriately and leverage 
synergies at the same time. By the end of the past fiscal year 
2015/2016, the Special Applications segment also included sta-
tionary applications completely unrelated to vehicles, such as 
street and industrial lighting. In May of the past fiscal year, the 
business divisions for street and industrial lighting (Industries) 
and airfield lighting (Airport Lighting) were disposed of in the 
course of optimising the portfolio in the Special Applications 
segment.

     Further information on the business structure of the 
HELLA Group is available in the company profile starting 
on page 20.
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Goals and strategies
The HELLA Group pursues a strategy of profitable and largely 
organic growth based on solid financial policy. Technological lead-
ership, operational excellence and a global presence are suc-
cess factors for profitable business. HELLA realises this strategic 
orientation at the Group level as well as in the three business 
segments Automotive, Aftermarket and Special Applications. 
 
Moreover, differentiated strategic approaches are pursued in the 
individual segments for the respective business activities. While 
all relevant vehicle lighting technology products are provided 
globally in the Lighting business division of the Automotive seg-
ment, the Electronics business division takes a focused seg-
ment/product line approach aligned with the HELLA core com-
petencies and regional/global focal points. In the Aftermarket 
segment, HELLA is active at all relevant steps along the value 
chain in replacement part distribution, wholesale, garage equip-
ment and, particularly, diagnostics, offering solutions that spe-
cifically address the target group in question. Here, the activities 
focus on the strategically important core market in Europe. 
International business in Asia and in North and South America 
supplements this approach. The Special Applications segment 
takes on the technical designs and innovations used in the 
Automotive segment and applies them to meet the needs of the 
respective target group markets in a customer-tailored manner. 
Europe is the core market for these activities, but business in 
Asia and in North and South America is growing.

For the Group and the segments, HELLA focuses its strategic 
objective on market leadership, which, depending on the seg-
ment, product line or region, can be achieved in the short, 
medium or long term. Thus, in the Automotive segment, HELLA 
pursues the goal of taking market leading positions (top 1 to 3), 
globally or in certain regions, in the respective market segments 
relevant for the Company’s competitiveness. Furthermore, HELLA 
also strives to attain a market-leading role in the Aftermarket 
and Special Applications segments in each of the relevant target 
group markets and sales regions.

In strategic terms, HELLA is guided by major megatrends in  
the automotive industry, with (1) the environment and energy 
efficiency, (2) safety and (3) styling and comfort being particu-
larly significant for HELLA. The huge transition from conven-
tional illumination systems to LED applications in lighting tech-
nology, high demand for driver assistance systems to increase 
safety and comfort, and for technologies that save energy and 
reduce CO2 emissions, are opening up strategic growth potential 
for HELLA.

At the Group level, the two segments Aftermarket and Special 
Applications are of particular importance for the long-term sta-
bility of the HELLA business model since they provide a balance 
to the volatile automotive business. Compared to the Automo-
tive business, the Aftermarket segment is anti-cyclical, which 
means that when demand for new vehicles is lower, the need 
for repairs and replacement parts tends to increase. The product 
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groups in the Special Applications segment are subject to fun-
damentally different demand cycles. In this way, balanced and 
stable business performance is possible for the HELLA Group, 
even under difficult general economic conditions. The validity of 
this business strategy proved its worth for HELLA at the peak of 
the global economic crisis during fiscal year 2008/2009.

In addition to the HELLA core business, the network strategy is 
used to take a cooperation approach in which partnerships are 
forged with other companies as part of joint ventures. In par-
ticular, this is done to gain access to complementary technolo-
gies, develop new markets or customer groups and benefit 
from economies of scale. In this way, the many different joint 
ventures and company units accounted for using the equity 
method form part of the HELLA Group’s strategic growth 
trajectory.

Control Systems
The HELLA Group’s organisation is managed via a multidimen-
sional matrix. It includes the three segments Automotive, After-
market and Special Applications with the business divisions and 
strategic business fields, the regions with North and South 
America, Asia/China and Europe as well as the central func-
tions. While the segments and regions are organised as profit 
centres, the central functions are managed as cost centres, in a 
shared service centre (HELLA Corporate Center) among other 
things. The segments have chief responsibility for strategic and 
operational business performance. The central functions fulfil a 
governance and control function for the Group and the seg-
ments. In the global network, the German locations in particular 

assume a leadership role in terms of technological develop-
ment and the industrialisation of the international locations.

The Group Management Board consists of Dr. Jürgen Behrend 
as Managing General Partner and the managing directors of 
HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH under the leader-
ship of its CEO, Dr. Rolf Breidenbach. In the segments and busi-
ness divisions, the respective Executive Boards support the 
responsible Management Board in operational and strategic 
management. Entrepreneurial self-responsibility is the basic 
principle for managing the business at all levels. For important 
business transactions, the Group Management Board requires 
the approval of the HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. Shareholder Com-
mittee, which, through this process, co-determines the signifi-
cant guidelines for business. As the central representative body 
of the shareholders, the Shareholder Committee is involved on 
an ongoing basis in monitoring and providing advice to the 
Group Management Board. Besides this, the Shareholder Com-
mittee has responsibility for personnel matters involving the 
managing directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH. Along with the Shareholder Committee, monitoring tasks 
are also performed by the Supervisory Board, which primarily 
deals with auditing and approving the annual and consolidated 
financial statements, as well as the interim financial state-
ments. Certain tasks in this context are delegated to the Audit 
Committee nominated by the Supervisory Board. The Audit 
Committee primarily audits the financial reports and functional 
capability of the internal control system and the risk and com-
pliance management system.
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Strategic planning and operational budget planning are signifi-
cant internal control instruments for the Company. Each month, 
a detailed meeting takes place with the entire Management 
Board and the Executive Boards to discuss the budget and 
development compared with the previous year; the Shareholder 
Committee is informed about this. Quarterly and half-year 
reports are also prepared.

Financial performance indicators
The HELLA Group is managed by the Management Board 
through key financial indicators, which the Shareholder Com-
mittee defined for the Group’s further operational and strategic 
development in fiscal year 2014/2015. Based on this resolution, 
the key indicators of sales growth and operating margin (EBIT 
margin) take on great importance compared to the other key 
financial indicators in the management of the Company. Accord-
ingly, they are the HELLA Group’s most important key perfor-
mance indicators. 

In the course of the fiscal year the Management Board in con-
sultation with the Shareholder Committee developed the con-
trol model further. As a major guideline for this, the important 
management indicators have to provide a transparent picture of 
operational performance. However, non-recurring or excep-
tional effects in their type or size, referred to as special effects, 
can lead to distortions with regard to the EBIT margin and thus 
adversely affect the ability to assess the Company’s perfor-
mance. For this reason, the EBIT margin has been replaced with 
the adjusted EBIT margin – adjusted for special effects – as one 
of the key performance indicators in the current fiscal year. 

The adjusted EBIT margin as a performance indicator is not 
defined in the International Financial Reporting Standards. It is 
reported by HELLA as additional information because from the 
Company’s perspective it presents the results of operations – 
freed of special effects – in a more transparent form and facili-
tates a comparison over time.

HELLA also uses other important financial and non-financial 
performance indicators in addition to these key performance 
indicators.

The target values for the Group are based on multiple compar-
ative indicators, for example, market conditions and competi-
tion, internal performance standards and allocation of resources. 
Above-average growth compared to the automotive market or 
relevant market segment is sought with respect to sales. The 
target for the adjusted operating margin (ratio of adjusted EBIT 
to sales) should reach a level that is above average in the rele-
vant competitive environment. Other key management-relevant 
indicators are the return on invested capital (RoIC) and the 
adjusted free cash flow from operations. 

Non-financial performance indicators
The HELLA Group utilises non-financial performance indicators, 
primarily in the area of quality. Durability and reliability with a 
high degree of user comfort are important characteristics of the 
HELLA quality standards. Ensuring compliance with market-driven 
standards is the goal of active quality management, which is 
undergoing continuous further development. One quality mea-
surement indicator is the defect rate, which is measured as the 
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number of defects identified after delivery per one million parts 
(“parts per million” – ppm). The ppm rate in the fiscal year under 
review was in the low two-digit range. Owing to the necessary 
change in supplier in China, among other factors, the defect rate 
deteriorated over the previous year. 

Research and development
Along with operational performance, the exceptional research 
and development culture at the Company forms the foundation 
of our ability to compete and our leading market position. More 
than 90 % of our research and development expenses are 
accounted for by the Automotive business segment. HELLA 
uses its technology leadership to drive the central market 
trends of the automotive industry: environmental awareness 
and energy efficiency, safety, as well as styling and comfort.

Research and development expenses in fiscal year 2015/2016 
came to € 623 million, equivalent to 9.8 % of consolidated sales, 
and therefore slightly above the prior year’s levels. The ratio of 
capitalised development expenses to development expenses in 
accordance with the consolidated income statement came to 
8.8 %, down from 9.1 % in fiscal year 2014/2015. 

This reflects our business strategy oriented towards technolog-
ical leadership and innovation and the structural expenses 
incurred as part of the globalisation initiative to strengthen the 
global HELLA development network. The number of employees 
in research and development grew by 4.9 % to 6,361 worldwide 

in fiscal year 2015/2016. This means that around 19 % of HELLA 
employees work in research and development. In addition, as 
part of its research and development activities HELLA also 
works closely together with third-party service providers, aca-
demic institutes and research facilities. 

Business segment Automotive
In the Automotive business segment we sustain our innovative 
strength via high-performance pre-development. Following our 
central strategy, we co-ordinate worldwide development princi-
pally from Germany. In contrast, there are local development 
centres in the large growth regions, which support regionally 
specific adaptation on the one hand and also advance independ-
ent developments for the relevant markets on the other. In this 
way, HELLA pursues market-driven customisation of technolo-
gies and product designs to meet customer needs. 

Business division Lighting
In the Lighting business division LED technology remains the 
overarching trend topic. With the successful launch of the 
MULTIBEAM LED headlamp in collaboration with automobile 
manufacturer Daimler AG, we have set another milestone and 
are now at the interface to light digitalisation: vehicles’ external 
lighting will be controlled by software to a much greater extent 
in the future and will be digitally modulated with individually 
controllable lighting elements, according to the traffic and 
weather conditions. HELLA’s research and development activi-
ties in this area are intense.

Research and development

2015 /2016 +/– 2014 /2015 2013 /2014

R&D employees 6,361 5 % 6,063 5,880

EXPENSES IN € MILLION

Automotive 591 16 % 512 478

Aftermarket and Special Applications 32 – 1 % 32 36

Total 623 15 % 544 514
in % of sales 9.8  9.3 9.6
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In fiscal year 2015/2016 we continued our two-pronged strat-
egy. First, we have further rolled out LED headlamps in high-
er-volume vehicle segments through modularisation concepts. 
Secondly, HELLA continues to develop so-called high-definition 
headlamps for the premium segment; these achieve a consid-
erably higher resolution with the prospect of several hun-
dred-thousand individually controllable points of light (pixels). 
This helps ensure fine control that permits even more usable 
light to be brought to the road and to be adapted dynamically to 
traffic conditions, the course of the road and weather-related 
factors. 

HELLA’s research and development activities in lighting are cur-
rently focused particularly on four different technologies: pix-
elated LED light sources; LCD technologies; so-called digital 
mirror devices and applications that facilitate the use of laser 
light sources. We are also continuing our development activities 
in holography and OLED technology.

Along with its own strong lighting pre-development, HELLA 
works with a number of research partners. For instance, HELLA 
is developing laser-based emissions in headlamps together 
with the Fraunhofer application centre. Since the start of the 
year, we have moreover been conducting research on photonics 
production together with various partners and the Fraunhofer 
Institute for Production Technology IPT. A comprehensive part-
nership, involving HELLA and another six partners, is working 
on the flexible and resource-efficient production of high-perfor-
mance optics. Furthermore, within the scope of the funded 
VoLiFa2020 project, fully adaptive LCD-based vehicle lighting is 
being developed together with another five partners. 

In addition to this ongoing research cooperation, HELLA suc-
cessfully completed further cooperation projects in fiscal year 
2015/2016. They include the development of pixelated LED sys-
tems as part of the “µ-AFS” cooperation project together with 
Osram, Daimler and Infineon and with the Fraunhofer institutes 
IZM and IAF, sponsored by the German Ministry of Education 
and Research. Moreover, an auto-adjusting headlamp system 
was developed together with the Fraunhofer Institute for Pro-
duction Technology, IPT. On top of this, a comprehensive research 
conglomerate for integrating flexible OLEDs was concluded at 
the end of 2015.

In addition, HELLA has been jointly operating the L-LAB as a 
research institute for lighting technology and mechatronics 
together with the University of Paderborn since 2000. L-LAB 
was expanded in April 2015 with the addition of the Hamm-
Lippstadt University of Applied Science and is exploring current 
issues relating to vehicle lighting and engaging in applica-
tion-oriented basic research.

Business division Electronics
As part of our development activities in the Electronics business 
division, we support our customers in the development and 
implementation of leading-edge functions in line with market 
trends, such as autonomous driving, networking and energy 
efficiency, and constantly expand our extensive expertise in 
these areas. 

Hence, we developed our position in recent years as market 
leader for 24 GHz radar technology that is used at the rear of 
vehicles. In the segment of compact, mid-range and luxury 
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vehicles we have successfully placed a modular body control 
unit for comfort and safety functions and power management in 
the vehicle. In the area of specific product solutions for hybrid 
and electric vehicles, the successful introduction of a cooling 
circuit plate and a circulation pump that optimally manage the 
operating temperature of an engine or battery, depending on 
the drive train, has enabled us to successfully expand our ther-
mal management expertise. In the area of air quality manage-
ment, we are also researching increasingly on developing sen-
sors for measuring air quality and the associated regulation of 
air flows in and around the vehicle. 

In fiscal year 2015/2016 we further expanded our existing 
development standards in the Electronics business division and 
further optimised our development structures. In the Electron-
ics business division our approach is to expand our existing 
expertise as producer of components to include systems com-
petence to an increasing extent. In this context, we were able to 
complete the worldwide implementation of the System Engi-
neering Academy at the end of fiscal year 2015/2016 and suc-
cessfully conclude its transition into the operative business. The 
multi-month training programme has already produced its first 
graduates. This contributed significantly towards developing our 
product platform in the fiscal year under review. We will con-
tinue to run the programme in the coming fiscal year, thus 
maintaining and strengthening our competitiveness in a sus-
tainable way.

Business segment Aftermarket
In the Aftermarket business segment the focus is on trading in 
spare parts, accessories and garage equipment. Research and 
development costs of segment-specific products are incurred to 
only a very limited extent, except for business with garage 
equipment, where we are represented in the entire innovation 
and production process.

Business segment Special Applications
In the Special Applications segment, HELLA primarily benefits 
from the transfer of knowledge from the Automotive segment 
in order to develop and apply new products for manufacturers 
of special vehicles by using existing basic technologies and 
product concepts. 

The gradual introduction of LED technology in the original 
equipment of specialist vehicles (SOE) assumes particular 
importance in this respect. We are consistently implementing 
the accompanying benefits, such as enhanced safety through 
improved visibility, greater robustness, increased efficiency and 
design freedom, in various vehicle types, such as tractors, trail-
ers and motorhomes. Besides the continuous development and 
production of customer-specific front and rear LED lighting, we 
further expanded our portfolio in fiscal year 2015/2016 in the 
area of universally deployable LED applications, to include 
90-millimetre modules for low beam light functions. HELLA 
also cooperates with a network of other OEM suppliers in devel-
oping and equipping a future-oriented concept cabin for agricul-
tural and construction vehicles. 
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  A six-figure investment was made at HELLA Innenleucht-
en-Systeme GmbH in Wembach/Germany during the period 
under review to reduce VOC emissions (volatile organic com-
pounds) in the exhaust air. Thanks to the exhaust air system 
which began operating in March 2016, the clean gas value 
achieved is significantly below legal requirements. 

  In the fiscal year under review, HELLA Fahrzeugteile Aus-
tria GmbH in Großpetersdorf reduced annual energy con-
sumption by almost half to 80,780 kWh through the com-
prehensive conversion to LED lighting in large parts of the 
final assembly. 

  The gradual introduction of LED lighting enabled HELLA 
Innenleuchten-Systeme Bratislava s.r.o. to achieve energy 
savings of around 74,000 kWh. HELLA Slovakia Front-Light-
ing s.ro. invested a five-figure sum in Power Factor Cor-
rections. Thanks to an investment in a heat exchanger, 
HELLA Jiaxing Lighting Co., Ltd. can use the dissipated 
heat of the air compressors for the hot water circuit. 
Roughly 5,000 m³ natural gas is saved every month as a 
result, equivalent to a reduction of around 144 tonnes of 
CO2 per annum.

Sustainability
HELLA has committed to responsible use of resources. For us, 
environmental protection is more than complying with regula-
tions. It is an integral part of our corporate culture in the spirit of 
sustainability. The HELLA Group therefore strives constantly to 
improve resource consumption and decrease CO2 emissions at 
both the process and product levels. The gradual expansion of 
our environmental network and its continuous development in 
the period under review were important steps in this context.

The Irapuato, Trencin and Kamnik locations received ISO 14001 
environmental management certification in fiscal year 2015/2016. 
To optimally integrate further locations into this network in 
future, we carry out regional workshops in the growth regions 
each year, with a particular focus on Mexico and China. 
Cross-functional internal audits promote mutual networking of 
the locations and support “good practice transfer”. Audits are 
carried out by specially qualified regional HELLA auditors, who 
receive theoretical and practical training based on a consistent 
standard. 

Moreover, in the past fiscal year all production locations defined 
and implemented specific energy goals as part of their environ-
mental programme. In this way we will improve energy efficiency 
in our plants on a sustained basis and reduce energy consump-
tion and the associated CO2 emissions further.



60 GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE HELLA GROUP

HELLA Plant 2 in Lippstadt/Germany is the only HELLA location 
subject to EU-wide trading in greenhouse gas emission certifi-
cates (“CO2 certificates”). For the third trading period (from 2013 
to 2020), the combustion plant has received an allotment notice 
for a term of eight years and an allotment of 95,747 certificates 
at no charge.

18,938 tonnes of CO2 were emitted in the calendar year 2015, a 
level that is unchanged from the previous year. It was possible 
to settle the fee from the allocation of surplus certificates in the 
second trading period (30,083 certificates with a value of 
€ 82,000) and the free allotment from the third period. Due to the 
general reduction of the free allotment and other factors, these 
certificates will no longer suffice in the future. Instead, an addi-
tional 35,000 certificates are required overall in the third trading 
period, which we will buy at auctions throughout that period. 
This is to be realised in several steps during the corresponding 
fiscal years. 5,000 certificates were last purchased in May 2015. 
We are working on the purchase of an additional 5,000 certifi-
cates in the calendar year 2016.

Moreover, with the continual optimisation of our existing prod-
ucts and the development of new ones we effectively contribute 
to a reduction in energy consumption and vehicle emissions. In 
this way HELLA supports automotive producers in meeting the 
European Union’s ambitious exhaust regulations. At present, 
we are working intensively on differentiated on-board power 
supply solutions in the vehicle, which enable emission-reducing 

functions such as stop-start function, energy recovery, coasting 
and the creeping-forward function. The step-by-step conversion 
of conventional lighting products to LED technology also 
ensures that substantial potential energy savings are made for 
both passenger and commercial vehicles.

Human Resources
HELLA employed 33,689 employees worldwide as at the report-
ing date of 31 May 2016. This equates to an increase of around 
5.7 % compared to the previous year. The most significant 
increase in personnel was recorded in Europe excluding Ger-
many, where the number increased by 1,287 (plus 10.6 %). The 
development is attributable to new production rollouts, greater 
production complexity and an extended product portfolio in 
Romania, the Czech Republic and Slovakia, as well as a new 
technology centre that was opened in Romania. Furthermore, 
HELLA recruited new staff in North and South America (increase 
of 4.7 %) and in Asia/Pacific/RoW (increase of 5.4 %) in particular 
in the fiscal year under review. In Germany the number of employ-
ees has remained largely stable with a slight increase of 0.3 %. 

HELLA deploys temporary staff supplied by personnel services 
companies in addition to its own permanent workforce, due to 
fluctuating order volumes. To prevent HR management indica-
tors from becoming distorted, staff indicators for the personnel 
services companies are not included in the management indica-
tors of the Group. 

33,689
31,864

30,692

Permanent employees in the HELLA Group (at 31 May of each year)

2014 
2015
2016
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To safeguard its competitiveness but also as an essential part of 
its company culture HELLA promotes the further development 
and qualification of its employees. The e-learning platform for 
the systematic qualification of employees that was introduced 
successfully in the prior year was expanded further in fiscal year 
2015/2016 and merged under the conceptual approach of com-
petence management, the “My Talent Compass”. The previous 
platform for the global distribution of e-learning modules has 
already been gradually converted to this new system and forms 
the basis for gradually integrating further processes such as 
talent management, succession planning and recruitment, as 
well as mapping them in an integral system. This new IT-based 
system, for example, also creates global transparency across 
existing qualification programmes. Moreover, in fiscal year 
2015/2016 the LEAD Compass, a central executive develop-
ment programme, was rolled out in the NAFTA region. This pro-
gramme was successfully established in Europe and Asia/
Pacific in the previous year. We now place an additional empha-
sis on comprehensive and holistic personal development to 
ensure that experts and project managers, in particular, are 
qualified within this programme in the future too. 

The first initiatives to ensure management qualification through-
out the Group were implemented in parallel within the scope of 
the Global Leadership Academy. All employees that assume 
managerial responsibility in future will be invited to participate 
in a curriculum that is globally coordinated throughout the Group. 

As an innovative technology firm we are always on the lookout 
for highly qualified employees. HELLA initiated the “Tell Your 
Friend” programme in fiscal year 2015/2016 in order to add 
momentum to its recruitment drive. This programme uses a 
bonus system to motivate existing HELLA employees to pro-
mote working for HELLA in their own personal network. 

Permanent employees in the HELLA Group by region

31 May 2016 +/– Share

Germany 9,705 0.3 % 28.8 %

Rest of Europe 13,389 10.6 % 39.7 %

North and South America  4,690 4.7 % 13.9 %

Asia/Pacific/RoW 5,905 5.4 % 17.5 %

Permanent staff worldwide 33,689 5.7 % 100 %
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China, which is the most important growth market for the auto-
motive industry, continued to paint a mixed picture within the 
global economy in fiscal year 2015/2016. Although gross domes-
tic product in China expanded by around 7 % in 2015, thus outpac-
ing the global average, the normalisation of Chinese economic 
strength and particularly also the slump in local stock markets 
in the second half of 2015 placed a damper on spending. Thus, 
although the growth rate achieved matched the target, it was 
the lowest to be recorded in 25 years. 

At 1.6 %, economic growth in the Eurozone fell short of the 
global average in calendar year 2015. This muted economic per-
formance was due to the still festering international conflicts at 
geopolitical level. Within the European Union, concerns over the 
exit of the United Kingdom triggered further uncertainty. In 
addition, the more muted economic conditions in China and the 
United States, which are both important trading partners for the 
EU countries, left traces on the Eurozone economy. Moreover, 
some Eurozone countries have not yet fully overcome their eco-
nomic problems, resulting in regional differences in this area as 
well. Whereas Spain recovered compared with the prior year, 
reporting a 3.2 % increase in gross domestic product, the Italian 
economy expanded by only 0.8 % and was thus only slightly 
above the stagnation level. At 1.1 %, France fell slightly short of 
the Eurozone average. However, according to the IMF, the Euro-
zone had an unexpectedly good first quarter in 2016.

Economic report

General economic conditions 
In fiscal year 2015/2016 (1 June 2015 to 31 May 2016), the global 
economy as a whole expanded slightly, albeit with considerable 
regional differences in some cases. The International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) calculates that global gross domestic product grew 
by 3.1 % in calendar year 2015. The same rate of growth is pro-
jected for 2016. The absence of a consistent, global and robust 
growth trend even six years after the global economic crisis 
reflects the still cautious recovery in developed countries, differ-
entiated growth in the emerging markets and weaker-than-ex-
pected growth in China. Uncertain political and economic condi-
tions, the strength of the US dollar, price erosion and short-term 
fluctuation in commodity prices are causing a slowdown in 
investment and spurring volatility on the capital markets. This 
has also been compounded by the uncertainty surrounding the 
US Federal Reserve’s interest rate policy. 

According to the IMF, the US economy recovered moderately by 
2.4 % in calendar year 2015, so that growth rates are roughly on 
par with the prior year. It exhibited seasonally-adjusted growth 
of 1.4 % in the last three months of the prior year. This was due 
to weak exports, moderate domestic demand and a decline in 
corporate spending. However, with unemployment coming to 
4.5 % in March 2016, the US job market remained on a distinctly 
positive trend, this being one of the main reasons for growth in 
the US automotive industry for the year as a whole. According to 
the US Department of Commerce, GDP expanded by 1.1 % in the 
first quarter of 2016.
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In Germany, the economy continued on the muted upward tra-
jectory of the last few years in calendar year 2015, growing by 
1.5 % and, hence, in line with the Eurozone average. Whereas 
overall development had come under pressure from conditions 
in key export countries at the beginning of the period under 
review, consumer spending and improved conditions in industry 
in particular buoyed German economic output at the beginning 
of 2016, resulting in moderate growth. 

Brazil, Russia and India, which together with China are known 
as the “BRIC countries”, painted a mixed picture in the period 
under review. Whereas Russia and Brazil experienced substan-
tial contraction, India expanded by 7.3 %, thus substantially 
exceeding the global average.
 
International trends in the automotive sector
According to the German Association of the Automotive Indus-
try ( VDA), the international automotive industry achieved con-
siderable growth in its key markets, the United States, Western 
Europe and China, in fiscal year 2015/2016, although regional 
factors, particularly in Russia and Brazil and partially also in 
Japan, left appreciable traces on volume sales in the individual 
markets. Both the United States and China closed calendar year 
2015 with new records, while Western Europe achieved its best 
result in five years. Despite the moderate macroeconomic con-
ditions, the Western European automotive industry thus 
expanded in calendar year 2015. 

In the HELLA fiscal year 2015/2016, China was again the most 
important growth market for the automotive industry ahead of 
the United States. By comparison, new registrations in China in 
the period from June to August 2015 had been down on the 
prior year. Implemented in October 2015, the tax relief for vehi-
cles with a displacement of up to 1.6 litres evidently spurred 
demand in China, however, triggering double-digit growth in the 
period from September to November 2015. Consequently, the 
Chinese automotive market closed calendar year 2015 with a 
substantial increase of around 10 % and a total of roughly 20 
million new registrations. In the first five months of 2016, new 
vehicle registrations were up just under 11 % to 8.9 million units 
(prior year: 8 million).

The US automotive market grew in all four quarters of the 
HELLA fiscal year 2015/2016. At just under 17.4 million new 
registrations, the light vehicles (passenger vehicles and light 
trucks) market in the United States grew by 6 % in calendar year 
2015. During this period, sales of light trucks (9.9 million units, 
up 13 %) were very strong, while the passenger vehicle seg-
ment contracted by 2 % to 7.5 million units. With new registra-
tions coming to 7.1 million, the automotive industry expanded 
by a modest 1.1 % in the months from January to May 2016.
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stantial setbacks. In calendar year 2015, new registrations 
dropped by more than 25 % in Brazil and by around 36 % in Rus-
sia. Both countries recorded further weakness in the period 
from January to May 2016, although the rate of decline in Rus-
sia slowed slightly to somewhat less than 15 %.

Business development and situation of the HELLA Group
In fiscal year 2015/2016 the Group’s sales rose by € 0.5 billion or 
8.9 % to € 6.4 billion. 1.4 percentage points of this growth was 
due to exchange rate changes, primarily in the US dollar and the 
Chinese yuan. Organic growth adjusted for exchange rate effects 
came to 7.5 %. Driven by the continued strong demand and pos-
itive exchange rate effects, sales growth matched the forecasts 
which had been issued by the Management Board in the prior 
year providing for growth in the high single digits. 

Once again, Group growth was materially driven by global auto-
motive business, which experienced the sharpest expansion 
with a 10.1 % increase in sales with third-party companies. This 
growth trend was successfully continued thanks to stronger 
demand in the Chinese automotive market and solid demand in 
Europe. By addressing automotive mega trends such as energy 
efficiency (reduction in CO2 emissions), safety and styling, the 
Group was again able to generate sales growth well in excess of 
the growth in global new registrations of passenger vehicles/
light vehicles. One example of this is the greater use of innova-
tive heat sinks in headlamps, which help to additionally reduce 
CO2 emissions thanks to their lower weight. 

Full-year new registrations rose by 9 % to 13.2 million units in 
Western Europe in 2015. This growth continued at a similar rate 
in the first five months of 2016, with new registrations coming to 
6.1 million (prior year: 5.6 million). The Western European auto-
motive industry grew across all four quarters in the HELLA fis-
cal year 2015/2016, expanding at double-digit rates in some 
cases. This applies to the five largest markets – Germany, the 
United Kingdom, France, Italy and Spain – as well as the smaller 
Western European countries. Countries such as Portugal and 
Ireland in particular, which had previously experienced eco-
nomic and debt crises, achieved strong growth rates in the sub-
stantial double-digit region in the HELLA fiscal year 2015/2016 
due to catching-up effects. 

The Japanese automotive market continued to feel the effects 
of the VAT hike implemented in April 2015 on “Kei cars” (vehi-
cles with a displacement of up to 660 ccm). New registrations in 
calendar year 2015 dropped by 10 % to 4.2 million vehicles, con-
tracting at a somewhat more moderate rate of 5 % in the first 
five months of 2016 to 1.8 million.

In India, low interest rates and rising consumer demand in the 
wake of growth in real wages and salaries ensured stable 
growth of 8 % in calendar year 2015 to roughly 2.8 million new 
registrations. In the first five months of 2016, new registrations 
rose by roughly 5 % over the same period of the prior year. The 
other two BRIC countries – Brazil and Russia – sustained sub-

HELLA Group sales (in € million)

2013/2014
2014/2015
2015/2016 6,352

5,343
5,835
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Sales with third-party companies in the Aftermarket segment 
rose by 5.9 % over the prior year. 

The Special Applications segment recovered compared with the 
prior fiscal year, achieving growth of 2.0 % in sales with third-
party companies over the prior year. 

Measured in terms of regional market coverage by end custom-
ers, sales in North and South America contracted by 0.3 %. This 
was chiefly due to low exports by German OEMs to this region. 
All in all, HELLA has eight production facilities in North and 
South America with plants in Mexico and the United States and 
one plant in Brazil. The region’s share of consolidated sales 
dropped from 21 % to 19 %.

Sales in the Asia/Pacific/RoW region grew by 8.2 %, accounting 
for 27 % of consolidated sales. Thus, HELLA has a total of 13 
facilities in China, including three joint ventures. In order to 
cover customer requirements from the Chinese market com-
prehensively, we have also steadily expanded our development 
capacity. Even though growth in the automotive sector in China 
has recently lost some of its momentum, demand on the 
world’s biggest automotive market is still high and thus remains 
a major growth factor for HELLA. 

Supported by the stabilisation of the market recovery, business 
performance in Europe was also positive. Sales in Europe 
including Germany were up 12.9 % compared with the prior 
year. All in all, this region contributed 54 % of consolidated sales, 
up from 52 % in the prior year. Overall, sales generated outside 
Europe came to 46 % of consolidated sales. Sales generated 
outside Europe in the Automotive business segment, which has 
a substantially more global focus, accounted for 54 %.

Results of operations
Net operating profit/loss (EBIT) including special items dropped 
by 2.3 % from € 430 million in the prior year to € 420 million in 
the year under review. The EBIT margin contracted from 7.4 % in 
the prior year to 6.6 %. This figure includes restructuring 
expenses of € 9 million for the entire fiscal year. In the prior year 
these expenses had come to € 15 million. They were recognised 
at the Group level and not assigned to the business segments 
due to their general and non-operating nature. Earnings were 
also significantly weighed down by one-time additional expenses 
in connection with the loss of a supplier in China. The resultant 
net expense came to € 47 million. HELLA was able to perma-
nently overcome this exceptional situation at an early stage. As 
a result of these expenses, it was not possible to achieve the 
prior year’s forecast of EBIT growth in the mid to high single 

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT; in € million)

2013/2014
2014/2015
2015/2016 420

347
430
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Adjusted EBITDA (adjusted operating earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortisation) rose by € 77 million to 
€ 858 million, accounting for 13.5 % of sales and thus remaining 
unchanged over the previous year.

For HELLA, Research and Development forms the basis of its 
technological competence and competitiveness. At € 623 mil-
lion, the corresponding expenses were € 80 million higher than 
in the prior year. In relation to sales their share rose to 9.8 %, 
compared to 9.3 % in the prior year. In addition to heavy capital 
expenditure on technology and innovation, the high develop-
ment expenses also reflect the intensive expansion of our inter-
national development network, As this network has not yet 
achieved the necessary level of efficiency due to the strong 
growth, HELLA initially recorded a disproportionately large 
increase in the pro-rated development cost ratio relative to cur-
rent sales. However, the sustained increase in the gross income 
margin over the last few years has opened up economic scope 
for extensive research and development activities as a basis for 
dynamic and organic growth on a sustained basis. 

Distribution costs rose by € 38 million over the prior year to 
€ 494 million. At 7.8 %, the ratio of distribution costs to sales 
held steady. Distribution costs particularly also include expenses 
for the Aftermarket segment’s international sales network. 
Moreover, the distribution cost ratio includes the costs of the 
international distribution network of the Automotive segment 
and the cost of outbound freight in connection with supplying 
our customers. 

digits and an EBIT margin unchanged over the prior year. The 
revised forecast that had been issued early on in the first quar-
ter of the fiscal year under review on the basis of this realisation 
according to which the costs incurred as a result of the loss of a 
Chinese supplier would amount to up to € 50 million was con-
firmed. These expenses caused EBIT and the EBIT margin to fall 
short of the prior year, as had been announced in the outlook for 
the Company in the first quarter of the fiscal year under review.

Earnings before interest and income tax (EBIT) adjusted for the 
above-mentioned one-time expenses rose to € 476 million, 
marking a new all-time high. The adjusted EBIT margin as the 
ratio of adjusted net operating profit/loss (EBIT) to sales shrank 
by 0.1 percentage points to 7.5 %. All in all, it came under pressure 
due to the substantial 0.5 percentage point increase in the 
research and development cost ratio compared with the prior year 
and the decline of 0.1 percentage points over the prior year in the 
contribution to earnings made by joint ventures and associates.

Full-year gross profit rose by € 134 million to € 1,688 million in 
fiscal year 2015/2016, resulting in a gross margin of 26.6 %, i. e. 
unchanged over the prior year. This figure includes a charge of 
€ 27 million in connection with the loss of a supplier in China. 
Excluding this special item, the gross profit margin is 27.0 %. 
Despite increased costs in connection with the introduction of com-
plex production methods for high-end lighting products in Eastern 
Europe, the high level of productivity was thus maintained. 

Regional market coverage by consumer – HELLA Group

2015 /2016 2014 /2015 2013 /2014

Absolute  
(in € million) Relative

Absolute  
(in € million) Relative

Absolute  
(in € million) Relative

Germany 987 16 % 840 14 % 796 15 %

Rest of Europe 2,450 39 % 2,204 38 % 2,076 39 %

North and South America 1,226 19 % 1,229 21 % 1,060 20 %

Asia/Pacific/RoW 1,689 27 % 1,561 27 % 1,411 26 %

Consolidated sales 6,352 100 % 5,835 100 % 5,343 100 %

The prior-year sales have been adjusted due to a more precise regional breakdown. 
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Administrative costs rose by € 21 million to € 218 million in fiscal 
year 2015/2016. At 3.4 %, the cost ratio in relation to sales 
remained at the prior year’s level. Net other income/expense as 
the balance between other expense and income dropped from 
€ 16 million to € 14 million. This includes additional expense of 
€ 20 million in connection with the loss of the Chinese supplier. On 
the other hand, the impairments of € 7 million which had arisen in 
the prior year were not repeated, something which had a positive 
effect. In addition, a year-on-year increase in other income, e.g. 
from government grants, the reversal of provisions and increased 
income from external services, largely cancelled out the effects of 
the aforementioned one-time expense in this item.

Income from the strategic network of joint ventures and other 
associates fell by € 2 million over the prior year to € 53 million 
due to the weak unit sales in South Korea in the first quarter. 
The share of around 13 % of the profit contributed by the strate-
gic network to consolidated net operating profit/loss again 
underscores the importance of this risk-diversified and strate-
gic expansion of our business model based on enlarged product 
portfolios and market access. 

Net financial expense climbed by € 4 million to € 40 million. In 
particular, the negative developments on the securities markets 
and negative exchange rate effects in financing depressed results. 
After net financial expense and income taxes of € 108 million, 
net income for the fiscal year came to € 272 million, down from 
€ 295 million in the prior year. This corresponds to a decline of 
8.0 % and a net return on sales of 4.3 %, down from 5.1 % in the 
prior year. 

Results of operations of the segments
In a market which continues to be characterised by strong auto-
motive demand, external sales in the Automotive business seg-
ment not including intersegment sales of € 39 million grew by 
10.1 %. Including sales with other Group segments, which were 
down on the prior year, sales in the Automotive business seg-
ment climbed by 5.5 % to € 4.8 billion.

The broad global footprint had a particularly positive effect. As 
the markets in Russia and Brazil as well as India are of subordi-
nate importance for HELLA’s business, the weakness in the 
macroeconomic conditions and in the automotive industry in 
Brazil and Russia in particular do not have adverse effect on 
HELLA’s business performance. In particular, growth was driven 
by start-ups of new products such as complex LED technology, 
electronic systems and components for energy management, 
driver assistance systems and electronic steering. All told, sales 
in the Automotive segment rose more quickly than the increase 
in global new registrations and sales of passenger vehicles.

The segment result slipped by € 11 million to € 343 million due to 
the loss of a Chinese supplier and the related charge of € 47 mil-
lion. This caused the EBIT margin to shrink from 7.7 % to 7.1 %. 
Adjusted for this charge, net operating profit/loss would have 
risen by 8.1 % despite additional start-ups of new complex LED 
products in Eastern Europe and China.

Regional market coverage by consumer – Automotive

2015 /2016 2014 /2015 2013 /2014

Germany 13 % 13 % 14 %

Rest of Europe 33 % 30 % 31 %

North and South America 23 % 25 % 24 %

Asia/Pacific/RoW 31 % 31 % 31 %

The prior-year sales have been adjusted due to a more precise regional breakdown.
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EBIT fell by € 14 million to € 5 million, resulting in a margin of 
1.6 %. Additions to non-current property, plant and equipment 
rose by 44 % over the prior year to € 16 million. 

Financial position
The finances of the HELLA Group are managed centrally by the 
parent company. Funding is largely raised centrally and made 
available to the Group companies as required. HELLA generally 
has a long-term funding horizon, which ensures liquidity at all 
times even in the event of cyclical fluctuations. The investment 
and funding policies are based on a balanced portfolio. Our 
financial management aims to safeguard the Group’s liquidity 
and creditworthiness, which includes ensuring access to the 
credit capital market.

Capital structure
The liquidity position comprising cash and cash equivalents and 
current financial assets dropped by € 94 million to € 914 million 
in the fiscal year. Dividends to shareholders and non-controlling 
interests paid by the Group company came to € 87 million. Cur-
rent and non-current financial liabilities rose by € 13 million to 
€ 1,152 million.

Additions to non-current property, plant and equipment in the 
segment, consisting mainly of capital expenditure for maintain-
ing or expanding buildings, machinery, plants and other equip-
ment, rose by € 59 million over the prior year to € 448 million.

The external sales of the Aftermarket segment excluding sales 
with other segments of around € 49 million rose by 5.9 % over 
the prior year. Accordingly, segment sales climbed by 5.0 % or 
€ 60 million to € 1.2 billion.

This growth was mainly underpinned by our wholesale busi-
ness in Denmark and Poland as well as our garage equipment 
business. Independent aftermarket business in Europe recov-
ered appreciably over the prior year despite the ongoing consol-
idation among wholesale customers particularly in Germany.

Driven by growth in all business areas, the operating margin 
widened from 6.2 % in the prior year to 6.4 %. Net operating 
profit/loss grew by € 7 million to € 80 million. Additions to non- 
current property, plant and equipment rose by 6.3 % over the 
prior year to € 28 million.

The Special Applications segment recovered slightly from the 
effects of the weak demand of the recent past in the agricultural 
sector. Excluding intersegment sales of € 1 million, external sales 
increased by 2.0 %. Segment sales also climbed by 2.0 % to 
€ 316 million. 

Regional market coverage by consumer – Aftermarket and Special Applications

2015 /2016 2014 /2015 2013 /2014

Germany 22 % 16 % 17 %

Rest of Europe 58 % 62 % 59 %

North and South America 7 % 8 % 9 %

Asia/Pacific/RoW 13 % 15 % 14 %

The prior-year sales have been adjusted due to a more precise regional breakdown.
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Net debt as the balance of cash and cash equivalents and cur-
rent financial assets less current and non-current financial lia-
bilities climbed by € 106 million to € 238 million. At the reporting 
date the ratio of net debt to EBITDA stood at 0.3 (prior year: 0.2).

The corporate rating issued by Moody’s remains in the invest-
ment grade segment at Baa2 with a stable outlook. Moody’s last 
updated its credit opinion in July 2016. 

Alongside the financial liabilities shown on the face of the bal-
ance sheet, obligations from operating leases exist but are of 
minor importance. The present value of the resultant minimum 
lease payments came to € 42 million at the reporting date.

At the reporting date the cash-relevant inflow of € 70 million 
from trade receivables sold under a factoring programme was 
€ 30 million down on the prior year. The factoring transaction 
was final and without any right of recourse. 

At present, HELLA essentially employs three financial instru-
ments in the non-current segment:

 Capital market bonds
At the reporting date, HELLA had two outstanding capital mar-
ket bonds with terms of three-and-a-half and seven years, 
respectively. They comprise a bond of € 300 million maturing in 
September 2017 and a bond of € 500 million maturing in Janu-
ary 2020.

 Private placement
In the years 2002 and 2003 a total of JPY 22 billion with a 30-year 
term was raised. This foreign currency liability is fully hedged 
against exchange rate fluctuations over its entire term. The lia-
bility was valued at € 182 million as at 31 May 2016.

 Syndicated credit facility
In June 2015, a five-year syndicated credit facility of € 450 mil-
lion was agreed with a syndicate of international banks. This 
facility has since been renewed for a further year and now 
expires in June 2021. 

No further material funding requirements are expected in fiscal 
year 2016/2017.

HELLA Group equity (in € million; at 31 May of each year)

2014
2015
2016

1,342

1,979
1,910
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Liquidity analysis
Cash generated from operating activities rose by € 42 million 
over the prior year to € 602 million. This includes payments of 
€ 15 million for restructuring, down from € 38 million in the prior 
year, and expenses of € 34 million in connection with the loss of 
a supplier in China.

Cash generated from net operating profit/loss before non-cash 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) increased significantly 
over the prior year. EBITDA rose by € 50 million to € 816 million. 

This strong sales growth simultaneously resulted in the accu-
mulation of working capital. The additional working capital aris-
ing from the increase in receivables and other assets climbed by 
€ 115 million. Of this, € 30 million arose from the reduction of an 
existing factoring programme. In addition, the longer payment 
periods customary in Asia led to a further increase in trade 
receivables.

By contrast, inventories rose by € 34 million. Trade liabilities and 
other liabilities increased by € 122 million.

Taxes paid net of tax refunds came to € 109 million, down from 
€ 113 million in the prior year. 

Cash capital expenditure excluding payments for the acquisition 
of company shares or the issue or repayment of capital rose by 
€ 69 million to € 547 million. It predominantly comprised main-

tenance and expansion spending on buildings, machinery, plants 
and other equipment. HELLA also invested continuously in cus-
tomer-specific operating equipment, which is recognised in the 
Group’s non-current assets as economic property on account of 
the opportunity and risk structure. In view of the considerable 
up-front investments in such operating equipment, HELLA 
receives reimbursement payments from customers as an advance 
on the delivery of parts, which are reported as prepayments 
within deferred income. These prepayments came to € 83 million 
in the fiscal year under review (prior year: € 131 million).

Payments for procuring operating equipment are allocated to 
investing activities in the cash flow statement, whereas cash 
proceeds from customer reimbursements are assigned to 
operating activities as prepayments for economic purposes.

Regardless of the economic view taken in the annual financial 
statements, the cash flow from equipment procurements and 
customer reimbursements in our internal capital expenditure 
planning are combined within the net capital expenditure indica-
tor with the remaining cash proceeds and settlements for prop-
erty, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The reason is 
that the advanced payment method of the customer reimburse-
ments eases the need for capital expenditure in a closely related 
time frame and, therefore, is a significant factor in the invest-
ment decision. Net capital expenditure rose to € 463 million 
(7.3 % of sales) in the fiscal year under review, up from 
€ 347 million in the prior year (6.0 % of sales).
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Operating cash flow before dividends and net capital expendi-
ture on financial assets or shares in associates came to 
€ 56 million, down from € 82 million in the prior year. Adjusted 
for the restructuring payments (€ 15 million), the loss of a sup-
plier (€ 34 million) and reduced factoring volumes (€ 30 million), 
adjusted operating cash flow came to € 134 million, up from 
€ 120 million in the prior year. 

The Group received net inflows of € 4 million from investing 
activities in connection with investments in associates, after net 
inflows of € 19 million in the prior year. This inflow was chiefly 
due to the reduction in the capital of one associate in Germany. 
Total outflows from financing activities came to € 67 million, 
down from € 148 million in the prior year. Net new borrowing 
stood at € 9 million. In the prior year, net loan repayments came 
to € 296 million. As part of active management of the liquidity 
available to the Group € 68 million was accrued from securities 
during the year under review following investments of € 50 mil-
lion in the prior year. For liquidity management purposes, capi-
tal is usually invested in short-term securities or securities with 
a liquid market, which means that these funds can be made 
available for potential operating requirements at short notice. A 
total of € 58 million was paid for the acquisition of all of the 
remaining outstanding shares in the wholesale business in 
Denmark and Poland. 

Dividends of € 87 million (prior year: € 59 million) were paid to 
the shareholders. Liquidity decreased by € 18 million over the 
prior year to € 585 million. Including current financial assets, 

which essentially comprise securities of € 329 million (prior 
year: € 405 million), available funds dropped from € 1,008 mil-
lion to € 914 million. On this basis, HELLA is able to satisfy its 
payment obligations.

Financial position
Total assets grew by a further € 78 million to € 5 billion during 
the fiscal year under review. The high liquidity position of around 
€ 0.9 billion still results in a substantial increase in total assets. 
The equity ratio stood at 40 % at the end of the fiscal year and 
was thus 0.1 percentage point up on the prior year. The increase 
in total assets resulting from the high liquidity position influ-
ences the equity ratio significantly. The equity ratio relative to 
total assets adjusted for liquidity comes to 48 %.

Overall statement
Fiscal year 2015/2016 was very positive for the HELLA Group 
from the Management Board’s perspective. The Group expanded 
by 7.5 % after currency adjustment, thus outpacing the growth of 
the global automotive market yet again.

Driven by its corporate strategy, the Automotive business seg-
ment in particular continued to grow substantially. Business 
gained further momentum thanks to new product start-ups and 
strong demand in the market. The Aftermarket segment was 
able to recover from the effects of the muted demand seen in 
the prior year and likewise continued on its growth trajectory. 
The Special Applications segment also improved slightly after 
the weak demand of the recent past. 
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In fiscal year 2015/2016, adjusted consolidated EBIT (earnings 
before interest and tax) reached a new high of € 476 million, 
thus growing by 7 % compared with the prior year. Adjusted 
structural expenses came to € 9 million, down from € 15 million 
in the prior year. Expenses in connection with the loss of a sup-
plier in China stood at € 47 million. EBIT on an unadjusted basis 
came to € 420 million, equivalent to a 2.3 % decline over the 
prior year. Consolidated profit after tax reached € 272 million 
(prior year: € 295 million). In accordance with the adjustments to 
the dividend policy adopted as part of the initial public offering, 
under which 30 % of the consolidated net profit attributable to 
the owners of the parent company is to be distributed to share-
holders, the Management Board will propose to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting that a dividend of € 0.77 per share be distributed for 
fiscal year 2015/2016. As there are 111,111,112 no-par value 
shares, this is equivalent to a distribution amount of € 86 million. 
In the prior year, an amount of € 86 million (€ 0.77 per shares) had 
been distributed. Since the most recent issue of new capital in 
November 2014, the Company has had 111,111,112 shares, this 
number likewise applying on the date of distribution.

The HELLA Group’s financial position and assets and liabilities 
remained very solid, underpinned by its strong business perfor-
mance. Adjusted operating free cash flow was up again sub-
stantially following the high capital expenditure of earlier years 
on property, plant and equipment and structures as part of the 
globalisation initiative. At € 134 million, it is higher than the prior 
year’s figure of € 120 million.

Net debt rose by € 106 million to € 238 million. In addition to the 
inflow from operating free cash flow of € 56 million, there was 
an outflow for the dividend distribution (€ 87 million) and equity 
investments (€ 58 million). Net debt thus stands at 0.3 times 
EBITDA, up from 0.2 times in the prior year.

As the good business performance continued at the start of the 
new fiscal year 2016/2017, the Management Board takes a gen-
erally positive view of the net assets, financial position and 
results of operations at the time the management report was 
prepared.

Internal control in Group accounting
The Group-wide internal control system for accounting is an 
important component and includes organisation, review and 
monitoring structures that ensure that business transactions 
are properly recorded, evaluated and applied to the financial 
reporting. To identify influencing factors on accounting and 
reporting early and to enable suitable measures for proper 
recording, various analyses and evaluations are carried out as 
part of risk management. Regulations that are applicable 
Group-wide which, together with annual financial statement 
planning, determine the process for preparing the financial 
statements are codified in an accounting handbook. If there are 
changes to legal regulations and accounting standards, they are 
analysed promptly in terms of their impact on financial report-
ing and, where necessary, directly included in the consolidated 
reporting. 
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The local companies are supported and monitored by the 
Group’s central accounting department when creating their sep-
arate financial statements, which they are responsible for creat-
ing themselves. Finally, the consistency of the reported and 
verified financial statement data is ensured through the relevant 
IT systems. The consolidation of the separate financial state-
ments is largely carried out centrally. In justified individual 
cases, for joint ventures for example, the financial statements 
of sub-groups are also included in the consolidated financial 
statements. The effectiveness of the internal accounting con-
trols is reviewed on a continuous basis by the Internal Audit 
department. 

The employees responsible for financial reporting receive regu-
lar training. Where necessary, support is provided by external 
experts for the measurement of complex items, such as pen-
sion liabilities. Moreover, the control system incorporates fur-
ther risk avoidance measures and measures to improve trans-
parency, such as comprehensive plausibility checks, segregation 
of duties, and the four eyes principle. Furthermore, the analyses 
carried out as part of risk management help to identify risks 
which influence financial reporting and to enable measures to 
be taken to mitigate these risks. The effectiveness of this inter-
nal control system is assessed by the responsible Group com-
panies and departments using an IT-based system and audited 
in spot checks performed by the Internal Audit department. The 
Management and Supervisory Boards are regularly informed of 
the results. 
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Opportunity and risk report

As an international supplier of automotive components, HELLA 
is exposed to numerous opportunities and risks. It attempts to 
identify them at an early stage, manage them preemptively and 
make responsible use of them by means of a systematic oppor-
tunities and risk management process.

Risk management system 
HELLA views risk management as a proactive and preventive 
process for managing risks. It forms a central element of cor-
porate governance as well as being an integral part of strategic 
development and the business planning and review cycle at 
HELLA.

The risk management system is coordinated by the Risk Man-
agement Board at the Group level. This body is responsible for 
tracking the Company’s overall risk position. In addition, respon-
sibility for risk management is defined at all organisational lev-
els within the Group. This includes the Management Board as 
well as all corporate functions and business segments. In addi-
tion, HELLA is expanding its own risk management capabilities 
continuously. 

Risk management methodology
HELLA applies a uniform methodology to implement an effec-
tive risk management process across the entire Group for iden-
tifying, analysing and evaluating risks at an early stage and for 
monitoring them on a long-term basis. Risk is defined as the 
probability of internal or external events liable to jeopardise the 
achievement of strategic or operating goals. 

In accordance with the classifications used in the COSO (Com-
mittee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commis-
sion) model, HELLA distinguishes five main types of risks: (1) 
strategic risks, (2) financial risks, (3) compliance risks, (4) oper-
ational risks and (5) external risks.

The Management Board mandates the implementation of the 
risk management system, which is communicated by the Risk 
Management Board at all levels of the Company. Responsibility 
for identifying and evaluating potential risks lies with the indi-
vidual levels and organisational units within the Company. The 
heads of the departments or units assume the role of risk owner, 
risk leader or risk officer. Risk owners have various instruments 
for detecting and evaluating risks. These include questionnaires 
on specific activities, minutes of meetings and audit reports. In 
addition, all business divisions take part in an annual risk man-
agement workshop to identify, analyse and evaluate potential 
new risks, to develop appropriate precautions and to define 
responsibilities. 

HELLA prepares a Group Risk Report describing all main risks 
on the basis of regular risk evaluations. The Risk Management 
Coordinator informs the Management Board of HELLA quar-
terly of existing risks, their evaluation and the measures per-
formed. In the event of any material changes arising in the risk 
position in the intervening period, the Management Board is 
notified via clearly defined report paths. This ensures that the 
Management Board is able to exercise its supervisory duties 
and respond to new developments in a timely manner. Further-
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more, the risk management system and the Group’s general 
performance are regularly reviewed in close consultation with 
the Supervisory Board and the Shareholder Committee. 

Any new risks are categorised and classified on the basis of 
HELLA’s risk overview system. As a rule, risks are categorised 

according to their impact and probability of occurrence. The 
Consolidated Annual Report groups the risks into three catego-
ries based on their impact and two categories based on their 
probability. For this purpose, the probability of occurrence is 
determined for a period of 1– 5 years or a period of 5 –10 years. 

Impact descriptors Possible consequences

1 – Minor 
Negative outcomes from risks or lost opportunities unlikely to  
have a permanent or significant effect on the Company’s reputation  
or performance.

 If the risk occurs, there may be a minor effect on net profit i. e. the 
impact on net profit for planned earnings is less than € 5 million
 No regulatory consequences
  Minor adverse publicity
  Minor reversible harm

2 – Noticeable
Negative consequences of risks or lost opportunities have a material 
impact on the Company. They can be managed without any major impact 
in the medium term. 
 

 If the risk occurs, there may be a considerable effect on net profit i. e. 
the impact on net profit for planned earnings is up to € 50 million.
 Limited regulatory consequences
 Local adverse publicity for the area concerned
 Major reversible harm

3 – Critical
Negative consequences of risks or lost opportunities have a material 
impact on the Company. Substantial efforts are necessary to overcome 
the problems that they cause and to develop a medium-term solution. 
However, the risks generally do not pose any medium-term risk to the 
Company’s going-concern status. In extraordinary and extreme cases, 
the Company’s going-concern status may be theoretically placed at risk.  

 If the risk occurs, there may be a very major effect on net profit i. e. the 
impact on net profit for planned earnings is greater than € 50 million.
 Substantial regulatory consequences
 Sustained negative coverage in the national press
 Major sanctions imposed by the responsible authorities
 Closure of part of the business
 Irreversible loss

Probability Occurrence Definition
Probable Once every 1–5 years Probability of occurrence of 20 % to 90 % or greater in this period. 

Less likely Once every 5–10 years Probability of occurrence of less than 20 % in this period.
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They are evaluated according to the following categories:
All risk owners regularly report any changes in risks already 
reported as well as all new developments. Under the risk man-
agement strategy, new material risks must be reported imme-
diately. Risks that are identified for the first time are systemati-
cally grouped into individual risk areas and managed by the risk 
leaders. 

Opportunity management
HELLA takes a decentralised approach to opportunity manage-
ment. Opportunity management forms part of the strategy and 
controlling process. Use is also made of external market analy-
ses and forecasts in this connection. Opportunity management 
is also firmly integrated within the applicable business seg-
ments and anchored in the target agreement process. New 
opportunities are systematically identified using a continuous 
process and are evaluated where necessary and implemented if 
found to be suitable. In this regard, opportunities may particu-
larly arise from changes in global or regional market conditions, 
technological trends and customer developments. Opportuni-
ties arising from day-to-day business are identified and acted on 
by operational management. 

     For more information on this, refer to the explanations 
on the strategic objectives of the Group which begin on 
page 55 of this management report. 

Description of material risks and summary of risk position
A final overview of the major risk categories is achieved by con-
solidating all risks. This seeks to identify at an early stage any 
developments liable to threaten the Company’s going-concern 
status. Data is collected from all business divisions and corpo-
rate functions. The identified risks are allocated to the following 
five main categories:

  Strategic risks
  Financial risks
  Compliance risks
  Operational risks (including HR risks, sourcing risks, 
quality risks, IT risks)

  External risks (including market risks)

The order in which these risks are presented here does not 
reflect their significance, probability or impact. Moreover, previ-
ously unknown risks may have an adverse effect on the Group’s 
operations, cash flow, financial performance or assets. The 
twelve largest risks to which HELLA is exposed are set out on 
page 83 of the report.

 Strategic risks
As national economies, markets, technologies and statutory 
requirements are changing at an increasingly dynamic rate, 
strategic analysis and planning in the automotive sector are 
subject to growing uncertainty. 
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The sector currently faces three main challenges: (1) changes in 
consumer demand, (2) heightened environmental and safety 
requirements and (3) digital transformation. These trends offer 
both opportunities and risks for the automotive sector.

In this environment, the ability to innovate – in terms of both 
hardware and software – is becoming more and more crucial. 
What is more, with the growing proportion of software content, 
new competitors are entering the market. At the same time, the 
product cycles are becoming shorter. Thus, iteration cycles for 
new software solutions are now measured in months, while 
new vehicle models usually take three to four years to reach the 
market. Innovation and flexibility play an important role for the 
automotive supply industry not least of all against the backdrop 
of growing globalisation and mounting competitive and cost 
pressure. Among other things, HELLA has established an incu-
bator in Berlin and an office in Silicon Valley to anticipate tech-
nological trends as a basis for new technologies and business 
models even more effectively. 

As the business model of an automotive components supplier 
is structured to address only a limited number of customers, 
HELLA is exposed to various customer-side risks. It is therefore 
dependent on a balanced customer portfolio and long-term 
customer relationships. The Company’s business structure also 
has a stabilising effect. Whereas the Automotive segment is 
dependent on automobile manufacturer sales, the Aftermarket 
segment is driven by sales of spare parts, accessories and 
garage equipment. This occurs very largely independently of 

trends in demand for new vehicles. This risk-optimised busi-
ness model means that HELLA has a balanced position even in 
the event of unexpected changes in the market or industry. 

The strategic risks to which HELLA is exposed primarily arise 
from its business portfolio, partnerships and joint ventures as 
well as its global presence. They are currently classified as risks 
with a noticeable and critical impact and with a low probability of 
occurrence (once every 5–10 years; less probable).

 Financial risks
HELLA’s international business activities expose it to exchange 
rate risks. These may arise in connection with receivables, lia-
bilities, cash and cash equivalents, securities and contracts 
which must be performed in another currency. Such risks are 
initially limited by sourcing materials locally within the respec-
tive currency and sales region. Currency risks are pooled, evalu-
ated and coordinated centrally to additionally optimise risk 
management. 

HELLA’s Foreign Currency Guideline defines the strategy for 
addressing currency risks for each Group company. Risk is ini-
tially analysed at the local level. A hedging proposal based on 
the local data is prepared, which takes into account the extent of 
the risk and the limits set in the Foreign Currency Guideline. A 
Treasury Committee then makes a decision on the proposal. 
Currency risks are primarily hedged by means of currency for-
wards, which are structured on the basis of expected for-
eign-currency cash flows.
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As European and international legislation is undergoing contin-
uous evolution, transfer pricing strategies, intercompany trans-
action processing and accounting requirements are becoming 
increasingly more complex. This is leading to new challenges 
within the Company, calling for better coordination between the 
individual units. Continuous adjustment processes are therefore 
necessary.

Shortcomings in the application of internal rules may result in 
inefficient processes, accounting errors and breaches of tax law 
as well as unnecessarily high tax payments. To minimise such 
errors, the Group has a comprehensive and transparent transfer 
pricing policy, which is kept up to date by the Group Charging 
department. A global network has been established to facilitate 
communications between the companies and to avoid transfer 
pricing errors. 

The Group’s liquidity position is adequately secured by long-
term loans, euro bonds and yen bonds. All agreed financial cov-
enants which, if breached, could lead to extraordinary termina-
tion rights for the lender with potentially accelerated payment 
obligations, are monitored continuously. Customer credit risks 
may severely impair the Company’s liquidity position. 

With the growing complexity of the products and customer 
deliveries, the Company’s trade credit receivables are also ris-
ing. These receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis by 
specialist departments to ensure early identification of any 
problems in customer deliveries. HELLA’s general liquidity 

position is monitored continuously. The financial risks to which 
the Company is exposed are mostly classified as risks with a 
minor and/or noticeable impact and are viewed as “less proba-
ble”. In exceptional cases, a customer credit risk causing liquid-
ity problems is classified as a risk with a critical impact. How-
ever, this risk is also “less probable”.

 Compliance risks
At HELLA, top priority has always been given to observance of 
laws and internal rules in order to avert any compliance 
breaches. With the rising complexity of the statutory and regu-
latory environment, however, the demands made regarding cor-
porate compliance are rising. As a result, HELLA is also exposed 
to new types of risks. 

Compliance management measures are described in the cor-
porate governance report starting on page 88.

Despite extensive precautions, HELLA is not able to fully rule 
out the possibility of individual employees breaching statutory 
provisions (e.g. anti-trust or anti-corruption legislation), expos-
ing the Group to the risk of fines, penalties and claims for 
damages. 

In previous fiscal years, HELLA had already reported that Euro-
pean and US authorities had commenced anti-trust investiga-
tions into HELLA and other companies in the automotive light-
ing sector in 2012. The outcome of these investigations cannot 
at present be predicted. In the pending EU proceedings, the EU 
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Commission informed the Company on a purely formal basis 
that it would be commencing proceedings for the imposition of 
a fine. Other than this, there were no material activities in the 
past fiscal year. Looking forward, HELLA will continue to coop-
erate in full with the EU Commission. There were no new devel-
opments in the US proceedings in the past fiscal year. The out-
come of these investigations is likewise not yet foreseeable at 
this stage.

Under EU law, a fine of up to 10 % of annual consolidated sales 
may be imposed for anti-trust breaches. Fines and penalties 
imposed by the US authorities may amount to up to 20 % of the 
US sales affected by the cartel agreements. In addition, third 
parties who suffer a loss as a result of violations of antitrust law 
can claim damages both in Europe and the USA.

HELLA protects the technologies it has developed by means of 
patents and other property rights where this makes strategic 
sense for the Company. Observance of these rights by compet-
itors is constantly monitored and possible infringements are 
prosecuted accordingly. Apart from this, there is also the risk 
that HELLA itself might inadvertently infringe the rights of third 
parties, since competitors, suppliers and customers also apply 
for a large number of property rights. The existence of effective 
property rights cannot always be clearly determined for certain 
processes, methods and applications. Accordingly, HELLA may 
find itself being accused of breaching third-party property rights 
in individual cases. This may make the Group liable to pay dam-

ages or force it to acquire additional licences or refrain from 
using the relevant technology in certain countries. In order to 
avoid violating existing third-party property rights, HELLA sys-
tematically monitors new releases and compares these against 
its own technology portfolio.

Automotive OEMs are aware of the risk of cyber attacks as they 
make extensive use of computers and computer-aided electron-
ics in the design, production and operation of vehicles. Various 
sensors and audiovisual systems are fitted to vehicles to heighten 
safety and performance. Vehicles linked to the Internet may 
therefore be a potential target of cyber crime. 

HELLA’s customers are increasingly also demanding the obser-
vance of safety standards. Failure to observe customer require-
ments may result in additional costs for HELLA or project 
delays. This, in turn, would leave traces on the Company’s sales 
and profits. For this reason, HELLA seeks to satisfy customer 
requirements in full. Among other things, this necessitates the 
observance of the safety guidelines issued by reputable auto-
motive OEMs as well as the minimum information security 
standards (in accordance with ISO 27001). Although the failure 
to observe these standards does not entail a breach of a legal 
requirement as such, it would still mean that the Company had 
failed to meet its general duty of care as defined in the “state-of-
the-art” principle. This could prompt customers to recover dam-
ages from HELLA if, for example, confidential customer data 
were to be disclosed without authorisation.
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Since the Group holds personal data on employees, customers 
and suppliers, it must adhere to the requirements of data pro-
tection legislation. HELLA must implement and maintain effec-
tive systems and control mechanisms to minimise the related 
risks. Failure to observe data protection rules may have legal 
ramifications and harm the Company’s reputation. With regard to 
the EU Data Protection Regulation adopted in May 2016, HELLA’s 
European subsidiaries in particular face new challenges in this 
area.

At the same time, environmental rules are becoming increas-
ingly more stringent, meaning that looking forward HELLA may 
need to observe additional environmental and safety rules. 
Moreover, changes in legal requirements may have an adverse 
impact on market demand for HELLA products. 

As an internationally active Group, HELLA must comply with 
different regulatory systems. In particular, environmental pro-
tection and health regulations may be subject to frequent 
change and become increasingly more stringent. This may 
result in additional costs for the Company to comply with the 
new requirements.

Although HELLA has already taken numerous effective precau-
tions, compliance risks materially impacting the Group may still 
arise. For this reason, compliance risks are also classified as 
material due to their high regulatory complexity and dynamics. 
However, they are assumed to have only a moderate probability 
of occurrence (“less probable”) as no serious events liable to 
jeopardise the Company’s going-concern status are expected in 
the short term. 

Operational risks
The relocation of complex projects within the global HELLA net-
work may lead to operational and organisational bottlenecks at 
individual sites. The rising product complexity is posing new 
challenges for producers in areas such as logistics, sourcing, 
production and staff training.

Large-scale project and technology transfers may result in 
operational and organisational bottlenecks as well as pre-pro-
duction capacity problems. This may be due to insufficient 
machinery capacity, inadequately trained staff, poor supplier 
quality, general capacity problems and staff shortages.

Operational and organisational shortages may have a signifi-
cant impact on business, causing additional remedial costs, 
delivery delays, contractual penalties and rising staff-training 
costs. For this reason, all the plants concerned receive support 
from cross-function teams. 

As the global market is highly competitive, a number of original 
equipment manufacturers have started to offer longer warranty 
periods (up to eight years in some cases) for their vehicles to 
heighten the appeal of their products. As a consequence of this, 
they likewise expect their components suppliers to offer longer 
warranty periods on the products they provide. Among other 
things, automobile manufacturers use warranty cost analyses 
to lower the warranty costs per vehicle. The resultant warranty 
compensation system has a detrimental effect on components 
suppliers as they must bear part of the costs. 
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HELLA is attempting to minimise this risk by improving product 
quality and responding appropriately to any product quality 
shortfall reports. However, a certain potential for conflict arises 
whenever an attempt is made to pass on warranty costs in the 
absence of any substantial proof or justification. Given the cur-
rent manual production processes, original equipment manu-
facturers agree that it is difficult to differentiate between actual 
defects in parts and system-related failures. 

Quality risks and higher costs may also arise as a result of 
insufficient product maturity (due to an incomplete product 
design and/or premature commencement of production), insuf-
ficient personnel resources and staff training as well as internal 
processes that have not yet reached full maturity. 

Conformity of production (COP) serves as proof that the Com-
pany is able to manufacture a given product series in accordance 
with all requirements. This includes the specifications and label-
ling requirements stipulated in the type approval documentation. 

This forms a material part of the vehicle type approval process 
and involves an evaluation of the manufacturing processes to 
ensure that each product is built solely in accordance with the 
approved specifications. Mounting competition and globalisa-
tion are causing original equipment manufacturers to apply 
more and more pressure. HELLA ensures conformity of produc-
tion by means of its comprehensive quality management sys-
tem, in which testing is overseen, results checked and control 
plans evaluated.

There is a close reciprocal link between a company’s output and 
that of its suppliers. Failure to manage and monitor supplier 
performance may lead to severe supply chain disruptions, 
delivery problems and quality issues that harm a company’s 
credibility as well as its profits. By the same token, an effective 
supplier performance management programme can help to 
identify and address supplier issues early on.

HELLA is also dependent on its own supplier base. Any disrup-
tion in the supply chain would have an adverse effect on produc-
tion, logistics and sales as well as the Company’s general 
reputation. 

If any shortfalls arise on the part of exclusive suppliers, this 
may lead to production and delivery bottlenecks as well as 
higher prices, material costs and quality problems, resulting in 
a loss of sales for the Company. Accordingly, HELLA seeks to 
diversify its supplier base.
 
HELLA’s suppliers are constantly monitored and audited by 
teams of experts to avoid any interruptions in the supply chain. 
Supply chain management operates uniformly across the entire 
Company from the development phase through to the finished 
product. 
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Since HELLA uses complex IT structures, it is also vulnerable to 
any outage in its IT systems, which have the potential to inter-
rupt business for several days. With development and produc-
tion applications increasingly growing in complexity, ever larger 
volumes of data must be handled with limited IT resources. For 
this reason, all IT systems are monitored centrally and updated 
regularly to avoid possible outages. The Company additionally 
invests in its IT infrastructure to mitigate the risk of data losses.

Given its international expansion and the resultant global com-
petition for employees, the need to recruit qualified employees 
and to retain them in the long term poses a challenge for the 
Company. In growth markets such as China, India and Eastern 
Europe in particular, HELLA is exposed to the risk of a rising 
salary base for qualified specialists. A shortage of staff would 
make its effect felt on development activities in particular. 
HELLA is developing a global recruitment, staff retention and 
training model to reduce the adverse effects of shortages of 
specialists and an inadequate expertise pool on project trans-
fers. Operational risks may particularly arise in the areas of IT, 
quality, production processes and human resources manage-
ment. These are predominantly classified as risks with a notice-
able impact and a low probability of occurrence (once every 1 to 
5 years).
 

 External risks
The global economy is continuing to expand at a slow rate: GDP 
growth of 3.5 % is projected for 2016, up from 3.1 % last year. 
The divergence in growth between individual regions may widen 

as a result of the differing effects of the recent decline in the 
price of oil and other commodities as well as country-specific 
factors. The short-term outlook for growth in commodity-ex-
porting countries has deteriorated considerably, while countries 
that import commodities are benefiting from lower prices. This 
is reflected in declining inflation, weaker fiscal pressure and an 
improved balance of payments. 

In the Automotive segment, the Chinese market in particular 
offers HELLA enormous potential for growth. Last year, over 20 
million new vehicles were sold in China. As a result, the Chinese 
passenger vehicle market was able to defend its position as the 
world’s largest single market. This was chiefly due to urbanisa-
tion trends. Automotive OEMs are likely to focus more heavily on 
the growing Chinese middle class as a target group. Future 
growth of the Chinese passenger vehicle market will probably be 
underpinned by the persistently low level of motorisation. The 
continuing growth in the Chinese market has led to the extensive 
relocation of key elements of the value chain – such as produc-
tion and development – to China. In this way, HELLA is not only 
responding to the relocation of production activities in the auto-
motive industry but also avoiding high import tariffs, longer 
transportation routes and other competitive disadvantages.

One of the greatest challenges facing the Aftermarket segment 
is the ongoing consolidation among customers. In many cases, 
this consolidation has been accompanied by greater price pres-
sure, something which may have significant adverse effects on 
business.
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The external risks to which HELLA is exposed are mostly mar-
ket risks, such as fluctuation in customer demand or slower 
global economic growth. In addition, customer consolidation 
and restricted access to IAM spare parts as well as certain nat-
ural risks are classed as external risks. HELLA has classified 
these risks as difficult to forecast and largely beyond its control. 
The impact of external risks is considered to be moderate with 
a probability of such risks occurring once every one to five years.

  Statement on overall risk and opportunities situation
The number of individual risks to which the HELLA Group is 
exposed has changed over the prior year. This is due to the fact 
that new business divisions (particularly Aftermarket and Spe-

cial OE) have been included in the Company’s risk management 
workshops. Changes have predominantly arisen as a result of 
the new risks identified and reported at these workshops. In 
addition, a number of existing risks have been re-evaluated by 
risk owners with a focus on operations and compliance.

HELLA’s Management Board assumes that the overall risk 
position is consistent with the Company’s risk strategy and that 
risks are being managed in the light of the Group’s goals. 
Accordingly, it is not aware of any actual or potential develop-
ments that could seriously threaten the Company’s going-con-
cern status in the foreseeable future.

Risk overview

No. Risks Risk category Impact descriptors Probability
1 Supplier development Operational Critical Probable
2 Technology transfer Operational Critical Probable
3 IT security requirements Compliance Noticeable Probable
4 Warranties Operational Noticeable Probable
5 Transfer of expertise Operational Noticeable Probable
6 Shortage of specialists Operational Noticeable Probable
7 Increased complexity Compliance Noticeable Probable
8 Infringement of data protection rules Compliance Noticeable Probable
9 Process deviations Compliance Noticeable Probable
10 Deviation from standards Operational Noticeable Probable
11 Cost overrun Operational Noticeable Probable
12 Loss of receivables Financial Critical Less likely

See page 75 of this report for definitions of the terms “impact descriptors” and “probability of occurrence”.
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Forecast report
Overall economic and industry-specific outlook
Despite adjusting its forecasts for this year and next in April 
2016, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) still expects the 
global economy to grow at a moderate rate. Growth of 3.2 % and 
3.5 % is expected for calendar years 2016 and 2017 respectively. 
This is chiefly due to an above-average upswing in a number of 
emerging markets and developing countries. The IMF antici-
pates that economic growth in industrialised countries such as 
the United States, Canada and the Eurozone will be muted. Bra-
zil and Russia are still facing a recession and stagnation this 
year and in 2017. With uncertainties having heightened on a 
global level – not least as a result of the United Kingdom’s deci-
sion to leave the European Union – alternative scenarios with 
lower global economic growth are more likely. 

In the United States, growth is expected to come to 2.4 % in 2016 
and 2.5 % in 2017, i. e. more or less unchanged over 2015. 
Although it is not yet possible to foretell the longer-term effects 
on the financial and economic markets of the United Kingdom’s 
decision to leave the European Union, the first few economic 
research institutes have already made adjustments to their 
forecasts. Thus, in July 2016 the IMF lowered its forecast for 
growth in the Eurozone to 1.6 % in 2016 and 1.5 % in 2017. The 
muted growth in the Eurozone is attributable in part to high pri-
vate and public-sector debt, muted capital spending, high 
unemployment on a regional level and the significant demo-
graphic changes in society. 

China will continue to stabilise at just above 6 % in the second 
half of the calendar year and in 2017 (6.5 % in 2016 and 6.2 % in 
2017). The IMF expects Japan’s economic output to rise margin-
ally by 0.5 % in 2016 but to contract by 0.1 % in 2017. This down-
ward trend is due to the appreciation of the yen, weak demand 
from developing countries and tax increases entering into effect. 
As things stand at the moment, India is expected to post the 
strongest economic growth on a global level (7.5 % for both cal-
endar years in the forecast period), mainly due to growing 
demand from the private sector as a consequence of rising real 
wages and lower energy prices. The recession in Russia should 
bottom out in 2017: following contraction in 2015, a decline of 
1.8 % is still expected in 2016 and an increase of 0.8 % for 2017. 
In Brazil, rising unemployment, falling real wages, a lack of 
competitiveness in industry and domestic political uncertainty 
will cause the economy to contract by 3.8 % in 2016, followed by 
zero growth in 2017. 

Global uncertainties combined with political and economic 
instability are placing a damper on the upswing and driving up 
unpredictability for the automotive industry. The German Asso-
ciation of the Automotive Industry ( Verband der Automobilin-
dustrie – VDA) expects muted growth in the global passenger 
vehicle market in calendar year 2016. All in all, VDA anticipates 
that new registrations will increase by 3 % to 80.6 million in 
2016 as a whole, with all three main automotive markets (China, 
the United States and Western Europe) expected to remain on 
their growth trajectories in the current year. At this stage, it is 
not possible to gauge the possible market risks arising from the 
United Kingdom’s departure from the European Union. 
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China will remain on its growth trajectory in 2016, solidifying its 
position as the world’s most important passenger vehicle mar-
ket. Accordingly, an increase of 8 % to 21.7 million new vehicles 
is expected, additionally supported by the tax incentives that 
have already taken effect. As these incentives will expire in 
2017, pull-forward effects are likely to arise in 2016 followed by 
a somewhat weaker year in 2017. In the US market, the light 
vehicles segment is expected to expand by 1 % to 17.5 million 
units, while Western Europe should see growth of 5 % to around 
13.8 million units. In May 2016, VDA raised its forecast for Ger-
many slightly to 3 % and now projects 3.3 million new registra-
tions in calendar year 2016. The forecast for the global automo-
tive industry has received a damper from the sharp contraction 
in Brazil and Russia, two markets which are of only subordinate 
importance for HELLA. 

Company-specific outlook
In light of the expected underlying conditions and in the absence 
of any significant upheavals as a result of political, economic or 
social crises, we expect the HELLA Group’s business to grow in 
fiscal year 2016/2017. This positive business outlook is particu-
larly being underpinned by the three main thrusts of the strat-
egy which the Company has already been pursuing for some 
time now. First, HELLA remains heavily committed to expand-
ing its own market position through strong technological com-
petence and innovative product solutions addressing central 
megatrends, namely the environment, energy efficiency, safety, 
styling and comfort. Second, we see promising opportunities for 
advancing our global expansion on a lasting basis in growth 
regions such as China and NAFTA, in particular. Third, we are 
stepping up the continued expansion of our operational excel-

lence across the global HELLA network. Not least of all, our 
balanced business model in which the Aftermarket and Special 
Applications segments accompany our automotive business 
will act as a stabilising factor. As these two segments do not 
follow the classic automotive cycle, they offer additional stability 
precisely in challenging economic conditions characterised by 
heavy volatility. Moreover, the low volume of business in the 
United Kingdom and the small number of customers based 
there will shield HELLA from any direct short-term effects aris-
ing from the country’s decision to leave the European Union. At 
this stage, it is not yet possible to gauge the long-term macroe-
conomic impact and consequences.

If the conditions mentioned above are met, expect sales and 
adjusted EBIT to grow at a rate in the mid-single digits for fiscal 
year 2016/2017. Accordingly, the adjusted EBIT margin should 
more or less remain at the prior year’s level. The high expenses 
arising from special items, which were heavily influenced by the 
loss of a supplier in China in the year under review, should drop 
significantly.

The forward-looking statements in this report are based on cur-
rent assessments by HELLA’s management. They are subject to 
risks and uncertainties which HELLA is not able to control or 
assess precisely, such as the future market environment and 
general economic conditions, actions by the other market play-
ers and government measures. If any of these or other uncer-
tainties or vagaries should occur, or if the assumptions on 
which these statements are based turn out to be incorrect, the 
actual results may differ materially from the results explicitly 
specified or implicitly contained in these statements.
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Other events in the fiscal year
 Changes in the HELLA Management Board
Carsten Albrecht, Managing Director of the Aftermarket, 
Special OE and Industries business division, left HELLA 
Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH after seven years 
with effect from 31 October 2015. Mr. Albrecht’s role will 
be fulfilled temporarily by CEO Dr. Rolf Breidenbach until a 
successor can be appointed.

Jörg Buchheim, President & CEO China since January 2014, 
resigned from HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH as 
at 30 November 2015. To streamline the matrix leadership 
structure the management of the region ’China’, like that of all 
other regions, will in future be assumed via the global respon-
sibility of the business divisions and corporate functions. 

In January 2016 the Shareholder Committee of HELLA 
KGaA Hueck & Co. appointed Bernard Schäferbarthold as 
new Managing Director for Finance and Controlling. Mr. 
Schäferbarthold will take up his post by 1 January 2017 at 
the latest. He is succeeding Dr. Wolfgang Ollig, who left the 
Company effective 1 July 2016 at his own request. Pending 
Mr. Schäferbarthold’s entry, the Finance and Controlling 
department will be managed on an interim basis by Man-
aging General Partner Dr. Jürgen Behrend.

  Expansion of wholesale business
As a result of acquisitions in November 2015, HELLA took 
over the outstanding 21 % stake in Denmark’s FTZ, having 
already acquired the remaining 50 % of Poland’s Inter-
Team in September. As a result, the former joint ventures 
have now passed into HELLA’s full ownership. Both com-
panies had already been fully consolidated. The acquisi-
tion of these stakes represents a systematic strengthen-
ing of HELLA’s wholesale activities in Northern and 
Eastern Europe, pooled in the Nordic Forum. 
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Events after the balance sheet date

No events of special relevance other than those mentioned have 
taken place since the close of fiscal year 2015/2016. In the first 
months of the new fiscal year, the Group’s net assets, financial 
position and results of operations have continued to develop 
positively. 
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Corporate Governance of  
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co.
The General Partners, the Supervisory Board and the Share-
holder Committee of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. are committed 
to the principles of transparent and responsible corporate gov-
ernance and control of the Company, attaching great priority to 
the standards of good corporate governance. As a family-owned 
business, HELLA’s main focus is on entrepreneurial guidelines 
that implement long-term goals and sustainability, as well as 
compliance with standards of law and ethical standards.

With the following explanations, the General Partners, the 
Supervisory Board and the Shareholders’ Committee report on 
the corporate governance at HELLA in accordance with Section 
3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code (Deutscher Cor-
porate Governance Kodex, “DCGK”) and, at the same time, on the 
conduct of the Company’s business (Unternehmensführung) in 
accordance with Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, “HGB”). Furthermore, the report contains 
the information and explanations required under Sections 289 
(4), 289a and 315 (4) HGB. An additional disclosure of such infor-
mation and explanations in the notes is not necessary.

Report on Corporate Governance 

I. Corporate Governance Model of  
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. and the HELLA Group
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. is a German partnership limited by 
shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien – KGaA). Its legal 
form is a combination with similarities to a German limited 
partnership (Kommanditgesellschaft – KG) on the one hand and 
to a German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft – AG) on the 
other, with the main focus being on stock corporation law. As 
with a German stock corporation, the KGaA is a corporation 

whose share capital is divided into shares. As in a German lim-
ited partnership, the KGaA has two different groups of partners; 
the personally liable partners (Komplementär(e)) (General 
Partner(s)) that are responsible for managing the KGaA’s busi-
ness and are personally liable without restrictions for the 
KGaA’s liabilities, and the (limited liability) shareholders (Kom-
mandit-Aktionäre) that hold an interest in the share capital of 
the KGaA. The legal status of the (limited liability) shareholders 
does not differ significantly from that of the shareholders of a 
German stock corporation.

The company has two General Partners, Dr. Jürgen Behrend 
and HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH, which has its 
registered office in Lippstadt. The shares in HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH are held by the Company. Further 
governing bodies of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. are

(1.) the Shareholder Committee established in accordance with 
the Articles of Association, which currently consists of seven 
shareholder representatives elected by the Annual General 
Meeting, 
(2.) the Supervisory Board, which is constituted on a parity basis 
of eight shareholder representatives and eight employee repre-
sentatives pursuant to the German Co-Determination Act (Mit-
bestimmungsgesetz – MitbestG), and
(3.) the Annual General Meeting. 

Like many other listed family-owned companies, HELLA has 
taken advantage of the organisational flexibility inherent in the 
legal form of the KGaA. This flexibility in particular has enabled 
the Company to establish the Shareholder Committee that – as 
the central representative body of the shareholders – is respon-
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sible for advising and supervising the Management Board on a 
continuous basis and may play an active role in management 
issues, for example by determining which business transac-
tions require its consent. When taking advantage of such organ-
isational scope inherent in the legal form of the KGaA, HELLA 
emphasises transparency and equal treatment of all sharehold-
ers. Resolutions of the Annual General Meeting, for example, 
are passed by a simple majority vote, unless mandatory legal 
provisions or the Articles of Association stipulate otherwise. 
This also applies to resolutions appointing or removing General 
Partners. Furthermore, the requisite consent of the General 
Partners to specific resolutions of the Annual General Meeting 
as prescribed by law is excluded according to the Articles of 
Association, to the extent permitted by law. In this and many 
other respects, HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. closely follows the 
example of an ordinary stock corporation. 

More detailed information on the differences to a stock corpora-
tion specific to the legal form can be found in the declaration of 
conformity (Entsprechenserklärung) of the General Partners, the 
Shareholder Committee and the Supervisory Board as of 31 May 
2016, which has been published on the Company’s website under 
hella.com/declarationofconformity and is reproduced below.

1.  Group management by the General Partners
Group management consists of Dr. Jürgen Behrend as Manag-
ing General Partner and the Managing Directors of HELLA 
Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH with its CEO, Dr. Rolf Brei-
denbach. There are further Executive Boards in the segments 
and business divisions that are responsible for the operational 
and strategic management of the business units. Entrepreneur-
ial self-responsibility is the basic principle for managing the 

business at all levels. For material business transactions, the 
Group management board requires the approval of the HELLA 
KGaA Hueck & Co. Shareholder Committee, which codetermines 
the significant guidelines for business by means of this process. 

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the General Partners 
are jointly responsible for the management of the Company’s 
business. Important decisions, in particular the corporate strat-
egy and decisions going beyond the day-to-day operations, are 
made jointly by the General Partners after consultation between 
Dr. Jürgen Behrend und Dr. Rolf Breidenbach, whereas the Man-
aging Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH, 
headed by its CEO Dr. Breidenbach, are responsible for the oper-
ational implementation of the strategy and conducting the day-
to-day business. In accordance with the Articles of Association 
and at the request of a General Partner, the Shareholder Com-
mittee decides over any differences of opinion between the Gen-
eral Partners concerning management actions. However, in 
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, this 
does not apply as long as Dr. Jürgen Behrend acts as Managing 
General Partner; in this case, he has the casting vote. In this 
respect, he is ultimately responsible for all management issues.

The Annual General Meeting is responsible for appointing and 
removing of General Partners; according to the Articles of Asso-
ciation, the relevant resolution of the Annual General Meeting is 
passed by a simple majority of the votes cast, provided that 
such resolution does not require the General Partners’ consent. 
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Dr. Behrend may termi-
nate his function as Managing General Partner effective as per the 
end of a calendar quarter, giving three months’ notice to the Share-
holder Committee. The Shareholder Committee is responsible for 
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the appointment and removal of the Managing Directors of 
HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH, as well as for 
determining the terms and conditions of their service agree-
ments. The Articles of Association stipulate that Dr. Behrend 
has the right to make proposals for such appointments and 
removals, and can ultimately veto any such decision.

2.  Supervisory Board: competencies, functions 
 and committees

The role of the Supervisory Board is to advise and supervise the 
General Partners in their conduct of the Company’s business. In 
this respect, the competencies of the Supervisory Board of 
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. are limited due to its legal form. As 
opposed to the Supervisory Board of a stock corporation, the 
KGaA Supervisory Board is not responsible for appointments 
and dismissals in relation to the Company’s Management Board. 
Also, it has no power to issue rules of procedure for the Compa-
ny’s Management Board and cannot determine which business 
decisions require its consent. The main responsibilities of the 
Supervisory Board include the review and approval of the annual 
financial statements and the consolidated financial statements, 
including the management report and the Group management 
report. The Supervisory Board further examines the proposal for 
the appropriation of distributable profit and prepares resolution 
proposals in respect of each agenda item on which the Annual 
General Meeting is to decide. The exercise of the authorisations 
granted to the General Partners to increase the share capital 
from authorised capital and to buy back treasury shares is also 
subject to the Supervisory Board’s consent. The Supervisory 
Board reports annually on its activities to the Annual General 
Meeting, which adopts a resolution on its release.

As a rule, the Supervisory Board convenes four times a year. 
Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are adopted by a simple 
majority of the votes cast; each member has one vote. In case of 
a tie, the Chairman has the casting vote if the stalemate contin-
ues after a second vote on the same matter.

The Supervisory Board has a Nomination Committee consisting 
of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and another Supervi-
sory Board member representing the limited liability sharehold-
ers as elected by the Supervisory Board. The Nomination Com-
mittee prepares the proposals of the Supervisory Board to the 
Annual General Meeting for the election of Supervisory Board 
members. Currently, the members of the Nomination Commit-
tee are Prof. Dr. Michael Hoffmann-Becking and Elisabeth Fries. 
Furthermore, the Supervisory Board has an Audit Committee 
consisting of four Supervisory Board members elected by the 
Supervisory Board, of which two are shareholder representa-
tives and two are employee representatives. Currently the 
members of the Audit Committee are Klaus Kühn (Chairman), 
Prof. Dr. Michael Hoffmann-Becking, Manfred Menningen and 
Paul Berger. The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring 
the accounting processes, the effectiveness of the internal con-
trol system, the risk management system and the internal audit 
system, as well as the audit of the financial statements and 
compliance. Furthermore, it issues a recommendation to the 
Supervisory Board for its proposal regarding the election of the 
auditor to be submitted to the Annual General Meeting. It 
decides instead of the Supervisory Board on the agreements 
with the auditor (in particular the audit assignment, determina-
tion of the main points of the audit and the fee agreement) and 
takes appropriate measures in order to establish and monitor 
the independence of the auditor. The Audit Committee also pre-
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pares the Supervisory Board’s decisions on the approval of the 
annual financial statements and consolidated financial state-
ments. For this purpose, it is responsible for conducting an ini-
tial review of the annual financial statements, the consolidated 
financial statements, the management reports and the proposal 
for the appropriation of distributable profit. The auditor partici-
pates in these meetings of the Audit Committee.

3.  Shareholder Committee: competencies, functions and 
committees

The legal form of the KGaA makes it possible to create further 
optional corporate bodies. The Company has taken advantage 
of this opportunity. The Shareholder Committee, which has 
been created pursuant to the Articles of Association and is 
elected by the Annual General Meeting, supervises and advises 
the General Partners in their conduct of the Company’s busi-
ness and can issue rules of procedure for them. In addition, it 
determines which of the General Partners’ transactions require 
its prior consent. It has management powers and power of rep-
resentation for the legal relationship between the Company and 
the General Partners, and it represents the Company in legal 
disputes with the General Partners. 

The Shareholder Committee exercises all rights attached to the 
Company’s shares in HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH. In particular, it is responsible for the appointment and 
removal of the Managing Directors and the provisions of their 
service agreements. However, the Articles of Association stipu-
late that Dr. Behrend has the right to make proposals for such 
appointments and removals, and can ultimately veto any such 
decision. 

Furthermore, the Shareholder Committee may issue rules of 
procedure for the Management Board of HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH. The Shareholder Committee is also 
responsible for executing shareholders’ resolutions. In accor  -
dance with its rules of procedure, the Shareholder Committee 
also reviews the annual and consolidated financial statements, 
the management report and the Group management report, as 
well the proposal for the appropriation of distributable profit; in 
addition, it submits resolution proposals in respect of each 
agenda item on which the Annual General Meeting is to decide. 
Further, the Shareholder Committee reports annually on its 
activities to the Annual General Meeting, which adopts a reso-
lution on its release.

As a rule, the Shareholder Committee convenes five times a 
year. Resolutions of the Supervisory Board are adopted by a 
simple majority of the votes cast; each member has one vote. In 
case of a tie, the Chairman has the casting vote if the stalemate 
continues after a second vote on the same matter.

The Shareholder Committee has established a Personnel Com-
mittee consisting of its Chairman and two further members 
elected by the Shareholder Committee. Besides Manfred Wen-
nemer, current Personnel Committee members are Roland 
Hammerstein and Konstantin Thomas. The Personnel Commit-
tee is responsible for preparing the Shareholder Committee’s 
resolutions on the appointment and removal of Managing 
Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH and on 
their individual total remuneration, as well as on the individual 
total remuneration of the other General Partners and the remu-
neration system applied in this context. Notwithstanding the 
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above, the Personnel Committee is responsible for the resolu-
tion regarding the conclusion, amendment and termination of 
the agreements with the General Partners and the service 
agreements of the Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH.

4.  Cooperation of Management Board,  
Supervisory Board and Shareholder Committee

The General Partners, the Supervisory Board and the Share-
holder Committee work together on the basis of mutual trust in 
the best interests of the Company. Control of the management of 
the Company is primarily exercised by the Shareholder Com-
mittee. The management board has a reporting duty. The Share-
holder Committee advises the General Partners, and for important 
business transactions and measures which are defined by the 
Shareholder Committee in the rules of procedure for the General 
Partners, the consent of the Shareholder Committee must be 
obtained. The Supervisory Board is also responsible for supervising 
the management. For this purpose, the General Partners submit 
reports on a periodic basis and the Supervisory Board exercises 
information and inspection rights.

5.  Objectives regarding the composition of the Supervisory 
Board and of the Shareholder Committee

a) Content of the objectives
The Supervisory Board and the Shareholder Committee have 
specified objectives regarding their future composition, taking 
into account the specifics of the enterprise. These objectives are 
to be taken into account by the bodies in their respective elec-

tion proposals in the case of the next scheduled reappointment 
or before the end of a member’s term of office. This applies 
mutatis mutandis in the case of judicial appointments. 

  In their respective composition, the Supervisory Board 
and the Shareholder Committee shall take into account 
the international activities of the HELLA Group. For this 
reason, it is intended that both the Supervisory Board and 
the Shareholder Committee have at least two members 
with relevant international experience, which means – for 
example – that they have worked abroad or have had sig-
nificant interaction on an international level.

  Furthermore, when determining their respective compo-
sition, the Supervisory Board and the Shareholder Com-
mittee take into account potential conflicts of interest of 
the members. 

   Independence of their respective members is also an impor-
tant issue to which the Supervisory Board and the Share-
holder Committee wish to pay due regard in connection with 
their respective composition. This is why both the Supervisory 
Board and the Shareholder Committee have set the objective 
that at least two members must be independent. As to the 
definition of independence, Section 5.4.2 DCGK is applied, 
whereby a member is, in particular, not considered to be inde-
pendent if that member has any personal or business rela-
tionship with the Company, its corporate bodies, a controlling 
shareholders or any of its affiliates, which could give rise to a 
material conflict of interest that is not merely temporary. 
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   When determining their respective composition, the 
Supervisory Board and the Shareholder Committee also 
take into account the age limits as defined in the internal 
rules of procedure, according to which as a rule, only 
those persons may be proposed as Supervisory Board 
members, who at the time of election, have not yet com-
pleted 75 years of age. Election as member of the Share-
holder Committee shall be possible for the last time in the 
year in which the member completes 70 years of age.

  In their respective composition, the Supervisory Board 
and Shareholder Committee consider first and foremost 
the professional and personal qualification of future 
members. In this context, they also consider diversity and 
seek an appropriate degree of female representation.

b) Status of implementation of objectives
In its current composition, the Shareholder Committee meets 
all of the aforesaid objectives. The current composition of the 
Supervisory Board, too, also meets all of the aforementioned 
objectives except for the objective regarding the age limit. In the 
opinion of the Supervisory Board, the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee (Klaus Kühn), in particular, belongs to the independ-
ent board members in accordance with the recommendation of 
Section 5.3.2 Sentence 3 DCGK.

Notwithstanding any self-imposed target, the mandatory mini-
mum composition of 30 % each of men and women pursuant to 
Section 96 (2) AktG shall apply to the composition of the Super-
visory Board in the case of new elections and nominations as of 
1 January 2016. Currently, six of the 16 Supervisory Board 

members (and four of the eight shareholder representatives) 
are women, which corresponds to a quota of 37.5 %. So far, nei-
ther the shareholder representatives nor the employee repre-
sentatives have objected to the overall fulfillment of the quota 
requirement.

6.  Composition of the issued capital/shareholders’ rights
The share capital of the Company amounts to € 222,222,224 and 
is divided into 111,111,112 no par value bearer shares All shares 
have been fully paid in. The Articles of Association stipulate the 
the shareholders’ right to the issuance of share certificates rep-
resenting their respective shares shall be excluded to the extent 
legally permitted and, unless such issuance is required, in accor   -
dance with the regulations applicable to the stock exchange on 
which the shares are admitted.

The shareholders exercise their rights provided for by law or by 
the Articles of Association before or during the Annual General 
Meeting and exercise their voting rights in this context. Each no 
par value share carries one vote at the Annual General Meeting. 
In addition, in the Annual General Meeting shareholders may 
express their opinion on items on the agenda, propose motions 
and address questions to the General Partners.

The Annual General Meeting of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. is 
usually held in the first four months of the fiscal year at the 
Company’s registered office or in another German city that has 
more than 50,000 inhabitants. The meeting is convened by the 
General Partners. Shareholders whose aggregate shareholding 
reaches one-twentieth of the share capital (i. e. € 11,111,112) 
may request the convening of an Annual General Meeting in 
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writing, stating the purpose and reasons therefor. In the same 
manner, shareholders whose aggregate shareholding equals or 
exceeds a pro rata amount of € 500,000 may request that items 
be included in the agenda and published. Furthermore, share-
holders whose shares in aggregate represent a proportionate 
amount of € 100,000 may submit a request to the Management 
Board, under certain conditions, that a special auditor be 
appointed by the court to review a procedure in the context of 
the Company’s establishment or a procedure that has taken 
place within the past five years.

The resolutions of the Annual General Meeting are passed by a 
simple majority of the votes cast, unless mandatory law or the 
Articles of Association dictate otherwise and, where the law 
requires a capital majority, with a simple majority of the share 
capital represented at the time of passing the resolution. This 
also applies, in particular, to amendments to the Articles of 
Association and to the passing of a resolution on a transform-
ation into a stock corporation. The Supervisory Board is autho-
rised to resolve amendments of these Articles of Association 
that only relate to the wording.

7.  Restrictions concerning the voting 
rights or the transfer of shares

According to the notifications received by the Company, 60.00 % 
of the Company’s voting rights (a total of 66,666,669 no par val-
ues shares) were pooled as of 31 May 2016 by way of a pool 
agreement of the family members who are shareholders of 
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. Currently, a total of 62 members of 

the family of shareholders (Hueck and Röpke families), as well 
as two legal entities, form part of this pool agreement. The pool 
agreement may be terminated subject to notice for the first time 
as of 31 May 2024 and stipulates, among other things, that any 
exercise of the voting rights conferred by the pooled shares is 
subject to a vote in a meeting of the pool members to be held 
prior to the Annual General Meeting. Without the consent of the 
other pool members, pooled shares may be transferred only to 
descendants of Eduard Hueck sen., Richard Hueck sen. or Dr. 
Wilhelm Röpke or their respective spouses.

8.  Major shareholders/ special rights/  
participation of employees in the capital

According to the notifications received by the Company, as per 
31 May 2016, the members of the pool agreement of the family 
shareholders of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. held a total of 60.00 % 
of the Company’s voting rights as a pooled shareholding. In 
addition, the members of the pool agreements also hold shares 
that do not form part of the pool. As at 31 May 2016, only one 
member of the pool agreement held a direct shareholding in 
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. of more than 10 % of the voting rights 
(Laura Behrend, Lippstadt, Germany). 

No shares have been issued that confer multiple voting rights, 
preferential voting rights, maximum voting rights or special 
rights granting powers of control. No shareholding of employ-
ees exists in the Company’s capital that would not enable the 
employees to directly exercise their shareholder rights.
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9.  Authorised capital/ authorisation to buy back shares
In accordance with Article 5 (4) of the Articles of Association, the 
General Partners are authorised to increase the share capital 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board and the Shareholder 
Committee by a total amount of € 44 million by issuing, on one 
or more occasions on or before 9 October 2019, new no par 
value bearer shares against cash contributions and/or contri-
butions in kind. In this context, the shareholders must generally 
be granted a subscription right. However, the General Partners 
are authorised to exclude, with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board and the Shareholder Committee, the shareholders’ sub-
scription rights as follows: firstly, in case of a capital increase 
against contributions in kind for the purpose of acquiring a busi-
ness, parts of a business or participations in a business or other 
assets; secondly, in so far as is necessary in order to grant a 
subscription right for newly issued shares to the holders or 
creditors of bonds issued by the Company bearing option or 
conversion rights or obligations (warrants or convertible bonds), 
to the extent that such subscription rights would exist after 
exercise of their option or conversion right or fulfillment of their 
option or conversion obligation; thirdly, if the notional value of 
the new shares in the share capital does not exceed 10 % of the 
share capital existing at the time this authorisation becomes 
effective and at the time a resolution to exercise the authorisation 
is adopted, provided that the issue price is not significantly lower 
than the stock exchange price, and further provided the notional 
value in the share capital of any shares that have been issued or 
sold with the exclusion of subscription rights on the basis of a 
corresponding authorisation in direct or analogous application of 
Section 186 (3) Sentence 4 AktG must be included in the calcula-
tion; and fourthly, for the avoidance of fractional shares.

The General Partners are also authorised, until 30 October 2019, 
to acquire treasury shares up to a total of 10 % of the share cap-
ital or – if lower – of the share capital existing at the time the 
authorisation is exercised. The acquisition is made at the discre-
tion of the General Partners with the consent of the Shareholder 
Committee and the Supervisory Board through the stock 
exchange or via a public offer request directed to all sharehold-
ers, or via a public invitation addressed to all shareholders for 
submission of sales offers. The General Partners are authorised 
to use the treasury shares that have been acquired with the con-
sent of the Shareholder Committee and the Supervisory Board 
for all legally permissible purposes. In particular, the shares 
may be recalled without any further resolution being passed by 
the Annual General Meeting, may be sold through the stock 
exchange or via a public offer directed to all shareholders pro 
rata to their respective interests or in a different way with the 
exclusion of the shareholders’ subscription right, provided the 
sale takes place against cash consideration and at a price that 
does not significantly fall below the stock exchange price; in 
addition, if the subscription right is excluded, the shares may be 
offered and transferred against contributions in kind, in particu-
lar in connection with the acquisition of companies, parts of 
companies or shares in companies or any other assets, or may 
be used to service rights or obligations to purchase shares of 
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. resulting from convertible bonds or 
bonds with warrants or similar instruments, or in connection 
with employee share ownership plans.
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In this context, treasury shares may also be acquired using put 
or call options or forward contracts, or a combination of these 
instruments (derivatives). Derivatives may be issued or acquired, 
excluding any subscription right of the shareholders, with a 
credit or financial institution, or another appropriate counter-
party that is experienced in the derivatives business, with the 
proviso that, on the basis of the derivatives, only shares will be 
delivered that were acquired in keeping with the principle of 
equal treatment. Moreover, the issuance or acquisition of deriv-
atives may be publicly offered to all shareholders or may be 
effected through the derivatives exchange Eurex or a compara-
ble successor system after prior announcement in the Compa-
ny’s designated publication media, with the exclusion of any 
subscription rights. The term of the derivatives must be selected 
such that the acquisition of the shares through the exercise of 
derivatives takes place on 30 October 2019 at the latest.

10.  Material agreements with change-of-control clauses/
compensation agreements

HELLA KGaA Hueck&Co. has entered into the material agree-
ments set out below which contain change-of-control provi-
sions, for example as a result of a takeover bid:

The listed bonds currently outstanding which HELLA has issued 
(a 1.25 % bond maturing in September 2017 with a nominal 
value of € 300 million and a 2.375 % bond maturing in January 
2020 with a nominal value of € 500 million) are subject to 
change-of-control clauses under which the bond creditors may 
demand early repayment if a person or group of persons acting 
jointly gains control over HELLA KGaA Hueck&Co. and the rat-

ing is lowered on account of this within 120 days of the change 
of control. In addition, HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. has been 
granted a syndicated cash credit facility of € 450 million on 
which it has not yet drawn. This facility expires on 1 June 2021 
and is also subject to a change-of-control clause, under which 
the creditors may terminate the facility and call in all outstand-
ing amounts if a person or a group of persons acting jointly 
gains control of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. In all these cases, 
control is particularly deemed to have been gained if more than 
50 % of the voting-entitled shares are acquired. If any of the 
aforementioned instruments are prematurely called in as a 
result of such change of control, this could have a significant 
effect on HELLA’s net assets, financial condition and results of 
operations.

The Company has not entered into any compensation agree-
ments with any members of management (General Partners and 
Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH) or employees in the event of any takeover bid.

II.  Corporate Governance and Compliance
In the interest of proper corporate governance, the members of 
the Management Board conduct the Company’s business in 
accordance with statutory rules, the provisions of the Articles of 
Association of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. and HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH and the rules of procedure for the 
General Partners and HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH. In addition, the Management Board acts in accordance 
with the requirements set by the compliance guidelines, its 
Code of Conduct, its resolutions and other corporate rules. 
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Management practices extending beyond statutory requirements 
primarily result from our corporate philosophy. We are firmly 
convinced that corporate success is founded on a corporate cul-
ture based on values. Equally important is the responsible treat-
ment of employees, partners, society and the environment.

Our primary goal is customer satisfaction. At its core, this cor-
porate philosophy is based on a comprehensive understanding 
of quality which is not limited to product quality but which also 
covers all of the Company’s activities. 

For our corporate culture, too, customer satisfaction is the point 
of departure and prime objective. It can be achieved only if every 
employee internalises customer satisfaction individually as 
their own target and takes personal responsibility for achieving 
it. Consequently, the Company’s guiding strategic principle is to 
demand and promote entrepreneurial self-responsibility for 
each HELLA employee, irrespective of their position within the 
Company. As a result, processes and organisational structures 
at HELLA are always aligned in such a way as to enable the 
entrepreneurial self-responsibility of its employees. 

The core of our corporate culture consists of seven basic values, 
which we have defined under the headline “Professionalism and 
a Human Approach” as the basis for lasting corporate success: 
entrepreneurial spirit, cooperation, sustainability, performance 
orientation, innovation, integrity and exemplary behaviour” by 
each and every individual. 

These values give rise to basic rules of behaviour which we 
have anchored in our Code of Conduct. They are binding on all 
Group employees all over the world. The Code of Conduct brings 
together the basic rules on ethical dealings that apply within the 
HELLA Group between employees but also in relation to busi-
ness partners, public authorities and other third parties in con-
formity with the law. It is an expression of our self-perception, 
which is to meet our responsibility towards our company in 
relation to shareholders and society and to live up to the expec-
tations of our customers, suppliers and business partners anew 
every day. The Code of Conduct for example is complemented 
by a Compliance Declaration on observing the rules of competi-
tion law. 

Compliance – i. e. adherence to statutory and internal Company 
provisions – is an integral part of our corporate culture, forms a 
basis for our business activities and is a prerequisite for sus-
tained corporate success. The HELLA Corporate Compliance 
Office is for the Group-wide compliance organisation and com-
pliance management system that are anchored in the funda-
mental HELLA compliance guideline. 

The Chief Compliance Officer and the Head of the Compliance 
Office coordinate the compliance organisation, enhancing the 
HELLA compliance system, and are responsible for the topics of 
antitrust law, anti-corruption legislation and capital market law. 
They report regularly to the Management Board and to the Audit 
Committee of the Supervisory Board; the Chief Compliance 
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Officer reports to the Chairman of the Management Board. Local 
compliance officers such as the Compliance Officer China and 
Mexico report to the Head of the Compliance Office. For other 
compliance matters (such as data protection, export control/
customs), specialist functions within the HELLA Group are 
responsible as central technical compliance divisions; they have 
been performing this task competently for a long time with the 
support of the Compliance Office. The compliance organisation 
is supplemented by a Compliance Board and the local compli-
ance officers, who are responsible for compliance measures 
within the individual companies. Permanent members of the 
Compliance Board, which meets regularly as an advisory and 
decision-making body, include the Chief Compliance Officer, the 
Head of the Compliance Office and the heads of the following 
business areas: Corporate Finance, Risk Management, Corpo-
rate Audit, Corporate Communications and HR.

In addition to the basic elements of compliance organisation, 
targets, culture and communications, the HELLA compliance 
system includes the pillars of the compliance programme 
which must be developed (further) for each compliance issue: 
risk analysis, information/instruction (prevention), checks and 
detection as well as reaction.

Worldwide in-class events and Internet-based training (e-learn-
ing), directives and other publications together with advice in 
day-to-day operations ensure that all employees around the 
world are familiar with the correct way of handling statutory and 
internal rules, including the HELLA Code of Conduct. These 
measures are a key preventative component of our continuous 
compliance management.

Alongside the establishment and expansion of the HELLA com-
pliance system and the HELLA compliance organisation, one 
focus of the compliance measures in the past fiscal year was on 
the implementation of Internet-based training. The worldwide 
rollout of the e-learning module “Code of Conduct and compli-
ance fundamentals” with a focus on anti-corruption legislation 
and “antitrust law” was largely completed. The “Code of Con-
duct” module has been successfully completed by some 15,300 
employees so far (of which around 5,100 employees in the past 
fiscal year), while around 2,800 employees have concluded the 
“antitrust law” module, which was tailored for a smaller target 
group. As a rule, new employees are automatically invited to the 
e-learning training courses. In the area of antitrust law we also 
focused on Group-wide communication of the guidelines con-
cerning dealings with competitors and corresponding training 
courses. In the past fiscal year, we also adopted a Code of Con-
duct for suppliers and service providers, which helps ensure 
that operations within HELLA’s value-added chain are in line 
with international standards and conventions. Our expectations 
of our suppliers and service providers (and their employees) 
with regard to working conditions, health and safety, as well as 
the environment and business ethics, which are based on inter-
nationally accepted principles and summarised in the Supplier 
Code of Conduct. 

In the area of capital market compliance, the Capital Market 
Compliance Committee and an Ad-hoc Committee ensure that 
potential insider information is handled in line with statutory 
provisions within HELLA as well as general adherence to the 
requirements of capital market legislation arising from HELLA’s 
IPO in 2014.
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HELLA also established a data protection management system, 
which it uses for the purposes of adequately addressing exist-
ing and future risks that arise when handling personal, cus-
tomer and supplier data. The fundamental structures of the data 
protection management system follow the guidelines of the 
HELLA compliance system and shape the data protection 
guidelines within the scope of the programme. The data protec-
tion organisation comprises on the one hand a central Corpo-
rate Data Privacy Office, whose head reports directly to the CEO 
and specifies the objectives, strategies, frameworks and funda-
mental processes. On the other hand, data protection coordina-
tors are trained as data protection supervisors at the various 
locations, in order to perform the tasks required at the respec-
tive locations.

In the last fiscal year, the focus was on realigning the system 
and establishing its organisational and technical principles. Besides 
selecting and training the local data protection coordinators for 
the German locations, a new data protection directive was 
adopted, which regulates the minimum standard for handling 
personal data throughout the entire Group. Furthermore, a soft-
ware solution was implemented to systematically document the 
tasks with respect to the data protection management system.

Further details on the corporate philosophy and the principles of 
corporate governance can be found on the Internet at www.
hella.com/corporateresponsibility.

III.  Determinations regarding female representation  
pursuant to Section 76 (4) and Section 111 (5) AktG

The Management Board of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. has deter-
mined a target level of 9 % for female representation in the first 
management level below the Management Board. For the sec-
ond management level below the Management Board, the tar-
get level was set at 5.6 %. Both target levels are to be reached by 
30 June 2017. 

For the Supervisory Board, the quota pursuant to Section 96 (2) 
AktG applies, which the Supervisory Board already fulfills in its 
current composition. No further determinations by the Supervi-
sory Board pursuant to Section 111 (5) AktG have been made for 
reasons specific to the Company’s legal form. In contrast to a 
stock corporation, the Supervisory Board of a KGaA does not 
have the authority to decide on the composition of the Manage-
ment Board. 

IV.  Application of the German Corporate Governance Code
The General Partners as well as the Shareholder Committee 
and Supervisory Board of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. publish an 
annual declaration in accordance with Section 161 AktG con-
firming conformity to the recommendations of the “Government 
Commission for the German Corporate Governance Code” pub-
lished by the German Federal Ministry of Justice in the official 
part of Bundesanzeiger and disclose any recommendations 
which are or have not been conformed to, stating the reasons 
for this. The General Partners as well as the Shareholder Com-
mittee and the Supervisory Board of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. 
published the declaration below in accordance with Section 161 
AktG on 31 May 2016 on the Company’s website:
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Declaration regarding the German Corporate Governance 
Code pursuant to Section 161 Stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz, “AktG”)
The general partners (persönlich haftende Gesellschafter) as 
well as the shareholders’ committee and the supervisory board 
of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. (“Company”) declare, pursuant to 
Section 161 AktG, that since the last time this declaration was 
made on 28 May 2015, and except for the deviations set out 
below, the Company has complied, and intends to comply in the 
future, with the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code (Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex, 
“DCGK”), as amended on 5 May 2015 and 24 June 2014, taking 
into account the special features of its legal form as set out below.

 I. Special features of the legal form
The DCGK is designed for companies in the legal form of a stock 
corporation or a European Company (SE) and does not take into 
account the special features of a limited partnership by shares 
(Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, “KGaA”). Thus, a number of 
recommendations of the DCGK can be applied to HELLA KGaA 
Hueck & Co. only in a modified form. Important modifications 
follow from the special features of the legal form set out below: 

1. Management
Unlike a stock corporation, which is managed by the board of 
directors (Vorstand), a KGaA is managed by its general part-
ners. Their appointment and dismissal is not a responsibility of 
the supervisory board, but instead is a task of the general 
shareholders’ meeting. The Company has two general partners, 
Dr. Jürgen Behrend and HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH with its registered seat in Lippstadt. HELLA Geschäfts-

führungsgesellschaft mbH is represented by its managing 
directors Dr. Rolf Breidenbach (CEO and chairman of the man-
agement board), Markus Bannert, Dr. Wolfgang Ollig, Stefan 
Osterhage and Dr. Matthias Schöllmann. In contrast to the board 
of directors of a stock corporation, the appointment as manag-
ing director of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH is 
not limited in time. A chairman or speaker of the company’s 
management only exists in relation to the managing directors of 
HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH but not among the 
general partners. The shares in HELLA Geschäftsführungs-
gesellschaft mbH are held by the Company. The shareholder 
rights attaching to these shares are exercised by the sharehold-
ers’ committee.

2. Shareholders Committee
The legal form of a KGaA, as opposed to that of a stock corpo-
ration, makes it possible to create further optional corporate 
bodies. The Company took advantage of this opportunity. The 
shareholders’ committee, which has been created by the Com-
pany’s articles of association and is elected by the general 
shareholders’ meeting, supervises and advises the general 
partners in their conduct of business and can issues rules of 
procedure for them. In addition, it determines which of the gen-
eral partners’ business decisions require its prior consent. It has 
management powers and power of representation for the legal 
relationship between the Company and the general partners, 
and it represents the Company in legal disputes with the gen-
eral partners. Following a request by a general partner, the 
shareholders’ committee decides over any disagreement 
between the general partners concerning management actions. 
However, according to the Company’s articles of association, 
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this does not apply as long as Dr. Jürgen Behrend acts as gen-
eral partner; in this case, he has the casting vote.

The shareholders’ committee exercises the rights attached to 
the Company’s shares in HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH. In particular, it appoints and removes the managing direc-
tors and determines the terms and conditions of their service 
agreements. However, the articles of association stipulate that 
Dr. Jürgen Behrend has the right to make proposals for such 
appointments and removals and can ultimately veto any such 
decision.

Furthermore, the shareholders’ committee may issue rules of 
procedure for the managing directors of HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH. The shareholders’ committee is 
also responsible for executing shareholders’ resolutions.
 
To the extent the DCGK contains recommendations relating to 
tasks and responsibilities of the supervisory board which, in the 
case of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co., are fulfilled by the sharehold-
ers’ committee, such recommendations are deemed to apply to 
the shareholders’ committee.

3. Supervisory Board
Compared to the supervisory board of a stock corporation, the 
supervisory board of a KGaA has limited powers. In particular, it 
is not responsible for appointments and dismissals in relation to 
the Company’s management. Also, it has no power to issue 
rules of procedure for the Company’s management and cannot 
determine which business decisions require its consent.

4. General shareholders’ meeting
The legal status of the general shareholders’ meeting is not dis-
similar to that of a stock corporation. In particular, it elects the 
members of the supervisory board and of the shareholders’ 
committee. To the extent legally permitted, resolutions of the 
general shareholders’ meeting are adopted by a simple majority 
vote. In contrast to a stock corporation, the general shareholders’ 
meeting of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. has the exclusive power to 
approve the annual unconsolidated financial statements.

According to the Stock Corporation Act (AktG), certain resolu-
tions of the general shareholders’ meeting would require the 
consent of the general partners (see Section 285 para. 2 AktG 
and Section 286 para. 1 AktG). However, this consent require-
ment has been rendered inapplicable by the articles of associa-
tion of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. to the extent legally permitted, 
in particular with regard to resolutions on amendments of the 
articles of association, fundamental and extraordinary business 
decisions, and the appointment and removal of general part-
ners. On the other hand, the annual unconsolidated financial 
statements cannot be approved without the general partners’ 
consent. According to the articles of association, the general 
partners declare their consent when submitting their resolution 
proposals on the annual unconsolidated financial statements to 
the general shareholders’ meeting.

 II. Deviations from Recommendations of the DCGK
1.  Time period from the last declaration on 28 May 2015 until the 

announcement of the amended DCGK on 12 June 2015
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In the time period from the last declaration on 28 May 2015 until 
12 June 2015, the following recommendations of the DCGK, as 
applicable until that date, were not complied with:

a) Deviating from Section 4.2.2 para. 2, sentence 3, the share-
holders’ committee has not considered the relationship between 
the compensation of the Company’s executive management 
(i. e., the compensation of Dr. Jürgen Behrend and the managing 
directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH) and 
that of senior management and the staff overall. The responsibil-
ities of the individual members of the Company’s executive man-
agement, his/her personal performance, the economic situation 
and the performance of the Group, and the compensation levels 
at peer companies are considered more appropriate and mean-
ingful benchmarks for determining the level of remuneration.

b) Deviating from Section 4.2.3 para. 3, the level of provision 
aimed for under the pension scheme for the Company’s man-
agement has not been established. For the managing directors 
of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH, the Company 
employs an asset-linked pension plan (Kapitalkontenmodell), 
under which benefits depend crucially on factors such as the 
prevailing interest rate and the development of the value of the 
investment assets. The defined benefit pension plan for Dr.  
Jürgen Behrend has been established already in 1987 and amended 
and extended in 2014. Against this background, defining a level of 
provision is therefore not considered useful or practicable.

c) On October 31, 2014, the general shareholders’ meeting has 
resolved that no individualized disclosure of the remuneration 
granted to the Company’s executive management shall be 
made pursuant to Sections 285 No. 9 a) sentence 5 et seq. and 

314(1) No. 6 a) sentence 5 et seq. of the German Commercial 
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch). Therefore, the Company deviates 
from the recommendations set forth in Section 4.2.5 DCGK. 

d) Deviating from Section 5.4.1 para. (2), sentence 2, the objec-
tives adopted by the shareholders’ committee and the supervi-
sory board regarding their respective composition do not stipu-
late a concrete appropriate degree of female representation. 
Although both corporate bodies intend to pay due regard to 
aspects of diversity and female representation when making 
their respective recommendations to the general shareholders’ 
meeting for elections of their respective members, they ulti-
mately consider knowledge, ability and experience to be more 
relevant selection criteria than gender. 

2.  Time period since the announcement of the amended DCGK 
on 12 June 2015 

In the period since 12 June 2015, the recommendations set forth 
under II. 1. a) through c), which have thus remained unchanged, 
have not been complied with for the reasons given in each case. 
In addition, deviating from the newly introduced Section 5.4.1 
para. 2, sentence 1, the shareholders’ committee and the super-
visory board have not specified any regular limit of length of 
membership. These bodies believe that any general regular limit 
is not helpful because such limit does not reasonably take into 
account specific individual aspects that would justify a longer 
length of membership of individual members of these bodies in 
the best interests of the company and of the voting shareholders. 
In the opinion of the shareholders’ committee and the supervi-
sory board, diversity as required by the DCGK may also be 
reflected in different lengths of membership in the respective 
body and, thus, in the level of experience of its members. 
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3.  Forward-looking Part
The general partners as well as the shareholders’ committee 
and the supervisory board of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. intend 
to continue to deviate from the recommendations set forth under 
II. 1. a) through c) and under II. 2. for the reasons given above.

III. Further Notes
According to Section 4.2.3 para. 2 sentences 4 and 7 DCGK, both 
positive and negative developments shall be taken into account 
when determining variable compensation components, and 
those components shall be related to demanding, relevant com-
parison parameters. While the Company’s annual cash bonus is 
calculated as a fixed percentage of the Group’s consolidated 
earnings before taxes (EBT) and does not retroactively penalize 
deteriorations in this performance measure over a multi-year 
period, the Company’s LTI base amount is tied to demanding 
targets for the Group’s return on invested capital and is withheld 
over a period of three financial years, during which it may 
decrease and be reduced to zero or increase, respectively, on 
account of deteriorations or improvements in the return on 
invested capital and/or the consolidated earnings before taxes. 
The Company considers this sufficient in light of Section 4.2.3 
para. 2 sentences 4 and 7 DCGK. The corresponding declara-
tions of conformity by HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. can be found at 
www.hella.com/declarationofconformity.

V.  Directors’ dealings/shareholdings  
of members of the governing bodies

Pursuant to Section 15a WpHG, the Managing General Partners 
(including the Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungs-
gesellschaft mbH), the members of the Supervisory Board and 
the Shareholder Committee, as well as related persons, are 
required to disclose notifiable dealings with shares of HELLA 
KGaA Hueck & Co. or related financial instruments, if the value 
of the dealings made by the member of the governing body and 
related persons in the calendar year reaches or exceeds the 
sum of € 5,000. The transactions notified to the Company in the 
fiscal year under review were duly published and are available 
on the website at www.hella.com/directorsdealings.

According to the notices received by the Company, the following 
members of its governing bodies held shares in the Company 
which either directly or indirectly were greater than 1 % of the 
shares issued by the Company as at 31 May 2016: Management 
Board: Dr. Jürgen Behrend (0.76 % or including related parties: 
4.02 %); Supervisory Board: Laura Behrend (10.19 %), Manuel 
Frenzel (1.66 %) and Christoph Thomas (0.98 % or including 
related parties: 2.71 %); Shareholder Committee: Moritz Friesen-
hausen (3.66 %) and Roland Hammerstein (3.90 %). All in all, the 
Managing General Partners (including the managing directors 
of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH) hold 4.03 %, the 
members of the Supervisory Board 16.56 % and the members 
of the Shareholder Committee 8.99 % of the shares in HELLA 
KGaA Hueck & Co. (including related parties in all cases). 
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connection, the Shareholder Committee also decides on the 
applicable remuneration system and the individual remunera-
tion amount. It is assisted by its Personnel Committee in the 
performance of this task.

The individual remuneration of the Managing Directors has two 
components: a fixed non-performance-related component (plus 
non-performance-related remuneration in kind and ancillary 
benefits) and a variable performance-related component. Addi-
tionally, there are pension commitments by the Company to  
Dr. Jürgen Behrend and the Managing Directors of HELLA Ge  -
schäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH.

Up until 10 November 2014, the performance-related compo-
nent consisted solely of an annual cash bonus calculated as a 
fixed percentage of the Group’s consolidated earnings before 
taxes (EBT) for the relevant fiscal year adjusted for exceptional 
effects. In addition, a minimum cash bonus independent of EBT 
was granted. Effective 10 November 2014, immediately before 
the date on which the Company was listed on the stock 
exchange for the first time (11 November 2014), a new remu-
neration system was put in place for Dr. Jürgen Behrend and the 
Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH to supplement the performance-related remuneration 
with a long-term variable remuneration component (long-term 
incentive, LTI). 

1. Non-performance-related remuneration component
The non-performance-related remuneration component con-
sists of an annual fixed salary and remuneration in kind as well 
as other ancillary benefits. The annual fixed salary is paid in 
monthly intervals. Contrary to this, Dr. Jürgen Behrend does not 

Remuneration report

The remuneration report contains information on the remuner-
ation systems for the Managing General Partner Dr. Jürgen 
Behrend and the Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft as well as for the members of the Super-
visory Board and of the Shareholder Committee of HELLA KGaA 
Hueck & Co. It takes into account the recommendations of the 
German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) and contains the 
information and explanations required under the German Com-
mercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) including the princi-
ples of the German Accounting Standard No. 17 (DRS 17). The 
information required by Section 314 (1) Number 6 a Sentences 
5–8 HGB on the remuneration paid to the individual members of 
the Management Board is not disclosed. On 31 October 2014, 
the extraordinary Annual General Meeting passed a dispensa-
tion resolution within the meaning of Section 286 (5) Sentence 1 
HGB in connection with Section 314 (2) Sentence 2 HGB. The 
Company will refrain from disclosing the information recom-
mended by Section 4.2.5 (3) and (4) DGCK in its remuneration 
report for as long as a corresponding dispensation resolution 
remains in force.

I.  Remuneration of the Managing General Partner  
Dr. Jürgen Behrend and of the Managing Directors  
of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the legal rela-
tionships between the Company and a General Partner are gov-
erned by agreements between the General Partner and the 
Shareholder Committee to the extent that such relationships do 
not result from applicable mandatory provisions of the Articles 
or under law. In addition, the Shareholder Committee is respon-
sible for deciding on the employment contracts of the Managing 
Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH. In this 
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receive an annual fixed salary but solely an annual minimum 
cash bonus. This minimum cash bonus is adjusted annually in 
line with the changes in the basic salary of a federal civil servant 
within the B 3 salary group (highest seniority) subject to an 
annual review by the Shareholder Committee.

The remuneration in kind and other ancillary benefits primarily 
consist of the private use of a company car and the reimburse-
ment of certain costs incurred by Managing Directors who are 
seconded abroad. Furthermore, Dr. Jürgen Behrend and all the 
Managing Directors in their capacity as members of the Compa-
ny’s governing bodies are covered by the Group’s D&O insur-
ance. In the event of any claim, they are responsible for a 
deductible of at least 10 % of the loss capped at 1.5 times their 
annual fixed salary or (in Dr. Jürgen Behrend’s case) the mini-
mum cash bonus.

2.  Performance-related remuneration components
a) Short-term variable remuneration (annual cash bonus)
The short-term variable remuneration is calculated as a fixed 
percentage of the HELLA Group’s operating earnings before 
taxes (EBT) for the fiscal year in question adjusted for excep-
tional effects (extraordinary expenses and income reportable in 
the consolidated financial statements under Section 277 (4) 
HGB). In this connection, a minimum bonus amount not tied to 
EBT is granted. The bonus is paid once per fiscal year.

b) Long-term variable remuneration (long-term incentive, LTI)
The long-term variable remuneration (long-term incentive, LTI) 
is also paid in cash. It is calculated on the basis of two key per-
formance indicators during a period of a total of four fiscal 
years, thus creating a long-term and sustainable incentive. In 

addition to EBT, it is primarily based on the return on invested 
capital (ROIC), which the Company uses as a strategic manage-
ment parameter. ROIC is defined as the ratio of operating return 
before interest and after tax to invested capital. Return is calcu-
lated on the basis of operating earnings before interest and 
taxes (EBIT) for the past twelve months at the level of the Group 
units less the standard income tax rate applicable in the country 
in question. Invested capital is the average of the opening and 
closing value of the assets shown on the face of the balance 
sheet excluding cash and cash equivalents and current assets 
less liabilities carried on the face of the balance sheet excluding 
current and non-current financial liabilities for the reporting 
period.

The LTI bonus payable is calculated as follows: first, an LTI basic 
bonus is calculated for each fiscal year as a percentage of the 
fixed salary of each Managing Director or, in Dr. Jürgen Behrend’s 
case, as a percentage of the minimum cash bonus. The percent-
age of the LTI basic bonus depends on the ROIC and may range 
from 0 % (if the ROIC is 14 % or less) to 200 % (if the ROIC is 22 % 
or more). Payment of the LTI bonus to the Managing Directors is 
deferred until after a period of three fiscal years following the 
fiscal year for which the LTI basic bonus was calculated. One half 
each of the amount paid is determined by changes in the HELLA 
Group’s ROIC and EBT respectively. For this purpose, the figures 
for the fiscal year for which the LTI basic bonus was calculated 
are compared with those for the year at the expiry of which the 
amount is paid. Every increase by one percentage point in the 
applicable criteria results in an increase of 7.5 % in the LTI basic 
bonus, while every decrease by the same amount leads to a 
corresponding decrease in the LTI basic bonus. This does not 
give rise to any entitlement on the part of the Company to 
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With respect to the Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH, the Company uses a defined contri-
bution pension plan to which it allocates a certain amount each 
year for the respective Managing Director. Upon pension eligibil-
ity arising, the accrued capital is paid either in a single lump 
sum or – subject to the Company’s approval – in instalments 
over a maximum period of eight years. The contributions to the 
pension plan may at the Company’s discretion either be invested 
internally within the HELLA Group or externally in one or more 
investment funds. If they are invested internally, the return is 
based on the Company’s EBIT or a similar indicator which is 
revised annually by the Company. In the case of an external 
investment, the return is based on the performance of the 
investment in question. In any case, a minimum interest rate is 
guaranteed. As a general rule, the pension plan is dissolved on 
31 May of the year following the Managing Director’s 58th birth-
day. This period may be extended at the Managing Director’s 
request and subject to the Company’s approval. Pension eligibil-
ity also arises in the event of full or partial loss of earning 
capacity, protracted disability due to illness or upon death pre-
dating the Managing Director’s contractual date of eligibility. In 
this case, the capital is paid either in a single lump sum or – 
subject to the Company’s approval – in instalments over a max-
imum period of eight years to the beneficiaries nominated by 
the Managing Director. In addition to the pension plan funded by 

recover any compensation from a Managing Director in the 
event of a negative overall LTI bonus. In addition, it is not netted 
against a future positive LTI bonus.

c) Remuneration caps/settlement arrangements for early termi-
nation of appointment
In connection with the introduction of the new remuneration 
system on 10 November 2014, the Company defined a remuner-
ation cap, under which the annual bonus and the LTI bonus 
together are subject to a maximum equalling six times the 
applicable annual fixed salary or, in Dr. Jürgen Behrend’s case, 
six times the minimum bonus. The Shareholder Committee of 
HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. may at its own discretion make a pos-
itive or negative adjustment if it is of the opinion that the calcu-
lation of the variable remuneration component does not ade-
quately reflect the Company’s business performance in view of 
extraordinary effects.

d) Pension commitments
The Company has also made pension commitments to the 
Managing Directors. A defined benefit pension plan has been 
created for Dr. Jürgen Behrend. Claims under this plan arise 
when Dr. Jürgen Behrend relinquishes the position of Managing 
General Partner or passes away (in which case his surviving 
widow is the beneficiary).
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the Company, the Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH are free to participate in a further 
asset-linked pension plan. In this case, capital is accumulated in 
the form of an individually defined deferred compensation com-
ponent and largely follows the rules applicable to the asset-
linked pension plan funded by the Company.

e) Termination benefits for Managing Directors
The employment contract automatically expires at the end of 
the month in which the Managing Director turns 65 or at the end 
of the month in which the notice granting a retirement, disability 
or similar pension is received. In the event of illness-related dis-
ability, the fixed salary or the difference over sickness benefits is 
paid for a further 18 months. In the case of death, the eligible 
beneficiaries receive the deceased Managing Director’s fixed 
salary for a period of three months commencing with the month 
of death. If the Company revokes the appointment prior to the 
date of expiry of the service agreement, it is entitled to termi-
nate the service agreement. In cases in which the service 
agreement is terminated for material reasons for which the 
Managing Director is not responsible, a settlement of two times 
his annual remuneration or, if the remaining term of the service 
agreement is less than two years, a time-proportionate amount 
of the settlement is paid. For this purpose, the annual remuner-
ation equals the sum total of the fixed annual salary plus 
bonuses less remuneration in kind and other ancillary benefits 
for the last full fiscal year prior to the termination of the appoint-
ment plus the LTI bonus payable after the expiry of the last full 
fiscal year.

If the Managing Director’s appointment is terminated in the 
course of the fiscal year, a time-proportionate amount of the 
bonus is paid. The minimum bonus is likewise calculated on a 
time-proportionate basis. The LTI basic bonus is also calculated 
on a time-proportionate basis for the year of termination.

If the Company waives the Managing Director’s services and 
revokes his appointment without simultaneously terminating 
the service agreement, the income received from any other 
activity is deducted in full from the amounts payable by the 
Company.

There are no special change-of-control arrangements or par-
ticular compensation agreements with the Company in the 
event of a takeover bid.

3.  Total remuneration for fiscal year 2015/2016
The total remuneration (excluding pension commitments) paid 
to the Managing General Partner Dr. Jürgen Behrend and the 
Managing Directors of HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft 
mbH came to € 17,516 thousand in fiscal year 2015/2016 (prior 
year: € 18,622 thousand). Of this, fixed remuneration accounted for 
€ 2,950 thousand (prior year: € 2,910 thousand) and variable remu-
neration for € 14,566 thousand (prior year: € 14,688 thousand). 
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II.  Remuneration of the Supervisory Board
Under Article 16 of the Articles of the Association, the Annual 
General Meeting determines the remuneration payable to the 
Supervisory Board. In accordance with the still applicable reso-
lution passed at the Annual General Meeting on 26 September 
2014, all members of the Supervisory Board receive annual 
remuneration of € 20 thousand. The Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board receives € 40 thousand and each Deputy Chairman 
€ 30 thousand. Members serving on the Supervisory Board for 
only part of the fiscal year receive a corresponding time-propor-
tionate amount. Each member of the Audit Committee receives 
additional annual remuneration of € 10 thousand. The Chairman 
of the Audit Committee receives additional annual remunera-
tion of € 20 thousand. The members of the Nomination Com-
mittee do not receive any additional remuneration. All members 
of the Supervisory Board are reimbursed for all expenses which 
they incur in the performance of their duties plus value added 
tax. No attendance fees are paid. The total remuneration paid to 
the members of the Supervisory Board (fixed remuneration and 
remuneration for committee work) came to € 400 thousand in 
fiscal year 2015/2016 (prior year: € 397 thousand). Of this, fixed 
remuneration accounted for € 350 thousand (prior year: € 351 
thousand) and committee remuneration for € 50 thousand 
(prior year: € 46 thousand).

As members of the Company’s governing bodies, the members 
of the Supervisory Board are covered by the Group’s D&O insur-
ance. This cover is subject to a deductible of at least 10 % per 
claim, which however is capped at one-and-a-half times the 
fixed annual remuneration.

Remuneration in kind and other ancillary benefits came to a 
total of € 238 thousand in fiscal year 2015/2016 (prior year: 
€ 274 thousand). Remuneration in kind was measured on the 
basis of actual cost. The present value of the pension liabilities 
(defined benefit obligation) for the active Managing Directors 
(Dr. Jürgen Behrend and the Managing Directors of HELLA 
Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH) came to € 19,917 thou-
sand on 31 May 2016 (prior year: € 17,512 thousand). The fair 
value of the plan assets established for this purpose stood at 
€ 9,941 thousand (prior year: € 7,559 thousand), resulting in the 
recognition of an amount of € 9,976 thousand (prior year: 
€ 9,953 thousand).

Provisions for the pension liabilities towards former members 
of the Management Board and their surviving dependants came 
to € 8,990 thousand (prior year: € 9,604 thousand). This was par-
tially transferred to Allianz Pensionsfonds AG. The net liabilities 
recognised for this group of people stands at € 4,001 thousand 
(prior year: € 4,408 thousand).

In addition, settlement amounts of € 6,720 thousand (prior year: 
€ 0) were paid in fiscal year 2015/2016.

4.  Liability remuneration for HELLA  
Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH

Under Article 8 of the Articles of Association, HELLA Geschäfts-
führungsgesellschaft mbH as a General Partner receives liabil-
ity remuneration of 5 % of its paid-in capital payable on the 
reporting date. The Company paid an amount of € 1 thousand 
(prior year: € 1 thousand) in this connection.
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The chairman of the Supervisory Board, Prof. Dr. Michael Hoff-
mann-Becking, is a partner in a law firm which provides legal 
advisory services to HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. and the Group in 
several different fields of law, including company law, capital 
market law, employment law and competition law. In fiscal year 
2015/2016, the Group was billed a total of € 456 thousand plus 
value added tax for these advisory services (prior year: € 2,401 
thousand plus value added tax). The advisory services provided 
in fiscal year 2015/2016 particularly included the preparation 
and execution of the Annual General Meeting of HELLA KGaA 
Hueck and Co. In addition, Christoph Thomas, a member of the 
Supervisory Board, who owns an architecture office, received 
fees of € 93 thousand (prior year: € 134 thousand) for the provi-
sion of advisory and coordination services. No other payments 
or benefits were granted to members of the Supervisory Board 
for products and services, in particular for advisory and place-
ment services.
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Fixed remuneration

Remuneration 
for committee work

 
Total remuneration

€ 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015

Prof. Dr. Michael Hoffmann-Becking, Chairman 40,000.00 38,356.17 10,000.00 12,410.96 50,000.00 50,767.13

Alfons Eilers, Deputy Chairman 30,000.00 29,178.09 0 0 30,000.00 29,178.09

Heidrun Altstädt 0 3,123.29 0 0 0 3,123.29

Laura Behrend 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Paul Berger 20,000.00 20,000.00 10,000.00 9,178.08 30,000.00 29,178.08

Michaela Bittner 20,000.00 20,000.00 0 0 20,000.00 20,000.00

Heinrich-Georg Bölter 20,000.00 20,000.00 0 0 20,000.00 20,000.00

Manuel Rodriguez Cameselle 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Dr. Heinz Günther Focken 0 6,465.75 0 0 0 6,465.75

Reinhold Franze 0 6,465.75 0 0 0 6,465.75

Manuel Frenzel 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Elisabeth Fries 20,000.00 20,000.00 0 0 20,000.00 20,000.00

Eugenie Friesenhausen 0 6,465.75 0 0 0 6,465.75

Heinz Hemmis 0 3,342.47 0 0 0 3,342.47

Stephanie Hueck 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Susanna Hülsbömer 20,000.00 20,000.00 0 0 20,000.00 20,000.00

Klaus Kühn 20,000.00 13,589.04 20,000.00 11,890.41 40,000.00 25,479.45

Werner Lenke 0 9,698.63 0 3,232.88 0 12,931.51

Manfred Menningen 20,000.00 20,000.00 10,000.00  9,178.08 30,000.00 29,178.08

Dr. Matthias Röpke 0 6,465.75 0 0 0 6,465.75

Marco Schweizer 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Hans Sudkamp 0 6,465.75 0 0 0 6,465.75

Dr. Konstanze Thämer 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Christoph Thomas 20,000.00 13,589.04 0 0 20,000.00 13,589.04

Konstantin Thomas 0 6,465.75 0 0 0 6,465.75

The following table sets out the individual remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board in fiscal year 2015/2016.
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III. Remuneration of the Shareholder Committee
Under Article 28 of the Articles of the Association, the Annual 
General Meeting determines the remuneration payable to the 
Shareholder Committee. Under the still valid resolution passed 
at the Annual General Meeting on 19 November 2010, the Chair-
man of the Shareholder Committee receives annual remunera-
tion of € 300 thousand and all other members € 100 thousand. 
Members serving on the Shareholder Committee for only part 
of the fiscal year receive a corresponding time-proportionate 
amount. All members of the Shareholder Committee are reim-
bursed for all expenses which they incur in the performance of 
their duties plus value added tax. No attendance fees are paid.

As members of the Company’s governing bodies, the members 
of the Shareholder Committee are covered by the Group’s D&O 
insurance. This cover is subject to a deductible of at least 10 % 
per claim, which however is capped at one-and-a-half times the 
fixed annual remuneration.

The total remuneration paid to the members of the Shareholder 
Committee came to € 900 thousand plus value added tax in fis-
cal year 2015/2016 (prior year: € 868 thousand plus value added 
tax). Of this, fixed remuneration accounted for € 900 thousand 
(prior year: € 868 thousand) and remuneration for committee 
work for € 0 thousand (prior year: € 0 thousand).

No payments or benefits other than those mentioned above 
were granted to members of the Shareholder Committee for 
products and services, in particular for advisory and placement 
services, in fiscal year 2015/2016.

The following table sets out the individual remuneration paid to 
the members of the Shareholder Committee in fiscal year 
2015/2016.

 
Fixed remuneration

Remuneration 
for committee work

 
Total remuneration

€ 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015

Manfred Wennemer, Chair 300,000.00 300,000.00 0 0 300,000.00 300,000.00

Moritz Friesenhausen 100,000.00 67,945.21 0 0 100,000.00 67,945.21

Roland Hammerstein 100,000.00 100,000.00 0 0 100,000.00 100,000.00

Dr. Gerd Kleinert 100,000.00 100,000.00 0 0 100,000.00 100,000.00

Klaus Kühn 100,000.00 100,000.00 0 0 100,000.00 100,000.00

Dr. Matthias Röpke 100,000.00 100,000.00 0 0 100,000.00 100,000.00

Konstantin Thomas 100,000.00 100,000.00 0 0 100,000.00 100,000.00
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€ thousand Notes
 

2015/2016 
  

2014/2015 

sales 09 6,351,889 5,834,691

Cost of sales 10 – 4,663,691 – 4,280,770

Gross profit 1,688,198 1,553,921

Research and development costs 11 – 623,459 – 543,931

distribution costs 12 – 493,913 – 455,459

administrative costs 13 – 218,239 – 196,869

other income and expenses 14 13,918 16,298

Contribution to earnings from investments  
accounted for using equity method 29 52,979 55,336

other income from investments 308 207

Net operating profit/loss (EBIT) 419,792 429,503

Financial income 15 32,515 38,453

Financing costs 15 – 72,027 – 74,331

Net financial result – 39,512 – 35,878

Earnings before income taxes (EBT) 380,280 393,625

taxes on income 16 – 108,419 – 98,172

Earnings for the period 271,861 295,453

of which attributable:

to the owners of the parent company 36 268,500 286,995

to non-controlling interests 36 3,361 8,458

Undiluted earnings per ordinary share in € 18 2.42 2.70

diluted earnings per ordinary share in € 18 2.42 2.70

Consolidated income statement
of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. for the period from 1 June to 31 may
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(after-tax view)
of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. for the period from 1 June to 31 may

 
€ thousand

  
2015/2016

 
2014/2015

Earnings for the period 271,861 295,453

Currency translation differences – 80,215 115,514

 Changes realised in equity – 80,215 117,957

 Gains recognised in profit or loss 0 – 2,443

Financial instruments for cash flow hedging 24,038 – 25,333

 Changes realised in equity 24,499 – 39,443

 losses recognised in profit or loss – 461 14,100

Change in fair value of financial instruments available for sale – 7,344 6,022

 Changes realised in equity – 10,307 5,924

 losses recognised in profit or loss 2,963 98

share of other comprehensive income attributable to associates and joint ventures – 13,583 23,677

Items that were or can be transferred to profit or loss – 63,521 96,203

Revaluation from defined benefit pension plans 5,017 – 22,633

share of other comprehensive income attributable to associates and joint ventures – 99 – 1,029

Items never transferred to profit or loss 5,017 – 22,633

Other comprehensive income for the period – 58,504 73,570

Comprehensive income for the period 213,357 369,023

of which attributable:

   to the owners of the parent company 210,593 360,032

to non-controlling interests 2,764 8,991

 see also note 30 for details of tax effects.
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€ thousand Notes 31. May 2016 31. may 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 21  585,134  602,744 

Financial assets 22  328,790  405,077 

trade receivables 23  937,471  839,322 

other receivables and non-financial assets 24  146,376  152,010 

inventories 25  607,584  608,853 

Current tax assets  26,783  24,504 

non-current assets held for sale 26  2,924  3,357 

Current assets  2,635,062  2,635,867 
intangible assets 27  225,021  220,861 

property, plant and equipment 28  1,697,539  1,612,331 

Financial assets  17,033  19,653 

investments accounted for using equity method 29  261,448  266,768 

deferred tax assets 30  122,954  118,562 

other non-current assets 31  36,244  42,905 

Non-current assets  2,360,239  2,281,080 
Assets  4,995,301  4,916,947 

Financial liabilities 35  86,880  100,221 

trade payables 32  633,818  573,893 

Current tax liabilities  57,923  45,776 

other liabilities 33  558,043  556,934 

provisions 34  65,259  72,644 

Current liabilities  1,401,923  1,349,468 
Financial liabilities 35  1,064,789  1,038,886 

deferred tax liabilities 30  25,767  24,882 

other liabilities 33  193,284  236,371 

provisions 34  330,888  357,646 

Non-current liabilities  1,614,728  1,657,785 
subscribed capital 36  222,222  222,222 

Reserves and unappropriated surplus 36  1,750,563  1,658,016 

Equity before non-controlling interests 36  1,972,785  1,880,238 
non-controlling interests 36  5,865  29,456 

Equity  1,978,650  1,909,694 
Equity and liabilities  4,995,301  4,916,947 

Consolidated statement of financial position
of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. as at 31 may
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€ thousand
 

Notes
 

2015/2016
 

2014/2015

Earnings before income taxes (EBT)  380,280 393,625
+ depreciation and amortisation 395,753 336,193

+/– Change in provisions – 22,233 16,126

+ payments received for series production 83,120 130,518

– non-cash sales transacted in previous periods – 101,086 – 89,816

 – other non-cash income – 59,703 – 53,185

 + losses from the sale of non-current assets 4,168 2,851

+ net financial result 39,512 35,878

– increase in trade receivables and other assets not attributable to investing or financing activities – 115,088 – 128,979

– increase in inventories – 34,264 – 8,428

+ additions to trade payables and other liabilities not attributable to investing or financing activities 121,707 39,978

+ interest received 12,346 8,130

– interest paid – 32,978 – 46,109

+ tax refunds received 12,766 6,181

– taxes paid – 122,049 – 118,892

+ dividends received 39,903 35,851

= Net cash flow from operating activities 602,153 559,922
+ Cash proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 9,048 16,458

+ Cash proceeds from the sale of intangible assets 4,940 3,602

– payments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment – 489,869 – 429,489

– payments for the purchase of intangible assets – 70,735 – 68,449

+ Repayments of loans from associates or unconsolidated companies 4,866 2,545

– payments for loans granted to associates or unconsolidated companies – 4,147 – 682

– payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries, less cash received 0 – 405

 + Cash proceeds from the liquidation of a non-consolidated company  103 0

+ Cash proceeds from the sale of shares in associates 0 21,505

– Capital in associates 0 – 16,927

+ Cash proceeds from capital decrease in investments accounted for using equity method 2,766 13,200

= Net cash flow from investing activities – 543,028 – 458,642
– Repayment of bond issued in october 2009 0 – 200,002

– payments for the repayment of financial liabilities – 59,427 – 231,309

+ Cash proceeds from borrowing 35 68,556 134,912

+ payments made for acquiring shares of non-controlling interests – 57,789 – 14,786

– payments made for the purchase and sale of securities 68,477 – 49,741

– dividend paid 36 – 86,612 – 59,060

+ net cash proceeds from shares issued 0 272,456

= Net cash flow from financing activities – 66,795 – 147,530
= Net change in cash and cash equivalents – 7,670 – 46,250
+ Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 June 602,744 637,226

+/– effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents – 9,941 11,768

= Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 May 585,134 602,744

Consolidated cash flow statement
of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. for the period from 1 June to 31 may

see also note 37 for details of the cash flow statement.



118 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT Consolidated statements oF CHanGes in eqUity

Consolidated statements of changes in equity
of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co.

 
 
€ thousand

Subscribed
capital

Capital
reserve

 
Currency  

translation  
reserve

 
 

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

 

 
Reserve for  

financial instruments  
held for sale  

Revaluation  
from defined benefit 

pension plans

 
Other retained  

earnings/ 
profit carried forward

Reserves and  
unappropriated 

surplus

Equity before 
non-controlling 

interests
Non-controlling 

interests Equity

As at 1 June 2014 200,000 0 – 33,397 – 63,838 4,447 – 48,276 1,253,246 1,112,182 1,312,182 29,879 1,342,061
earnings for the period 0 0 0 0  0 0 286,995 286,995 286,995 8,458 295,453
other comprehensive income for the period 0 0 114,897 – 25,254 6,022 – 22,628 0 73,037 73,037 533 73,570
Comprehensive income for the period 0 0 114,897 – 25,254 6,022 – 22,628 286,995 360,032 360,032 8,991 369,023
issue of new capital against cash contributions 22,222 255,556 0 0  0 0 0 255,556 277,778 0 277,778
issuing costs 0 – 5,322 0 0  0 0 0 – 5,322 – 5,322 0 – 5,322
distribution to shareholders 0 0 0 0  0 0 – 55,500 – 55,500 – 55,500 – 3,560 – 59,060
Changes in ownership interest in  
subsidiaries 0 0 5 0

 
 0 0 – 8,937 – 8,932 – 8,932 – 5,854 – 14,786

Transactions with shareholders 22,222 250,234 5 0 0 0 – 64,437 185,802 208,024 – 9,414 198,610
As at 31 May 2015 222,222 250,234 81,505 – 89,092 10,469 – 70,904 1,475,804 1,658,016 1,880,238 29,456 1,909,694
earnings for the period 0 0 0 0  0 0 268,500 268,500 268,500 3,361 271,861
other comprehensive income for the period 0 0 – 79,631 24,045 – 7,344 5,023 0 – 57,907 – 57,907 – 597 – 58,504
Comprehensive income for the period 0 0 – 79,631 24,045 – 7,344 5,023 268,500 210,593 210,593 2,764 213,357
distributions to shareholders 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 85,556 – 85,556 – 85,556 – 1,056 – 86,612
Changes in ownership interest in  
subsidiaries 0 0 – 181 0 0 0 – 32,309 – 32,490 – 32,490 – 25,299 – 57,789
Transactions with shareholders 0 0 – 181 0 0 0 – 117,865 – 118,046 – 118,046 – 26,355 – 144,401
As at 31 May 2016 222,222 250,234 1,693 – 65,047 3,125 – 65,881 1,626,439 1,750,563 1,972,785 5,865 1,978,650

 
see also note 36 for information on equity.
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€ thousand

Subscribed
capital

Capital
reserve

 
Currency  

translation  
reserve

 
 

Cash flow  
hedge reserve

 

 
Reserve for  

financial instruments  
held for sale  

Revaluation  
from defined benefit 

pension plans

 
Other retained  

earnings/ 
profit carried forward

Reserves and  
unappropriated 

surplus

Equity before 
non-controlling 

interests
Non-controlling 

interests Equity

As at 1 June 2014 200,000 0 – 33,397 – 63,838 4,447 – 48,276 1,253,246 1,112,182 1,312,182 29,879 1,342,061
earnings for the period 0 0 0 0  0 0 286,995 286,995 286,995 8,458 295,453
other comprehensive income for the period 0 0 114,897 – 25,254 6,022 – 22,628 0 73,037 73,037 533 73,570
Comprehensive income for the period 0 0 114,897 – 25,254 6,022 – 22,628 286,995 360,032 360,032 8,991 369,023
issue of new capital against cash contributions 22,222 255,556 0 0  0 0 0 255,556 277,778 0 277,778
issuing costs 0 – 5,322 0 0  0 0 0 – 5,322 – 5,322 0 – 5,322
distribution to shareholders 0 0 0 0  0 0 – 55,500 – 55,500 – 55,500 – 3,560 – 59,060
Changes in ownership interest in  
subsidiaries 0 0 5 0

 
 0 0 – 8,937 – 8,932 – 8,932 – 5,854 – 14,786

Transactions with shareholders 22,222 250,234 5 0 0 0 – 64,437 185,802 208,024 – 9,414 198,610
As at 31 May 2015 222,222 250,234 81,505 – 89,092 10,469 – 70,904 1,475,804 1,658,016 1,880,238 29,456 1,909,694
earnings for the period 0 0 0 0  0 0 268,500 268,500 268,500 3,361 271,861
other comprehensive income for the period 0 0 – 79,631 24,045 – 7,344 5,023 0 – 57,907 – 57,907 – 597 – 58,504
Comprehensive income for the period 0 0 – 79,631 24,045 – 7,344 5,023 268,500 210,593 210,593 2,764 213,357
distributions to shareholders 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 85,556 – 85,556 – 85,556 – 1,056 – 86,612
Changes in ownership interest in  
subsidiaries 0 0 – 181 0 0 0 – 32,309 – 32,490 – 32,490 – 25,299 – 57,789
Transactions with shareholders 0 0 – 181 0 0 0 – 117,865 – 118,046 – 118,046 – 26,355 – 144,401
As at 31 May 2016 222,222 250,234 1,693 – 65,047 3,125 – 65,881 1,626,439 1,750,563 1,972,785 5,865 1,978,650
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 01 Basic information

the consolidated financial statements are prepared using 
accounting and measurement methods that are applied con-
sistently within the Group on the basis of amortised historical 
cost. this does not apply to assets that are available for sale and 
derivative financial instruments, which are measured at fair 
value. the consolidated income statement is prepared using the 
cost-of-sales method. the current/non-current distinction is 
observed in the consolidated statement of financial position. the 
amounts stated under current assets and liabilities are for the 
most part due for settlement within twelve months. accord-
ingly, non-current items are mainly due for settlement in more 
than twelve months. in order to enhance the clarity of the pre-
sentation, items of the consolidated statement of financial pos-
ition and consolidated income statement have been grouped 
together where this is appropriate and possible. these items are 
broken down and explained in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. please note that where sums and percent-
ages in the report have been rounded, differences may arise as 
a result of commercial rounding.

the management Board released the consolidated financial 
statements for submission to the supervisory Board on 19 July 
2016. it is the responsibility of the supervisory Board to review 
the consolidated financial statements and declare its approval. 
a resolution by the supervisory Board approving the consoli-
dated financial statements is expected to be passed at the ordi-
nary supervisory Board meeting to be held on 10 august 2016.

Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. (Hella KGaa) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) develop and manu-
facture lighting technology and electronics components and 
systems for the automotive industry. the Group also produces 
complete vehicle modules and air conditioning systems in joint 
venture undertakings. the Group’s production and manufactur-
ing sites are located across the globe; its most significant mar-
kets are in europe, the Usa and asia, particularly Korea and 
China. in addition, Hella has its own international sales net-
work for all kinds of vehicle accessories. 

the Company is a listed stock corporation, which was founded 
and is based in lippstadt, Germany. the address of the Compa-
ny’s registered office is Rixbecker str. 75, lippstadt. 

the consolidated financial statements of Hella KGaa for fiscal 
year 2015/2016 (1 June 2015 to 31 may 2016) were prepared in 
accordance with all iFRs and ias standards subject to manda-
tory application for the period as well as the interpretations of 
the international Financial Reporting standards interpretations 
Committee (iFRsiC) and the standing interpretations Commit-
tee (siC), and as adopted by the eU. the consolidated financial 
statements are accompanied by a Group management report 
and the additional disclosures required by section 315a of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB). the 
comparative values of the prior fiscal year have been deter-
mined according to the same principles. the consolidated finan-
cial statements are prepared in euros (€). amounts are stated in 
thousands of euros (€ thousand).

02  Scope of consolidation

in addition to Hella KGaa Hueck & Co., all significant domestic 
and foreign subsidiaries that are directly or indirectly controlled 
by Hella are consolidated. material joint ventures are included 
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method 
of accounting. the number of consolidated companies changed 
primarily due to intra-group mergers, newly incorporated com-
panies and disposals.

Number 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Fully consolidated companies 95 101

Companies accounted for 
using the equity method 57 52
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Share of equity (%)
Company Country City 2015/2016 2014 /2015

Changchun Hella automotive lighting ltd. China Changchun 100 100

Hella shanghai electronics Co., ltd. China shanghai 100 100

FtZ autodele & værktøj a/s 1 denmark odense 100 79
Hella Fahrzeugkomponenten GmbH Germany Bremen 100 100

Hella automotive mexico s.a. de C.v. mexico tlalnepantla 100 100

inteR-team sp. z o.o. 1 poland warsaw 100 50

Hella Romania s.r.l. Romania Ghiroda-timisoara 100 100

Hella slovakia Front-lighting s.r.o. slovakia Kocovce 100 100

Hella slovakia signal-lighting s.r.o. slovakia Bánovce nad Bebravou 100 100

Hella saturnus slovenija d.o.o. slovenia ljubljana 100 100

Hella autotechnik nova s.r.o. Czech Republic mohelnice 100 100

Hella electronics Corporation Usa plymouth, mi 100 100

Jiaxing Hella lighting Co. ltd. China Jiaxing 100 100

the main subsidiaries are set out below:

a complete listing of the shares held by the Group can be found in an attachment to the notes.
1 please refer to note 36.

if the reporting date of a subsidiary is not the same as that of 
Hella KGaa, interim financial statements are prepared effec-
tive 31 may.

Business combinations
acquired subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase 
method. the acquisition costs correspond to the fair value of the 
assets acquired, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities 
arising or assumed on the transaction date. they also include 
the fair values of all recognised assets and liabilities arising from 
contingent consideration. acquisition-related costs are recog-
nised as expenses upon arising. Upon initial consolidation, iden-
tifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair 
value on the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as the 
amount by which the business combination costs, the amount 
of the non-controlling shares in the acquired company already 
held on the acquisition date and the equity components meas-
ured at fair value exceed the net assets measured at fair value. 
if this figure is negative, the difference is recognised directly in 
the income statement after reassessment.

Non-controlling interests
in the case of each business combination, the Group determines 
whether the non-controlling interest in the acquired company is 
to be measured at its fair value or in accordance with the share 
which it holds in the net assets of the acquired company at the 
date of acquisition. transactions for the purchase or sale of non- 
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are 
recorded as equity transactions. any difference between the fig-
ure by which the carrying amount of the non-controlling inter-
ests is adjusted to match the current share held in the company 
and the fair value of the consideration rendered or received is 
recognised directly within equity.

any binding put options that have been agreed for non-con-
trolling interests are recognised within financial liabilities and 
measured at their fair value on the basis of the agreed purchase 
price. if the put option is related to the purchase of a majority 
holding in the company concerned, its value is recognised as part 
of the business combination costs.

03 Principles of consolidation
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Subsidiaries
subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Group. the 
Group is deemed to control a subsidiary if it is exposed to vary-
ing returns from its involvement with the subsidiary or has 
rights to returns and has the ability to use its power over the 
subsidiary to affect these returns. the financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
as of the date on which the Group gains control over them and 
until the date on which control over them ends. 

Investments accounted for using the equity method
investments accounted for using the equity method comprise 
shares in joint ventures and associates.

Joint ventures are joint arrangements in which Hella exercises 
joint control together with other partners and also has rights to 
the arrangement’s equity. 

associates are entities over which the Group exercises material 
influence, but no control, and in which it usually holds 20 % to 
50 % of the voting rights. 

shares in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using 
the equity method and are recorded at historical cost upon initial 
recognition. the Group’s share also includes the goodwill aris-
ing on acquisition (less cumulative impairments). 

the Group’s share in the profits and losses is recognised in the 
income statement from the acquisition date. the cumulative 
changes following acquisition are deducted from or added to the 
carrying amount of the investment. if losses have reduced the 
fair value of the Group’s share to zero, additional losses are only 
allowed for and recognised as liabilities to the extent that Hella 
is subject to legal or constructive obligations to settle such 
losses. Gains at a later period are not taken into account until 
they are sufficient to cover the unrecognised loss.

Intra-Group transactions
intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or 
losses from intra-Group transactions are eliminated. However, 
the existence of unrealised losses is viewed as an indication 
that the transferred asset must be examined for impairment. 
the accounting and measurement methods applied by subsidi-
aries have been modified where necessary to ensure consistent 
accounting within the Group.
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Changes in the fair value of financial securities that are denom-
inated in a foreign currency and classified as available for sale 
are split into currency translation differences arising from changes 
in amortised cost, which are recognised in the income state-
ment, and other changes in their carrying amount, which are 
recognised within equity.

Currency translation differences for non-monetary items, changes 
in which are recognised at fair value in the income statement 
(e. g. equity instruments measured at fair value in the income 
statement), are reported in the income statement as part of the 
gain or loss from measurement at fair value. However, currency 
translation differences for non-monetary assets, changes in 
which are recognised at fair value within equity (e. g. equity 
instruments classified as available for sale), are included in the 
revaluation reserve.

Functional currency and reporting currency
the items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group companies are measured using the currency of the pri-
mary economic environment in which the company operates 
(functional currency). the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in euros, the functional and reporting currency of Hella 
KGaa Hueck & Co.

the net profit/loss and items of the statement of financial posi-
tion of all Group companies that have a functional currency other 
than the euro are treated as follows:

1. assets and liabilities are translated into euros for each 
reporting date using the spot exchange rate.

2. income and expenses are translated for each income state-
ment using the average exchange rate (unless this fails to 
give an appropriate approximation of the cumulative effects 
that would have arisen from currency translation at the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the rates prevailing on the trans-
action dates).

3. any currency translation differences are recognised in equity 
as separate items within the currency translation reserve and, 
hence, in comprehensive income.

Transactions and outstanding balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency at the spot exchange rate applicable on the transaction 
date. Gains and losses from the settlement of such transactions 
as well as from the translation of financial assets and liabilities 
held in foreign currencies at the spot exchange rate are recog-
nised in the income statement unless they are designated as 
qualified cash flow hedges, in which case they are recognised 
within equity.

Currency translation differences arising in connection with con-
solidation from the conversion of net investments in economi-
cally independent foreign operations, financial liabilities, and 
other foreign currency instruments designated as hedges of such 
investments, are recognised within equity. if a foreign business 
is sold, any currency translation differences hitherto recognised 
within equity are recycled to profit and loss as part of the profit 
or loss derived from the sale. Goodwill arising from business 
combinations and from disclosed hidden reserves and liabilities 
that are recognised as adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
the assets and liabilities of the company concerned are trans-
lated using the end-of-year spot exchange rate in the same way 
as that applied to assets and liabilities.

04 Currency translation
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the Group has applied the following revised standards and a 
newly issued interpretation that have been endorsed by the eU 
as european law and are subject to mandatory application for 
the first time:

Improvements to IFRS 2011 – 2013
amendments have been made to four standards as part of the 
annual improvement project. adjustments to the wording of 
individual iFRss served the purpose of clarifying the existing 
guidance. this concerned iFRs 1 “First-time adoption of interna-
tional Financial Reporting  standards”, iFRs 3 “Business Combi-
nations”, iFRs 13 “Fair value measurement”, and ias 40 “invest-
ment properties”. the amendments were applied for the first time 
in accounting periods that commenced on or after 1 January 2015. 
there was no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans –  
Employee Contributions
the amendments to ias 19 “employee Benefits” clarified the 
guidance relating to the allocation of employee or third-party 
contributions to service periods if the contributions are linked to 
the service period. in addition, they provided for accounting con-
veniences if the contributions are independent of the number of 
years of service. the amendments were applied for the first 
time in accounting periods that commenced on or after 1 Febru-
ary 2015. there was no impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Improvements to IFRS 2010 – 2012
amendments have been made to seven standards as part of the 
annual improvement project. adjustments to the wording of 
individual iFRss served the purpose of clarifying the existing 
guidance. in addition, some revisions affected the disclosures 
required in the notes. this concerned iFRs 2 “share-based pay-
ment”, iFRs 3 “Business Combinations”, iFRs 8 “operating seg-
ments”, iFRs 13 “Fair value measurement”, ias 16 “property, 
plant and equipment”, ias 24 “Related party disclosures” and 
ias 38 “intangible assets”. the amendments were applied for 
the first time in accounting periods that commenced on or after 
1 February 2015. there was no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

IFRIC 21: Levies
the newly issued interpretation iFRiC 21 “levies” provides guid-
ance on the recognition of a liability to pay levies imposed by a 
government. it applies to levies that are recognised in accor-
dance with ias 37 “provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contin-
gent assets” as well as levies whose timing and amount are 
known. iFRiC 21 identifies the obligating event for the recogni-
tion of a liability as the activity that triggers the payment of the 
levy under the applicable legislation. it does not apply to levies 
that come within the scope of another iFRs or penalties result-
ing from a breach of the applicable laws. there was no impact 
on the consolidated financial statements.

05  Changes in accounting methods

the exchange rates used to translate the main currencies for 
Hella were as follows:

Average Reporting date
2015/2016 2014/2015 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

€ 1 = Us dollar 1.1098 1.2219 1.1154 1.0970

€ 1 = Czech koruna 27.0722 27.5781 27.0220 27.4010

€ 1 = Japanese yen 131.2057 137.2846 123.8300 135.9500

1 € = mexican peso 18.9342 17.1488 20.5185 16.8433

€ 1 = Chinese renminbi 7.1136 7.5619 7.3363 6.7994

€ 1 = south Korean won 1,296.2668 1,305.1421 1,326.1100 1,220.3100

€ 1 = Romanian leu 4.4647 4.4301 4.5108 4.4425

1 € = danish krone 7.4575 7.4516 7.4376 7.4597
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Improvements to IFRS 2012 – 2014
Amendments have been made to four standards as part of the 
annual improvement project. These provided clarification on 
four standards, including IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations”, IFRS 7 “Financial Instru-
ments: Disclosures”, IAS 19 “Employee Contributions to Defined 
Benefit Plans” and IAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”. Adjust-
ments to the wording of the individual IFRSs serve the purpose 
of clarifying the existing guidance. In this context, IFRS 5 will be 
extended to include specific provisions on the accounting of assets 
classified as held for distribution to owners. The application of 
these amendments will not have any impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative
The adjustments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” 
concern various reporting issues. They clarify that disclosures 
in the notes are only necessary provided they are material to the 
reporting company. This also expressly applies if a standard 
specifies a list of minimum disclosures. Furthermore, explana-
tions are to be provided on the aggregation and disaggregation 
of items in the statement of financial position and the statement 
of comprehensive income. IAS 1 also requires the additional dis-
closure of profit or loss and other comprehensive income that is 
attributable to associates and joint ventures accounted for using 
the equity method. The application of these amendments will 
not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method  
in Separate Financial Statements
The amendment to IAS 27 “Separate Financial Statements” allows 
the equity method of accounting to be used for measuring 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the 
separate financial statements of an investor. The application of 
these amendments will not have any impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements. 

The following amendments to existing standards which have 
been endorsed as EU law must be applied to accounting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2016. The HELLA Group will 
apply the amendments to the revised standards from the next 
fiscal year 2016/2017. The Group has not yet applied or included 
these standards in the consolidated financial statements for fis-
cal year 2015/2016 in accordance with EU requirements.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Bearer plants
These amendments bring bearer plants which are used in the 
production of agricultural produce into the scope of IAS 16 “Prop-
erty, Plant and Equipment” and simultaneously remove them 
from the scope of IAS 41 “Agriculture”. The application of these 
amendments will not have any impact on the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for  
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
These modifications to IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” provide 
guidance on accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint oper-
ations that represent a business operation within the meaning 
of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. In such cases, the buyer is 
required to apply the principles for accounting for business com-
binations in accordance with IFRS 3. So far, the HELLA Group only 
holds investments in joint ventures within the scope of IFRS 11. 
Accordingly, the application of these amendments will initially 
not have any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification  
of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
These amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment” 
and IAS 38 “Intangible Assets” provide guidance on determining 
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation. Accord-
ingly, revenue-based depreciation methods are not permitted 
for property, plant and equipment and revenue-based amorti-
sation methods are only allowed for intangible assets in certain 
exceptional cases (rebuttable presumption of inadequacy). The 
application of these amendments will not have any impact on 
the consolidated financial statements.

06  New accounting standards  
not yet applied
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In addition to the amendments outlined above, the IASB has 
adopted new or changed accounting guidance. EU endorsement 
is still pending. The HELLA Group plans to apply the newly issued 
standards and amendments from the date of mandatory appli-
cation subject to endorsement for application in the EU.

IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” permits first-time adop-
ters of IFRS to continue to account, with some limited changes, 
for regulatory deferral accounts in accordance with the previously 
applied GAAP upon adoption of IFRS. IFRS 14 must be applied to 
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2016. As 
the standard is only relevant for first-time adopters of IFRS, it 
does not have any impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments.

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” will be replacing the existing 
standard IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Mea-
surement”. It introduces a new approach for the classification of 
financial instruments based on the contractual cash flows of the 
financial instrument and the business model within which it is 
being held. The guidance for recognising impairments will be 
based on an expected loss model in the future. In addition, IFRS 
9 revises the guidance on hedge accounting, which is oriented 
more closely to the reporting entity’s risk management. These 
amendments must be applied to accounting periods commenc-
ing on or after 1 January 2018. The possible impact of IFRS 9 on the 
consolidated financial statements is currently being analysed.
 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or  
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its  
Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” 
and IAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” elim-
inate an inconsistency between the two standards. In its current 
form, IFRS 10 requires full profit or loss recognition when a par-

ent sells a subsidiary to an associate or joint venture. On the 
other hand, IAS 28 in its present form requires the profit or loss 
from the transaction between the entity and its associate or joint 
venture to be recognised only to the extent of the share in this 
company. In the future, the entire profit or loss from the trans-
action will only be recognised if the assets sold or con tributed 
constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3 “Business Combina-
tions”. If these assets do not constitute a business, only the pro 
rata profit or loss is recognised. The date on which the modifica-
tions to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 are to be applied for the first time 
has been postponed indefinitely by the IASB. The possible 
impact on the consolidated financial statements is currently being 
analysed.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment 
Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
The amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial State-
ments”, IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities” and IAS 
28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” clarify the 
application of the exception from the consolidation of subsidiar-
ies. Under these amendments, a company may also apply the 
exemption from the duty to prepare consolidated financial state-
ments if its ultimate or intermediate parent prepares IFRS finan-
cial statements in which the subsidiaries are measured at their 
fair value. In addition, a subsidiary that provides services related 
to its parent’s investment activities is not consolidated if the 
subsidiary itself is an investment entity. The amendments clar-
ify that if the equity method is applied to an associate or a joint 
venture that is an investment entity the parent that is not an 
investment entity can retain the fair-value measurement which 
the associate or joint venture applies to its subsidiaries. A par-
ent that is an investment entity and measures all its subsidiaries 
at their fair value must provide the disclosures relating to invest-
ment entities required by IFRS 12. These amendments must be 
applied to accounting periods commencing on or after 1 Janu-
ary 2016. The application of these amendments is not expected 
to have any material impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments.
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IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” replaces the 
current guidance on the recognition of revenue in IAS 18 “Rev-
enue” and IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”. By issuing IFRS 15, 
the IASB intends to combine the extensive guidance on revenue 
within a single standard. Revenue is recognised using a five-
step model framework under which the contract with the cus-
tomer and the separate performance obligations which it con-
tains are identified. The next step involves determining the 
transaction prices and to allocate it to the individual perform -
ance obligations. Finally, revenue is recognised in accordance 
with the allocated pro rata transaction price when and as the 
agreed performance obligation is satisfied or control is passed 
to the customer. Criteria are defined to determine whether the 
performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in 
time. The new standard must be applied to accounting periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The impact on the con-
solidated financial statements is currently being analysed.

IFRS 16: Leases
On 13 January 2016, the IASB published IFRS 16 “Leases”, which 
replaces IAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations. IFRS 
16 primarily changes the manner in which the lessee accounts 
for leases. In addition to abolishing the distinction between 
finance and operating leases, the amended guidance requires 
all assets and liabilities under leases to be recognised in the 
statement of financial position except in the case of short-term 
or low-value leases. There is no material change in the recog-
nition requirements for lessors compared with IAS 17. The new 
standard must be applied to accounting periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2019. The impact on HELLA’s consolidated 
financial statements is currently being analysed.

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of  
Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
The amendments to IAS 12: “Income Taxes” clarify the recogni-
tion of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on assets meas-

ured at fair value. Accordingly, unrealised losses on assets which 
are measured at their fair value and for which no corresponding 
adjustments are made for tax purposes result in deductible 
temporary differences. In addition, the adjustments permit a 
more precise calculation of taxable income for the re cognition 
of deferred tax assets. These amendments must be applied to 
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2017. 
The application of these amendments is not expected to have 
any material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative
The purpose of the amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash 
Flows” is to improve the information conveyed to users of the 
financial statements on the cash flow from financing activities. 
Companies must now prepare a statement reconciling the open-
ing with the closing balances in the statement of financial posi-
tion for liabilities arising from financing activities. These amend-
ments must be applied to accounting periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2017. They will result in additional disclosures 
in the notes.

Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement  
of Share-Based Payment Transactions
The amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” clarify the 
recognition of cash-settled share-based payments. The main 
change is that IFRS 2 now contains guidance on the calculation 
of the fair value of the obligations arising from share-based pay-
ments. As with the approach for equity-settled share-based pay-
ments, only certain vesting conditions will be included in the cal-
culation of the fair value in the future, whereas others only have 
an effect via the quantity. Accordingly, the specific guidance 
included in IFRS 2 overrides the general guidance found in 
IFRS 13 “Fair-value Measurement”. These amendments must be 
applied to accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2018. The impact on HELLA’s consolidated financial statements 
is currently being analysed.
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the offsetting of such amounts does not contain any direct ref-
erence to the primary cost type and is reported under “Reclassi-
fication of functional costs”. this applies in particular to the allo-
cation of energy costs, the use of buildings and it expenses. 
these are initially recognised together with their respective cost 
types under administrative costs and then reclassified to the 
functions where the cost was incurred using prorated usage 
formulas.

Earnings per share
Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the 
share of earnings after tax attributable to the shareholders of the 
parent company by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the fiscal year. 

Property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost 
less cumulative depreciation and impairments. Historical cost 
comprises the expenses directly attributable to the acquisition. 

subsequent cost, e. g. as a result of expansion or replacement 
investments, is only recognised as part of the historical cost of 
the asset or – if applicable – as a separate asset if it is probable 
that the Group will derive future economic benefits from them 
and the costs of the asset can be reliably measured. expenses 
for repairs and maintenance that do not represent a material 
reinvestment are recognised as an expense in the income state-
ment in the accounting period in which they arise.

tools manufactured or acquired by the Group for production 
purposes are capitalised at cost in accordance with ias 16 and 
recorded separately in the statement of assets as production 
equipment. each item of property, plant and equipment with his-
torical cost that represents a significant portion of the total value 
of the item is recognised and depreciated separately.

Revenue recognition
sales include the fair value of the consideration already received 
or still to be received for the sale of goods and performance of 
services in the normal course of business. sales are stated exclud-
ing sales tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after elimina-
tion of internal Group sales.

the Group recognises sales when the amount of revenue can be 
reliably determined, it is sufficiently probable that the Company 
will derive economic benefits and the specific criteria set out 
below for each type of activity have been met. 

Revenues from the sale of goods are recognised as soon as the 
material opportunities and risks relating to ownership of the 
goods, based on the provisions of the respective contract, have 
been transferred to the customer. in the case of the sale of goods, 
this generally applies when the goods have been delivered. if, as 
part of series deliveries, advance payments are made in addi-
tion to the unit price, these payments are reported as other lia-
bilities, deferred over the duration of series production and rec-
ognised in sales.

income from the provision of services is recognised in accor-
dance with the terms of the contract in question, provided the ser-
vice has been rendered and expenses have arisen. 

interest income is recognised on a pro rata basis using the effec-
tive interest method.

dividend income is recognised when the right to receive pay-
ment is established.

Functional costs
Cross-functional costs contained in the consolidated income state-
ment are reported in accordance with internal reporting require-
ments. operating expenses are always initially allocated to the 
functional area in which they are primarily incurred. if the func-
tional area performs services for which the economic benefit 
arises in another functional area, such expenses are allocated 
on a pro rata basis to the functional area for which the services 
were performed. 

07  Basis of preparation and accounting
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land is not depreciated. all other assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis. in this case, their historical cost or fair value 
is written down to their residual carrying amount over their 
expected average useful life as follows:

Buildings 25 years

equipment and machinery 8 years

production equipment 3– 5 years

operating and office equipment 8 years

the residual carrying amounts and expected useful lives are 
reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted on each reporting date.

if the carrying amount of any item of property, plant and equip-
ment exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, it is immedi-
ately written down to this amount.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised if it is reasonably certain 
that the related conditions will be satisfied and the grants will 
actually be received. Grants for the purchase or production of 
non-current assets (asset-related grants) are deducted from 
the historical cost of the assets in question and reduce future 
depreciation. Grants that are not awarded for non-current assets 
(performance-tied grants) are accounted for in the income state-
ment in the same line item as the related expense items. they 
are recognised in the income statement on a pro rata basis over 
the periods in which the expenses to be covered by the grants 
are incurred. Government grants awarded for future expendi-
ture are reported as deferred income.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the amount by which the cost of a business 
combination exceeds the fair value of the Group’s shares in the 
net assets of the entity acquired and the sum of all non-con-
trolling interests at the time of acquisition. the goodwill arising 

from business combinations is recognised as an intangible asset. 
the goodwill resulting from the acquisition of an associate is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is there-
fore not tested for impairment separately but as part of the total 
carrying amount. the goodwill reported is tested for impair-
ment on an annual basis and measured at historical cost less 
cumulative impairment. impairment losses are not reversed. 
Gains and losses from the sale of an entity include the carrying 
amount of the goodwill allocated to such entity. Goodwill is allo-
cated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment test-
ing. it is allocated to those cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from 
the business combination giving rise to the goodwill. 

Capitalised development expenses
Costs related to development projects are recognised as intan-
gible assets in accordance with ias 38 if it is likely, given their 
economic and technical viability, that the project will be suc-
cessful and the costs can be reliably determined. otherwise, the 
research and development costs are recognised in the income 
statement. advances or reimbursements from customers are 
deducted from reported development costs upon receipt; 
advances collected in the follow-up periods after the start of use 
are reported as disposals in the consolidated statement of changes 
in assets. Capitalised development costs are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their expected useful life starting with 
the date on which the product goes into commercial production. 
amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over an esti-
mated useful life of three to five years. the depreciation/amor-
tisation charged on capitalised development expenses is rec-
ognised in the cost of sales and is applied in the automotive 
segment. 

Acquired intangible assets
acquired intangible assets are recorded at historical cost. intan-
gible assets with a definite useful life are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their useful life of three to eight years. 
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Capital reserve
Cash deposits attributable to the issuance of new shares which 
exceed the nominal value of the shares issued are recognised 
under capital reserves. Costs directly attributable to the is su-
ance of new shares are recognised in equity net after tax as a 
deduction from the capital reserves.

Currency translation reserve
the currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency 
translation differences stemming from the translation of the 
consolidated financial statements of foreign business divisions 
as well as the effective portion of any foreign currency transla-
tion differences arising as a result of hedges of a net capital 
expenditure in a foreign business division. 

Cash flow hedge reserve
the cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of 
cumulative net changes in the fair value of the hedging tools used 
to hedge cash flows until such point as the hedged cash flows 
are recognised in profit or loss. 

Reserve for financial instruments held for sale
the reserve for financial instruments held for sale contains the 
cumulative net changes in the fair value of financial assets held 
for sale until the derecognition or impairment of such assets. 

Revaluation from defined benefit pension plans
Revaluations of net debt stemming from defined benefit pension 
plans comprise actuarial gains and losses attributable to changes 
in the actuarial assumptions upon which the calculation of 
defined benefit pension liabilities is based. it also includes the 
difference between the standardised and actual income gener-
ated by the plan assets as well as its impact on any asset ceiling 
in place.

Trade payables
trade payables are initially measured at their fair value. they 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effec-
tive interest method.

Impairment of non-monetary assets
assets with an indefinite useful life – primarily goodwill within 
the Group – are not depreciated or amortised but tested for 
impairment on an annual basis. assets that are subject to depre-
ciation or amortisation are tested for impairment when corre-
sponding events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may no longer be recoverable.

an impairment is recognised in the amount by which the carry-
ing amount exceeds the recoverable amount. the recoverable 
amount is either the fair value of the asset less the cost to sell 
or the value in use, whichever is higher. For the purposes of 
impairment testing, assets are aggregated at the lowest identi-
fiable level for which cash flows can be generated for indepen-
dent units (CGUs). the recoverable amount of a CGU is deter-
mined on the basis of the expected future discounted cash flows 
from planned use (value in use). these are based on manage-
ment Board forecasts covering a period of three years. with the 
exception of goodwill, non-monetary assets for which an impair-
ment has been recognised in prior periods are reviewed at each 
reporting date to test whether the impairment must be reversed. 
the impairments and reversals of impairments are included in 
the cost of sales. 

Inventories
inventories are recognised at the lower of historical cost or net 
realisable value. Historical cost is determined using the moving 
average method. the historical cost of finished and unfinished 
goods includes the costs of product development, raw materials 
and supplies, direct personnel expenses, other direct costs, and 
the overheads attributable to production (based on normal plant 
capacity). the net realisable value is the estimated sales rev enue 
achievable in the normal course of business less the ne cessary 
variable distribution costs and the expected cost until completion.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and sight deposits. 

Equity
Subscribed capital
the limited partner shares issued by the Company are classified 
as equity. the various issues of profit participation rights are rec-
ognised as liabilities.
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Current and deferred taxes
Current tax expense is calculated in accordance with the tax leg-
islation applicable in the countries in which the subsidiaries and 
associates operate. in accordance with ias 12, deferred taxes 
are recognised for any temporary differences between the tax 
basis of the assets/liabilities and their carrying amount in the 
iFRs financial statements (“temporary concept”). deferred taxes 
are also recognised for tax loss carryforwards. deferred taxes 
are measured on the basis of the tax rates (and tax legislation) 
that apply on the reporting date or have essentially been legis-
lated and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is 
realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent to which it 
is likely that a taxable profit will be available to offset the tempo-
rary differences in assets or the unused losses.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted only if 
offsetting is legally permissible. in accordance with ias 12, deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Employee benefits
Pension liabilities
pension provisions are calculated using actuarial methods on 
the basis of the projected unit credit method in accordance with 
ias 19. as a rule, the pension liabilities are measured using the 
latest mortality tables as at 31 may of the respective year under 
review; in Germany, the calculations are based on the 2005 G 
actuarial tables of Klaus Heubeck.

in the case of funded pension plans, the pension liabilities calcu-
lated using the projected unit credit method are reduced by the 
fair value of the fund assets. if the fund assets exceed the liabil-
ities, recognition of the assets is limited to the present value of 
future refunds from the plan or the reduction in future contribu-
tions. 

actuarial gains and losses arise from increases or decreases 
either in the present value of the defined benefit liabilities of the 
plan or in the fair value of the plan assets. this may be caused 
by changes in the calculation parameters, differences between 

the estimated and actual risk exposure of the pension liabilities 
and returns on the fund assets, excluding amounts reported within 
net interest income and expenses.

actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in equity (other 
comprehensive income for the period) in the period in which 
they arise, such as revaluations resulting from the application of 
an asset ceiling and income from the plan assets (excluding 
interest on net debt).

the service cost for pensions and similar liabilities is recognised 
as an expense in the operating result. the interest expense 
derived by multiplying the net provisions with the discount rate 
is likewise recognised within the corresponding items of net oper-
ating profit/loss.

Severance benefits
Benefits arising from the termination of employment are paid if 
an employee is laid off by a Group company before normal retire-
ment age. the Group pays severance benefits if it is under an obli-
gation to terminate the employment of current employees in 
accordance with a detailed formal plan that cannot be revoked 
or if it is under an obligation to pay compensation in the event of 
employment being terminated voluntarily by the employee. pay-
ments that are due for settlement in more than twelve months 
after the reporting date are discounted to calculate their present 
value.

Profit-sharing and other bonuses
provisions are recognised for bonus payments and profit shar-
ing and the expected expenses reported on the basis of a mea-
surement process. provisions are set aside in the consolidated 
financial statements in cases in which there is legal or construct-
ive obligation based on past business practice.

Provisions
provisions are recognised if the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation resulting from a past event, it is probable 
that the settlement of the obligation will result in an outflow of 
resources and the amount of the provision can be reliably esti-
mated. 
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are not recognised in the statement of financial position. in the 
case of guarantees, the amount of the contingent liabilities 
stated in the notes corresponds to the liabilities existing on the 
reporting date.

Financial instruments
a financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset for one entity and, at the same time, a financial liability or 
equity instrument for another. Financial instruments include finan-
cial assets and liabilities and contractual entitlements and obli-
gations relating to the exchange or transfer of financial assets. 
a distinction is drawn between non-derivative and de  rivative 
financial instruments. Financial assets and liabilities are assigned 
to measurement categories in accordance with ias 39.

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised in the statement of financial 
position if the Company is party to a contract concerning these 
assets. the purchase or sale of financial assets under normal mar-
ket conditions is recognised or derecognised at the same value 
as at the settlement date. 

Financial assets which are due for settlement in more than one 
year are classified as non-current. they are derecognised as soon 
as the contractual right to payments from the financial assets 
expires or the financial assets are transferred with all the signif-
icant risks and opportunities.

Financial assets are assigned to  
one of the following four categories:

1. Financial assets recognised in the income statement at fair 
value (or “held for trading”)

2. Held-to-maturity financial assets
3. loans and receivables
4. available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets recognised in the  
income statement at fair value 
a financial asset measured in the income statement at fair value 
is initially recognised at its fair value and also subsequently rec-
ognised at its fair value. the fair value option is not utilised.

if there are a large number of similar liabilities (as is the case for 
statutory guarantees), the likelihood of an outflow of resources 
is determined on the basis of this group of liabilities. provisions 
are also recognised if there is a low probability of an outflow of 
resources related to a single liability within this group.

provisions are measured at the present value of the expected 
expenses, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market expec-
tations regarding the interest effect and the risks specific to the 
liability. the increase in provisions resulting from the related 
interest expense is recognised in the income statement within 
interest expense.

should warranty obligations arise from contractual or statutory 
warranty obligations, Hella creates provisions for these obli-
gations. specific warranty provisions are made for individual war-
ranty claims that have arisen or been asserted. when carrying 
out the measurement, the parts concerned are identified based on 
the established total supplied products and a failure rate esti-
mated for these products. Failure rates are appropriately esti-
mated using historical failure rates and all other available data 
for each individual warranty case. measurement is based on the 
estimated average costs (material and replacement costs).

Hella creates provisions for severance payments likely to be 
paid, if it is liable for the early termination of employment con-
tracts and Hella is unable to withdraw from this liability.

provisions for supply and sales liabilities include liabilities under 
current third-party agreements from which future losses are 
expected. 

the management uses historical figures from similar transac-
tions to estimate the amount of the provisions, taking into account 
details of any events arising up until the consolidated financial 
statement is drawn up.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are potential or existing liabilities towards 
third parties, for which an outflow of resources is unlikely or 
whose amount cannot be reliably determined. if no contingent 
liabilities were assumed under a business combination, these 
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within the Hella Group, this applies to financial instruments 
traded by Group companies as well as embedded derivative 
financial instruments.

Contracts executed for the purpose of receiving or delivering 
non-financial items for the Group’s own business requirements 
are not treated as derivatives but as executory contracts. if such 
contracts include embedded derivative financial instruments 
that are required to be separated, these are accounted for sepa-
rately from the executory contracts. the changes in the fair val-
ues of the embedded derivative financial instruments are recog-
nised in the income statement.

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets are initially recognised at their 
fair value plus directly attributable acquisition costs. they are sub-
sequently measured at amortised cost using the effective inter-
est method.

at the reporting date, the Group did not have any financial assets 
in the “held-to-maturity” category.

Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are initially recognised at their fair value 
plus directly attributable acquisition costs. they are subse-
quently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

if there is any objective evidence of the impairment of an asset’s 
value and the carrying amount is greater than the value deter-
mined in the impairment test, a corresponding impairment is 
recognised in the income statement. objective evidence of the 
impairment of an asset may include the deterioration of a debt-
or’s credit quality and associated payment delays or imminent 
insolvency. all impairments are recognised indirectly via an impair-
ment account. within the Hella Group, this measurement cat-
egory largely consists of trade receivables and certain other 
assets.

the accounting and measurement methods for derivative finan-
cial instruments with a positive fair value included under other 
assets are described separately in the section entitled “deriva-
tive financial instruments”. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 
assets which are designated as “available for sale” on initial 
re  cognition or cannot be classified under any of the above cat-
egories. However, these assets were not acquired for the pur-
pose of being sold in the near future.

non-current or current assets available for sale are recognised 
at their market value on the reporting date. the market price is 
used to determine the fair value of publicly traded financial 
assets. if there is no active market, the fair value is determined 
on the basis of the most recent market transactions or using a 
valuation method such as the discounted cash flow method. 

they are initially recognised on the settlement date. Unrealised 
gains and losses are recognised within equity with due al   lowance 
made for any deferred taxes and are recycled to profit and loss 
upon the sale of the assets. if there is any objective evidence of 
the impairment of an asset’s value and the carrying amount is 
greater than the value determined in the impairment test, a cor-
responding direct impairment is taken to profit and loss.

impairment losses are recognised via an impairment account. 
in these cases, the receivables are grouped into portfolios in 
which the reason for the impairment is identical in all cases and 
clearly separated from other receivables.

impairments are recognised if and as soon as receivables are 
irrecoverable or it is probable that they cannot be recovered but 
only if the amount of the impairment can be reliably determined. 
an impairment must be recognised in the event of any objective 
evidence such as protracted default, the commencement of 
debt recovery actions, pending insolvency or overindebtedness 
or the petition for or commencement of insolvency proceedings. 
non- or low-interest-bearing receivables that are due for set-
tlement in more than one year are discounted, in which case the 
interest component is recorded within interest income on a pro 
rata basis until settlement of the receivable.
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lated at the reporting date for each single interest rate, currency 
and interest rate/currency swap transaction. the counterparty’s 
creditworthiness is usually included in the assessment on the 
basis of observable market data.

depending on whether the derivatives have a positive or nega-
tive market value, they are reported within other financial assets 
or other financial liabilities.

the recognition of changes in fair value depends on the account-
ing treatment applied. in principle, all derivative financial instru-
ments are allocated to the “held for trading” category. Changes in 
the fair value of assets held in this category are recognised imme-
diately in the income statement. 

in individual cases, selected hedging positions are presented as 
cash flow hedges in the statement of financial position in 
accordance with hedge accounting rules. this means that the 
effective part of the change in fair value is recognised within 
equity, while the ineffective part is recognised in the income 
statement. the part of the change initially recognised within 
equity is recycled to profit and loss as soon as the underlying 
transaction is recognised in the income statement.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or manufacture of a qualifying asset 
and can therefore be considered to form part of the historical 
cost of the asset concerned. all other borrowing costs are rec-
ognised as expenditure in the period in which they arise.

as in the prior year, there were no borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or manufacture of a 
qualifying asset in fiscal year 2015/2016. For this reason, bor-
rowing costs were recognised directly as expenditure within the 
period.

Leases
a lease is an agreement in which the lessor grants the lessee 
the right to use an asset for a specified period in return for a pay-
ment or series of payments.

all the other investments included within financial assets belong 
to the “available-for-sale” category and are measured at histor-
ical cost as their market value cannot be reliably determined. 
the shares and bonds stated under securities are marked to the 
market.

Financial liabilities
during the fiscal year under review, as in the prior year, there 
were no non-derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value 
in the income statement or categorised as such. the accounting 
and measurement methods for the derivative financial liabilities 
measured at market value included under other liabilities are 
described separately in the section entitled “derivative financial 
instruments”.

all other non-derivative financial liabilities in the Hella Group 
are allocated to the “other liabilities at amortised cost” category. 
non-derivative financial liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value less transaction costs. they are subsequently measured 
at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

if an outflow of resources is expected after more than one year, 
these liabilities are classified as non-current. liabilities are derec-
ognised if the contractual obligations are settled, reversed or 
expired.

Derivative financial instruments
the Hella Group uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge financial risks. derivative financial instruments are rec-
ognised on the date on which the corresponding contract is exe-
cuted irrespective of their purpose and measured at fair value 
both initially and subsequently. the derivatives are measured 
on the basis of observable current market data using appropri-
ate valuation methods. Forward exchange transactions and com-
modity futures transactions are measured on a case-by-case 
basis at the respective forward rate or price on the reporting 
date. the forward rates or prices are based on the spot rates 
and prices, allowing for forward premiums and discounts. the 
fair values of instruments to hedge interest rate risks are obtained 
by discounting the future cash inflows and outflows. market 
interest rates are used for discounting and applied over the 
residual term of the instruments. the present value is calcu-
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Operating leases
leases in which the lessor retains a significant proportion of the 
risks and opportunities associated with ownership of the leased 
asset are classified as operating leases. payments made in con-
nection with an operating lease are recognised in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the duration of the oper-
ating lease.

Finance leases
leases for property, plant and equipment under which the 
Group bears the significant risks and enjoys the benefits associ-
ated with ownership of the leased assets are classified as finance 
leases. assets under finance leases are capitalised at the incep-
tion of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset 

or the present value of the minimum lease payment. a lease 
liability is recognised in the same amount. 

each lease payment is split into an interest component and a 
reduction of the outstanding liability so that interest is applied 
consistently to the lease liability. the interest component of the 
lease payment is recognised as an expense in the income state-
ment. the asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over 
the shorter of the two following periods: the asset’s economic 
useful life or the term of the lease.

Dividend distributions
shareholder claims to dividend distributions are recognised  
as a liability in the period in which the corresponding resolution 
is adopted.

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with iFRs requires estimates and assumptions to 
be made. in addition, the application of company-wide account-
ing and measurement methods requires management to make 
judgments. 

all estimates and assessments are reviewed on a continual 
basis and are based on past experience and other factors includ-
ing expectations concerning future events that appear reasona-
ble given the circumstances.

Discretionary decisions and critical accounting estimates
the Group makes forward-looking assessments and assump-
tions. it is in the nature of things that the resulting estimates 
only very rarely correspond exactly to the actual, subsequent 
circumstances. the estimates and assumptions that engender 
a significant risk in the form of a material adjustment to the car-
rying amount of assets and liabilities in the following fiscal year 
are discussed below.

Estimated goodwill impairment
in accordance with the accounting and measurement principles 
described herein, the Group tests goodwill for impairment on an 
annual basis. the recoverable amount from cash-generating 

units (CGUs) is calculated on the basis of the value in use. these 
calculations must be based on certain assumptions (see also 
note 27).

Estimated impairment of property, plant  
and equipment and intangible assets
the Group tests intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment for impairment as soon as any indication of impairment 
arises in a specific case (triggering event). an impairment loss 
is recognised by comparing the carrying amount with the esti-
mated recoverable value. the most important estimates con-
cern the definition of the useful lives of the individual intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment, and the recoverable 
value of the non-current assets, particularly the cash flow fore-
casts and discount rates used in this context (see also notes 27 
and 28). the underlying forecasts are based on experience as 
well as expectations regarding future market developments, 
particularly assumed sales volumes.

Income taxes
the Group is required to pay income tax in a number of coun-
tries. significant assumptions therefore need to be made to 
determine the global income tax provisions. there are many 
transactions and calculations for which the final tax amount 

08  Discretionary decisions and 
management estimates



136 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT notes to tHe Consolidated FinanCial statements/ notes to tHe inCome statement

cannot be conclusively determined in the normal course of 
business. the Group measures the amount of the provisions for 
the expected external tax audits based on estimates of whether 
and to what extent income taxes will be payable. if the final tax 
amount for these transactions differs from the amount initially 
assumed, this is recognised in the actual and deferred taxes in 
the period in which the tax amount is conclusively determined 
(see note 16).

Fair value of derivative and other financial instruments
the fair value of financial instruments not traded on an active 
market (e. g. derivatives traded over the counter) is determined 
using appropriate measurement methods selected from a large 
number of methods. the assumptions used for this are pre-
dominantly based on the prevailing market conditions on the 

reporting date. the Group uses present value methods to deter-
mine the fair value of numerous assets available for sale that 
are not traded on an active market (see note 40).

Critical assessments concerning the use  
of accounting and measurement methods
the Group complies with the provisions of ias 39 to determine 
the impairment of assets available for sale. this decision requires 
an extensive assessment to be made. as part of this assess-
ment, the Group appraises the duration and extent of any differ-
ence between the fair value of an investment and its historical 
cost as well as the financial position and short-term business 
prospects of the entity in which the investment was made, 
among other things, taking into account such factors as indus-
try and sector conditions.

sales in fiscal year 2015/2016 amounted to € 6,351,889 thou-
sand (prior year: € 5,834,691 thousand). sales are attributable 
entirely to the sale of goods and performance of services. 

they can be classified as follows:

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

sales from the sale of goods 6,183,634 5,665,641

sales arising from the rendering of services 168,255 169,050

Sales total 6,351,889 5,834,691

sales by region (based on the headquarters of Hella’s customers):

the prior-year sales have been adjusted due to a more precise 
regional breakdown. please refer to note 20 “segment report-
ing” for further information on sales. 

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Germany 2,362,337 2,152,284

eastern europe 643,383 610,033

Rest of europe 1,416,097 1,261,289

north and south america 936,640 886,866

asia/pacific 956,258 885,425

Row 37,174 38,794

Consolidated sales 6,351,889 5,834,691

09  Sales
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in the fiscal year € 4,663,691 thousand (prior year: € 4,280,770 thou-
sand) was recognised as expense under cost of sales. 

apart from directly attributable material and production costs, the 
cost of sales also comprises currency gains and losses (largely 
from the purchase of materials) and gains and losses from the 

disposal of fixed assets. Currency gains in the period under review 
amounted to € 56,303 thousand (prior year: € 61,427 thousand), 
with currency losses at € 63,681 thousand (prior year: € 49,869 thou-
sand). Gains and losses from the disposal of fixed assets amounted 
to € 742 thousand (prior year: € 4,271 thousand) and € 4,910 thou-
sand (prior year: € 7,122 thousand) respectively. 

the research and development costs include expenses for future 
sales and mainly consist of personnel expenses and material 

costs. the reported expenditure in the fiscal year was € 623,459 
thousand (prior year: € 543,931 thousand). 

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Cost of materials – 3,308,416 – 3,025,733

personnel expenses – 650,777 – 674,008

depreciation/amortisation – 326,020 – 267,117

other – 371,291 – 297,167

Reclassification of functional costs – 7,187 – 16,745

Cost of sales – 4,663,691 – 4,280,770

the distribution costs include all downstream production costs 
that can, however, be attributable directly to the provision of 
goods or services to customers. this covers storage, supplying 

customers locally, and outbound freight. the classification as 
distribution costs is carried out at Group level as well as within 
individual companies. 

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Cost of materials – 8,400 – 6,093

personnel expenses – 226,801 – 216,901

depreciation/amortisation – 12,316 – 10,208

other – 236,077 – 213,735
Reclassification of functional costs – 10,319 – 8,522

Distribution costs – 493,913 – 455,459

10 Cost of sales

11  Research and development costs

12 Distribution costs

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Cost of materials – 57,939 – 35,770

personnel expenses – 371,874 – 355,383

depreciation/amortisation – 15,979 – 17,529

other – 113,754 – 78,111

Reclassification of functional costs – 63,913 – 57,138

Research and development costs – 623,459 – 543,931
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the administrative costs recognised cover all central functions 
that are not directly related to production, development, or dis-

tribution. these essentially consist of the financial, human 
resources, it, and similar departments.

Currency gains of € 14,080 thousand (prior year: € 19,975 thou-
sand) are reported in other financial income and, correspondingly, 
currency losses of € 37,655 thousand (prior year: € 33,378 thou-

sand) incurred in financial transactions are reported in other 
financing costs. 

other income amounted to € 48,577 thousand in fiscal year 
2015/2016 (prior year: € 52,074 thousand). this also includes 
€ 6,472 thousand (prior year: € 3,136 thousand) in government 
grants, release of provisions of € 2,446 thousand (prior year: 
€ 1,301 thousand) and insurance indemnification of € 1,231 
thousand (prior year: € 4,663 thousand).

other expenses of € 34,659 thousand (prior year: € 35,776 thou-
sand) include an amount of € 19,789 thousand due to the loss of 
a supplier in China (see also comments in management report). 
in addition to the impairment of € 5,611 thousand (prior year: 
€ 4,620 thousand) of goodwill (see also note 27), other expenses 

include further cross-function costs of € 14,178 thousand. the 
reclassification of function costs reflected in other income and 
expenses came to € 286,175 thousand in the fiscal year (prior 
year: € 280,727 thousand). 

in addition, the voluntary severance and partial retirement pro-
gramme launched in June 2013 resulted in total costs of 
€ 9,432 thousand (prior year: € 15,382 thousand) in the period 
under review. this cost is reported in the other expenses out-
side the functional areas; in addition, this item is not allocated to 
any segment.

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

interest income 12,330 12,863

income from securities and other loans 6,105 5,615

other financial income 14,080 19,975

Financial income 32,515 38,453
interest expenses – 34,372 – 40,953

other financing costs – 37,655 – 33,378

Financing costs – 72,027 – 74,331
Net financial result – 39,512 – 35,878

13 Administrative costs

14  Other income and expenses

15  Net financial result

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Cost of materials – 44,324 – 51,459

personnel expenses – 186,097 – 182,773

depreciation/amortisation – 37,842 – 34,871

other – 317,570 – 264,478

Reclassification of functional costs 367,594 336,712

Administrative costs – 218,239 – 196,869
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of actual income taxes, € – 15,945 thousand is attributable to 
prior years (prior year: € – 4,956 thousand).

deferred taxes are calculated based on the tax rates applicable 
or announced, depending on the legal situation, in the individual 
countries at the expected time of realisation. the prevailing cor-
porate income tax rate of 15 % plus municipal trade tax and the 

solidarity surcharge results in a tax rate of 30 % for German 
companies. the tax rates outside Germany range from 10 % to 
38.43 %.

the development of the actual taxes on income derived from the 
expected tax expense is shown below. a tax rate of 30 % (prior 
year: 30 %) is taken as a basis.

of the deferred tax assets subsequently recognised, € 9,152 thou-
sand (prior year: € 13,531 thousand) are attributable to loss car-
ryforwards in the Usa. a better positioning in this region and suc-

cessful restructuring measures brought about an improvement 
in the results of operations of the companies there, meaning 
that this item is likely to be used.

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

actual income tax expenses – 119,119 – 114,019

deferred taxes 10,700 15,847

Total income taxes – 108,419 – 98,172

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

earnings before tax 380,280 393,625

Expected tax expense – 114,084 – 118,088
Utilisation of previously unrecognised loss-carryforwards 2,806 0

Reversal of previously unrecognised temporary differences 728 1,294

Unrecognised deferred tax assets – 17,256 – 11,767

subsequent recognition of deferred tax assets 17,681 22,182

deferred tax assets from outside basis differences – 1,416 – 13,275

tax effect of changes in tax rates and laws 30 – 306

tax-free income effects 3,440 10,586

associates accounted for using the equity method 15,894 14,177

tax effect of non-deductible operating expenses – 14,098 – 9,292

tax effect for prior years – 15,945 – 4,956

non-deductible foreign withholding tax – 3,575 – 4,508

Change in tax rate 16,803 16,461

other 573 – 680

Effective tax expense – 108,419 – 98,172

16 Income taxes

the average number of employees in the companies included in 
the consolidated financial statements totals 35,201 (prior year: 
34,085) during fiscal year 2015/2016. 

17 Personnel
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personnel expenses (including temporary employees) can be broken down as follows:

permanent employees in the Hella Group by region:

the average number of permanent employees in the Hella 
Group in fiscal year 2015/2016 was 32,708 (prior year: 31,484). 
the number of employees is stated as a headcount.

direct employees are directly involved in the manufacturing pro-
cess, while indirect employees are employed mainly in the areas 
of quality, research and development, as well as administration 
and distribution. the number of apprentices stood at 449 during 
the fiscal year (prior year: 442). “temporary employees” com-
prises employees from a fully consolidated company.

Number 2015/2016 2014/2015

direct employees 8,687 8,609

indirect employees 24,021 22,875

Permanent employees 32,708 31,484
temporary employees 2,493 2,601

Total employees 35,201 34,085

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

wages and salaries 1,164,906 1,139,162
social security and pension contributions 270,642 289,903
Total 1,435,548 1,429,065

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Germany 9,656 9,681

Rest of europe 12,720 11,740

north and south america 4,551 4,436

asia/pacific/Row 5,781 5,627

Permanent workforce worldwide 32,708 31,484

Undiluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the share 
of earnings attributable to the shareholders of Hella KGaa 
Hueck & Co. by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
issued. 

an issue of new capital on 7 november 2014 increased the num-
ber of outstanding shares by 11,111,112 to 111,111,112. 

in this respect, 100,000,000 no-par value shares were included 
in the 2014/2015 weighting during the period from 1 June 2014 
to 6 november 2014, and 111,111,112 no-par value shares in 
the period from 7 november 2014 (daily balance calculation).

Undiluted earnings per share amounted to € 2.42 and are equiv-
alent to diluted earnings per share.

18  Earnings per share
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external segment reporting is based on internal reporting (so- 
called management approach). segment reporting is based 
solely on financial information used by the company’s decision 
makers for the internal management of the company and to 
make decisions regarding the allocation of resources and 
measurement of profitability. 

the lighting and electronics business divisions are reported 
together in the automotive segment. Both business divisions 
serve a similar customer base worldwide. Consequently, both 
segments are subject to broadly similar economic cycles and 
market developments. in addition, the individual products have 
comparable lifecycles. original equipment provides lighting and 
electronics components to automobile manufacturers and other 
tier-1 suppliers worldwide through an integrated distribution net-
work. the product portfolio of the lighting business division 
includes headlamps, signal lamps, interior lamps, and lighting 
electronics. the electronics business division focuses on the prod-
uct areas of body electronics, energy management, as well as 

driver assistance systems and components (e. g. sensors and 
engine compartment actuators). the automotive segment devel-
ops, produces and sells vehicle-specific solutions, and develops 
and brings to market technological innovations. the margins 
attainable within the segment are mainly dependent on the 
respective technology used, and to a lesser extent on custom-
ers, regions, and products.

the aftermarket business segment is responsible for the trade 
in automotive parts and accessories, and the wholesale busi-
ness. the trade product portfolio includes service parts for the 
lighting, electrical, electronics, and thermal management seg-
ments. in addition, the automotive parts and accessories busi-
nesses and garages receive sales support through a modern, 
rapid information and ordering system, as well as through com-
petent technical service. the aftermarket segment makes only 
limited use of the automotive segment’s resources, and largely 
produces the independently developed items in its own plants. 

the management Board will propose to the annual General meet-
ing of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. that a dividend of € 0.77 per share 
be distributed from the net profit reported in the separate financial 
statements prepared for the parent company under commercial 

law for fiscal year 2015/2016, with the remainder of the net profit 
carried forward. the proposed dividend represents a distribution 
amount of € 85,556 thousand.

19 Appropriation of earnings

20 Segment reporting

Number of shares 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Weighted average number of shares in circulation during the period  
ordinary shares, undiluted 111,111,112 106,270,929

ordinary shares, diluted 111,111,112 106,270,929

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

share of profit attributable to owners of the parent company 268,500 286,995

€ 2015/2016 2014/2015

Earnings per share, undiluted 2.42 2.70
Earnings per share, diluted 2.42 2.70
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the segment information for fiscal years 2015/2016 and 2014/2015 is as follows:

automotive aftermarket special applications

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015

sales with third-party companies 4,803,835 4,364,166 1,197,249 1,130,867 314,682 308,479

inter-segment sales 38,983 226,418 49,491 56,014 1,172 1,316

Cost of sales – 3,671,482 – 3,536,127 – 831,126 – 797,578 – 211,988 – 199,392

Gross profit 1,171,336 1,054,457 415,614 389,304 103,866 110,403

Research and development costs – 591,782 – 511,637 – 15,045 – 15,634 – 16,902 – 16,661

distribution costs – 116,193 – 100,370 – 310,504 – 292,354 – 67,107 – 62,419

administrative costs – 171,022 – 150,959 – 30,076 – 26,713 – 15,310 – 14,877

other income and expenses 4,455 13,952 13,507 12,235 434 2,450

Result of investments accounted for using the equity method 46,383 49,048 6,596 6,295 0 0

Earnings before interest payments and income taxes 343,177 354,492 80,092 73,133 4,981 18,896

additions to non-current assets 447,753 388,689 28,118 26,440 16,316 11,363

the special applications segment comprises original equipment 
for special-purpose vehicles such as busses, caravans, agricul-
tural and construction machinery, municipal vehicles and trail-
ers. technological competence is closely linked to automotive 
business, which means that the range of applications in led 
and electronic products can be expanded appropriately and syn-
ergies leveraged at the same time.

the segments together generated sales of € 805,080 thousand 
(prior year: € 751,730 thousand) with a single customer in the 
year under review and therefore accounted for more than 10 % 
of consolidated sales. 

all other Group segments are subordinate in terms of their eco-
nomic significance and are therefore not segmented further. 
their functions relate mainly to Group financing.

sales as well as the net operating profit/loss before interest and 
income taxes (eBit) are the key indicators used to manage the 
business segments; assets and liabilities are not reported. the 
internal reporting applies the same accounting and measure-
ment principles as the consolidated financial statements. spe-
cial items that are not included in the segment results are iden-
tified for the individual reporting periods. these special items 
are presented in the reconciliation table.
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Reconciliation of the segment results with consolidated net profit/loss:

sales reconciliation:

non-current assets by region:

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Germany 904,262 902,246

eastern europe 671,772 603,567

Rest of europe 82,100 84,905

north and south america 292,719 253,761

asia/pacific 406,271 433,568

Row 3,115 3,033

Consolidated non-current assets 2,360,239 2,281,080

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

EBIT of the reporting segments 428,250 446,521

eBit of other divisions 974 925

Unallocated income – 9,432 – 17,943

Consolidated EBIT 419,792 429,503

net financial result – 39,512 – 35,878

Consolidated EBT 380,280 393,625

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Total sales of the reporting segments 6,405,412 6,087,260

sales in other divisions 96,459 87,758

elimination of intersegment sales – 149,982 – 340,328

Consolidated sales 6,351,889 5,834,691

sales with external third parties in fiscal years 2015/2016 and 2014/2015 are as follows:

automotive aftermarket special applications

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015

sales from the sale of goods 4,673,397 4,233,659 1,196,098 1,128,194 314,152 303,788

sales arising from the rendering of services 130,439 130,507 1,152 2,673 529 4,691

the voluntary partial retirement and severance payment pro-
gramme that was initiated in June 2013 led to expense of € 9,432 

thousand (prior year: € 17,943 thousand), which is attributable to 
income and expenses outside the reported segments.
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€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Non-current Current non-current Current

securities 175 328,117 149 402,778

other investments 10,420 0 10,925 0

loans 6,407 339 8,559 204

other financial assets 31 334 20 2,095

Total 17,033 328,790 19,653 405,077

trade receivables of € 937,471 thousand include receivables due 
from associated, non-consolidated affiliated companies and com-
panies in which an interest is held amounting to € 50,961 thou-

sand (prior year: € 45,898 thousand). other non-current assets 
include non-current trade receivables amounting to € 29,661 thou-
sand (prior year: € 38,347 thousand).

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Trade receivables 50,961 45,898
 with associates and equity investments 50,371 45,199

    with affiliated companies not included in the consolidated financial statements 590 699

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

other current assets 27,248 21,272

insurance receivables 4,928 16,434

positive market value of currency hedges 6,475 5,457

Subtotal other financial assets 38,651 43,163
 other non-financial assets 5,054 0

advance payments 9,071 19,176

prepaid expenses 26,151 18,890

Receivables for partial retirement 654 2,323

advance payments to employees 2,251 1,953

other tax receivables 64,544 66,505

Total 146,376 152,010

22 Financial assets

23  Trade receivables

24  Other receivables and  
current non-financial assets 

the cash and cash equivalent items consist of cash and bank bal-
ances as well as checks.

21 Cash and cash equivalents



145CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT notes to tHe statement oF FinanCial position

inventories are broken down as follows:

overall, the following impairments on inventories were recognised:

the carrying amounts of the inventories recognised at fair value 
less cost of sales amounted to € 170,513 thousand (prior year: 
€ 186,713 thousand).

impairments amounting to € 12,032 thousand (prior year: € 14,565 
thousand) were reversed in the past fiscal year, as the impaired 

the historical cost of inventories amounting to € 3,382,205 thou-
sand (prior year: € 3,067,336 thousand) was recognised as 

inventories were sold at higher values. impairments and write-ups 
on inventory assets are recognised in the cost of sales. 

impairments of € 17,717 thousand (prior year: € 14,602 thousand) 
were recognised in the income statement in the year under 
review.

expenses in the period under review, as well as reductions in 
inventory of € 38,083 thousand (prior year: € 53,171 thousand).

this item primarily comprises sites and buildings of disused pro-
duction sites that are not assigned to any segment subject to 
reporting requirements. Hella expects these sites and build-
ings to be sold within one year. in fiscal year 2015/2016, impair-

ments affecting profit and loss were made in the amount of € 433 
thousand (prior year: € 2,560 thousand) and reported in the con-
solidated net profit/loss under other income and expenses.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Raw materials and supplies 184,833 184,613

Unfinished goods 184,867 186,625

Finished goods 74,693 84,005

merchandise 192,961 179,902

other 8,690 2,779

Gross inventories 646,044 637,924
advance payments received – 38,460 – 29,071

Total inventories 607,584 608,853

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Raw materials and supplies 18,809 15,173

Unfinished goods 3,611 4,918

Finished goods 7,918 4,183

merchandise 8,010 8,389

Total inventories 38,348 32,663

25  Inventories

26  Non-current assets held for sale
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€ thousand

Capitalised development 
expenses Goodwill

Acquired intangible  
assets Total

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS

As at 1 June 2014 287,034 82,208 151,288 520,530
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 1,844 1,844

Currency translation 3,974 2,625 1,099 7,698

additions 49,414 1,557 19,035 70,006

disposals – 4,908 0 – 1,441 – 6,349

As at 31 May 2015 335,514 86,390 171,825 593,729

CUMULATIVE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

As at 1 June 2014 187,496 19,210 123,896 330,602
Currency translation 1,692 1,038 588 3,318

additions 19,479 0 12,113 31,592

disposals – 1,867 0 – 905 – 2,772

Recorded impairments 5,508 4,620 0 10,128

As at 31 May 2015 212,308 24,868 135,692 372,868

Carrying amounts 31 May 2015 123,206 61,522 36,133 220,861

 
€ thousand

Capitalised development 
expenses Goodwill

Acquired intangible  
assets Total

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS

As at 1 June 2015 335,514 86,390 171,825 593,729
Currency translation – 3,633 – 1,974 – 849 – 6,456

additions 55,067 0 15,668 70,735

disposals – 14,998 – 458 – 1,639 – 17,095

Reclassifications – 60 0 60 0

As at 31 May 2016 371,890 83,958 185,065 640,913

CUMULATIVE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

As at 1 June 2015 212,308 24,868 135,692 372,868
Currency translation – 1,098 – 930 – 493 – 2,521

additions 22,533 0 16,948 39,481

disposals – 10,287 – 174 – 1,633 – 12,094

Recorded impairments 12,534 5,611 13 18,158

As at 31 May 2016 235,990 29,375 150,527 415,892

Carrying amounts 31 May 2016 135,900 54,583 34,539 225,021

27  Intangible assets
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Goodwill impairment monitoring in the Hella Group is based 
on the CGUs in the operative segments. a cash generating unit 
does not extend beyond its business segment. CGUs represent 
the smallest group of assets that generate cash flows, and are, 
hence, the smallest reporting units. a CGU can either be a legal 
entity or – insofar as a legal entity operates in different segments 
– a segmented business division of this legal entity or a subgroup. 

if it is determined that the recoverable amount of a CGU is lower 
than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. the 
recoverable amount is determined on the basis of the expected 
future discounted cash flows from planned use (value in use). 

these are based on plans approved by the management Board 
covering a period of at least three years. these plans are based 
on experience, as well as expectations regarding future market 
developments. 

the discount rates applied within the scope of the measure-
ment are calculated on the basis of market data. as in the prior 
year, consistent growth rates were used to extrapolate cash 
flows after the detailed planning phase. the growth rates are 
based on analyses conducted by a specialist service provider 
and do not exceed the non-current growth rates for the sector or 
the region in which the CGUs are active. 

Goodwill
Goodwill is broken down into the business segments as follows:

all capitalised development expenses resulted from internal 
developments, the relevant impairments were created due to 
reduced earnings expectations and are included in the cost of 
sales in the automotive segment.

a discount rate of 7.11 % was applied in this connection. intangi-
ble assets include carrying amounts of € 126 thousand (prior year: 
€ 197 thousand) relating to finance leases. these serve as collat-
eral for the finance lease liabilities. please refer to note 43 “disclo-
sures on leases” for additional information on future leasing pay-
ments. 

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

automotive 6,729 12,816 

aftermarket 47,854 48,428 

special applications 0 278 

Total 54,583 61,522 
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the risk-free interest rate applied is 1.29 % (prior year: 1.29 %) and 
the market risk premium (incl. country risk) ranges between 
6.00 % and 9.66 % (prior year: between 6.00 % and 9.75 %). the 
inflation spreads applied ranged between – 0.17 % and 6.33 % 
(prior year: between 0.0 % and 7.17 %). 

the reduction in goodwill is attributable primarily to the good-
will impairment deriving from the lighting business of a company 
based in China. the company develops, produces and sells head-
lamps and rear combination lamps to international and local cus-
tomers. Following the loss of a Chinese supplier the group unit 
was subjected to an impairment test and fully impaired as a result 
(€ 5,611 thousand). this impairment loss was reported under 
other income and expenses of the automotive segment (see note 
14). the discount rate applied when determining the recoverable 
amount was 9.26 % (prior year: 9.26 %). moreover, a company 
with goodwill totaling € 278 thousand in the special applications 
business segment was deconsolidated. 

Hella reports material goodwill in the amount of € 38,733 thou-
sand (prior year: € 38,738 thousand) stemming from the CGU 
Hella Gutmann Holding GmbH. the significant valuation param-
eters for this CGU are a discount rate of 7.84 % (prior year: 
7.51 %) and a growth rate of 2 % (prior year: 2 %). sales growth 
of 4 % (prior year: 6 %) is anticipated during the detailed forecast 
period.

in addition to impairment testing, two sensitivity analyses were 
carried out for each group of cash-generating units. the most 
important sensitivity indicators for the impairment test are the 
discount rate and long-term growth rate. a sensitivity analysis 
performed for the business segments found that a 1 percentage 
point increase in the waCC or a 1 percentage point reduction in 
the long-term growth rate would not change the outcome of the 
impairment test in the aftermarket and automotive segments. 

the following impairments (–) would arise:

discount rates Growth rates

31 May 2016 31 may 2015 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

automotive 7.84 % to 12.83 % 7.51 % to 15.33 % 1 % to 3 % 1 % to 3 %

aftermarket 7.84 % to 18.41 % 7.51 % to 16.11 % 0 % to 3 % 1 % to 3 %

31 May 2016 31 may 2015

automotive segment
Change in 

€ thousand
Change in 

€ thousand
Change in  

€ thousand
Change in  

€ thousand
 
Change in percentage points

 
WACC

Long-term 
growth rate

 
waCC

long-term 
growth rate

 – 1 percentage point 0 0 0 – 253

 + 1 percentage point 0 0 – 1,781 0

31 May 2016 31 may 2015

aftermarket segment
Change in 

€ thousand
Change in 

€ thousand
Change in  

€ thousand
Change in  

€ thousand

 
Change in percentage points

 
WACC

Long-term 
growth rate

 
waCC

long-term 
growth rate

 – 1 percentage point 0 0 0 – 1,768

 + 1 percentage point 0 0 – 6,743 0
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 € thousand
Land  

and buildings

Technical  
equipment  

and machines
Production 
equipment

Other equipment,  
operating and  

office equipment
Assets under  
construction Total

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS

As at 1 June 2014 672,493 1,816,607 1,011,453 421,616 223,190 4,145,359
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 24 0 34 0 58

Currency translation 23,526 62,376 0 9,705 17,986 113,593

additions 15,228 114,066 28,825 43,317 226,977 428,413

disposals – 5,009 – 40,815 – 6,164 – 17,299 – 3,965 – 73,252

Reclassifications 22,988 113,138 43,261 11,641 – 191,028 0

As at 31 May 2015 729,226 2,065,396 1,077,375 469,014 273,160 4,614,171

CUMULATIVE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

As at 1 June 2014 303,190 1,276,730 834,902 300,483 446 2,715,751
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0

Currency translation 6,671 35,307 0 6,240 4 48,222

additions 23,882 155,017 69,832 40,407 0 289,138

disposals – 1,466 – 31,401 – 4,997 – 16,183 0 – 54,047

Recorded impairments 0 2,776 0 0 0 2,776

Reclassifications 535 2,037 0 – 2,167 – 405 0

As at 31 May 2015 332,812 1,440,466 899,737 328,780 45 3,001,840

Carrying amounts 31 May 2015 396,414 624,930 177,638 140,234 273,115 1,612,331

28 Property, plant and equipment
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Restrictions on the powers of disposition over property, plant 
and equipment exist in the form of land charges and assign-
ments to the amount of € 2,629 thousand (prior year: € 2,871 thou-
sand). 

property, plant and equipment include carrying amounts of 
€ 913 thousand (prior year: € 3,571 thousand) relating to finance 
leases. please refer to note 43 “disclosures on leases” for addi-
tional information on future leasing payments. 

impairments are recognised in the cost of sales. they are essen-
tially caused by the changed general economic conditions in con-
nection with the loss of the supplier in China (see also note 14) 
and thus included in the automotive segment.

 

€ thousand
Land  

and buildings

Technical  
equipment  

and machines
Production 
equipment

Other equipment,  
operating and  

office equipment
Assets under  
construction Total

ACQUISITION OR MANUFACTURING COSTS

As at 1 June 2015 729,226 2,065,396 1,077,375 469,014 273,160 4,614,171
Currency translation – 19,714 – 49,347 – 1,590 – 15,022 – 11,090 – 96,763

additions 34,504 124,124 58,747 37,219 235,361 489,955

disposals – 11,646 – 48,528 – 51,874 – 13,394 – 3,496 – 128,939

Reclassifications 13,890 6,805 236,298 – 26,223 – 230,770 0

As at 31 May 2016 746,260 2,098,450 1,318,956 451,594 263,165 4,878,425

CUMULATIVE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

As at 1 June 2015 332,812 1,440,466 899,737 328,780 45 3,001,840
Currency translation – 4,507 – 28,842 – 1,132 – 8,804 0 – 43,285

additions 22,592 165,601 102,102 37,337 0 327,632

disposals – 9,183 – 45,963 – 48,917 – 11,720 0 – 115,783

Recorded impairments 0 8,242 1,857 133 250 10,482

Reclassifications 103 – 107,759 122,717 – 15,061 0 0

As at 31 May 2016 341,817 1,431,745 1,076,364 330,665 295 3,180,886

Carrying amounts 31 May 2016 404,443 666,705 242,592 120,929 262,870 1,697,539
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the following is a list of the Group’s main investments accounted 
for using the equity method. the summarised financial informa-
tion represents the iFRs financial statements of the joint ventures 
that were the basis for the at-equity measurement in the Group.

BHTC
Behr-Hella thermocontrol Gruppe (BHtC) consists of eight com-
panies that are controlled and reported together by Behr-Hella 
thermocontrol GmbH in Germany. BHtC develops, produces and 
distributes air-conditioning control devices for the automotive 
industry. it also focuses on the assembling of printed circuit boards 
and mounting of operating units, blower controllers and elec-
tronic control units for electric heater boosters.

 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Share of equity (%) 50 50

€ thousand
Cash and cash equivalents 34,693 42,420

other current assets 98,024 90,665

non-current assets 261,048 232,850

Total assets 393,765 365,935
Current financial liabilities 16,567 30,000

other current liabilities 105,270 114,021

non-current financial liabilities 106,630 41,059

other non-current liabilities 33,077 30,097

Total liabilities 261,544 215,176

Net assets (100 %) 132,221 150,758
Proportional share of net assets 66,110 75,379

sales 386,410 360,518

scheduled depreciation and amortisation – 39,164 – 31,575

interest income 158 232

interest expenses – 2,067 – 1,750

taxes on income – 9,152 – 1,526

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 27,517 26,397
earnings for the period 16,457 23,353

other comprehensive income for the period – 6,792 10,540

Comprehensive income for the period 9,665 33,893
share of comprehensive income for the period 4,832 16,947

Dividends received 7,500 3,500

29 I nvestments accounted for  
using the equity method
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HBPO
Hella Behr plastic omnium (HBpo), consisting of 26 companies 
that are controlled and reported together by HBpo Beteiligungs-
gesellschaft mbH in Germany, has global operations in the fields 

of development, production planning, quality management, 
assembly and distribution of front-end modules.

 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Share of equity (%) 50 50

€ thousand
Cash and cash equivalents 4,701 20,342

other current assets 64,367 53,996

non-current assets 41,463 41,576

Total assets 110,531 115,914
Current financial liabilities 322 94

other current liabilities 20,155 18,654

non-current financial liabilities 40,000 40,000

other non-current liabilities 413 395

Total liabilities 60,890 59,143

Net assets (100 %) 49,641 56,770
Proportional share of net assets 24,821 28,385

sales 141,759 130,689

scheduled depreciation and amortisation – 332 – 548

interest income 149 155

interest expenses – 644 – 741

taxes on income – 4,852 – 5,256

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 17,491 18,581
earnings for the period 11,863 12,884

other comprehensive income for the period – 991 179

Comprehensive income for the period  10,872 13,063
share of comprehensive income for the period  5,436 6,532

Dividends received 6,234 4,295

BHS
Behr Hella service (BHs) comprises five companies that are con-
trolled and reported together by Behr Hella service GmbH in 

Germany. it serves the global independent aftermarket for vehi-
cle air conditioning and cooling spare parts and accessories.
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 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Share of equity (%) 33 33

€ thousand
Cash and cash equivalents 43,554 46,353

other current assets 260,925 212,610

non-current assets 102,523 91,335

Total assets 407,002 350,298
Current financial liabilities 0 0

other current liabilities 301,858 252,846

non-current financial liabilities 0 0

other non-current liabilities 8,975 7,531

Total liabilities 310,833 260,377

Net assets (100 %) 96,169 89,921
Proportional share of net assets 32,053 29,971

sales 1,766,219 1,513,127

scheduled depreciation and amortisation – 18,256 – 16,676

interest income 70 127

interest expenses – 274 – 65

taxes on income – 13,980 – 11,839

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 52,682 44,136
earnings for the period 40,171 33,820

other comprehensive income for the period – 3,923 2,858

Comprehensive income for the period 36,248 36,678
share of comprehensive income for the period 12,081 12,225

Dividends received 10,000 9,999

the Group also has shares in further joint ventures and associates, which are also accounted for using the equity method; their 
summarised financial information is presented below:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

100 % basis
sales 990,791 907,377

earnings before interest and income taxes (eBit) 63,730 70,267

Group’s total carrying amount of share in associates of:
sales 433,658 418,955

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 26,933 32,195
share of consolidated net profit/loss for the period 20,530 29,978

other consolidated net profit/loss for the period – 5,922 9,169

Comprehensive income for the period recognised in the Group 14,608 39,147
Carrying amount of the remaining companies accounted for using the equity method 131,753 130,312
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the financial information for all joint ventures and all associates is as follows:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

100 % basis   

sales 3,285,180 2,911,711

earnings before interest and income taxes (eBit) 161,420 161,177

Group’s total carrying amount of share in associates of:
sales 1,286,424 1,168,884

Earnings before interest and income taxes (EBIT) 66,996 70,292
share of consolidated net profit/loss for the period 52,979 55,336

other consolidated net profit/loss for the period – 13,670 22,648

Comprehensive income for the period recognised in the Group 39,309 77,984

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Share of net assets at 1 June 266,768 239,516
earnings for the period after intragroup eliminations 52,979 55,336

other consolidated net profit/loss for the period – 13,682 22,648

Capital reduction – 2,766 – 13,200

Capital contribution 0 16,927

sale of shares 0 – 19,306

dividends – 41,852 – 35,152

Share of net assets at 31 May 261,448 266,768

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

share of net assets attributable to BHtC 66,110 75,379

share of net assets attributable to BHs 24,821 28,385

share of net assets attributable to HBpo 32,053 29,971

sum of assigned goodwill 7,140 7,140

eliminations through consolidation – 429 – 4,419

Net assets of material companies accounted for using the equity method 129,695 136,456
Group’s carrying amount of the net assets of the other  
companies accounted for using the equity method 134,739 139,139

Goodwill and eliminations through consolidation – 2,986 – 8,827

Net assets of other companies accounted for using the equity method 131,753 130,312
Investments accounted for using the equity method 261,448 266,768

the share of losses not recognised for the aforementioned companies accounted for using the equity method is € 4,343 thousand 
(prior year: € 5,255 thousand). the recognised net assets of all joint ventures and all associates is broken down as follows:
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the deferred tax assets of € 122,954 thousand (prior year: 
€ 118,562 thousand) and deferred tax liabilities of € 25,767 thou-
sand (prior year: € 24,882 thousand) mainly relate to differences 
from the tax balance sheet values. Before offsetting and impair-

ment, the current portion of the deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties amounts to € 93,724 thousand and € –51,786 thousand, 
respectively (prior year: € 119,928 thousand and € –74,777 thou-
sand).

the deferred tax assets and liabilities are broken down as follows:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Assets Liabilities assets liabilities

intangible assets 16,381 35,172 6,028 31,666

property, plant and equipment 31,481 67,352 37,756 63,976

Financial assets 5,382 2,255 1,046 3,139

other non-current assets 513 232 0 1,547

Receivables 1,599 113 14,019 527

inventories 14,666 2,630 12,504 8,753

other current assets 4,826 13,365 4,155 16,275

Financial liabilities (non-current) 2,238 0 6 1,902

provisions for pensions  
and similar obligations 52,910 3,914

 
55,345

 
969

other provisions (non-current) 13,348 0 19,698 0

other non-current liabilities 397 1,148 125 2,245

liabilities 901 663 749 12,213

other liabilities and  
deferred debts 65,907 34,695

 
83,246

 
34,414

other current liabilities 5,825 320 4,455 2,594

Subtotal 216,374 161,859 239,132 180,221
loss carryforwards 42,672 0 34,769 0
netting – 136,092 – 136,092 – 155,339 – 155,339

Total 122,954 25,767 118,562 24,882

it is guaranteed with sufficient probability that the loss carryfor-
wards for which deferred tax assets are recognised will be re alised. 
the amount of the loss carryforwards for which no deferred tax 
assets are recognised was € 289,558 thousand as at 31 may 2016 
(prior year: € 293,453 thousand). Future offsetting against tax-

able profits is unlikely. of this amount, € 147,666 thousand will 
mature in the next five years, and € 141,893 thousand thereafter. 
tax assets arising from temporary differences for which no 
deferred tax assets were recognised amounted to € 3,060 thou-
sand at 31 may 2016 (prior year: € 1,728 thousand).

30  Deferred non-current  
tax assets/liabilities

deferred taxes that were recognised in other comprehensive income in the current period:

 
€ thousand Before taxes

tax income/ 
 (tax expenses)

 
after taxes

Financial instruments for cash flow hedging 29,239 – 5,201 24,038

available-for-sale financial instruments – 6,847 – 497 – 7,344

Revaluation from defined benefit pension plans 7,661 – 2,644 5,017

Change in fair value 30,053 – 8,342 21,711
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in the past fiscal year, there were liabilities to associated, non- 
consolidated affiliated companies and companies in which par-

ticipating interests are held in the amount of € 30,585 thousand 
(prior year: € 32,932 thousand). 

 
€ thousand Before taxes

tax income/ 
 (tax expenses)

 
after taxes

Financial instruments for cash flow hedging – 31,589 6,335 – 25,254

available-for-sale financial instruments 5,710 312 6,022

Revaluation from defined benefit pension plans – 33,756 11,128 – 22,628

Change in fair value – 59,634 17,775 – 41,860

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

materials and services 515,534 453,348

Capital expenditures 87,699 87,613

Related parties 30,585 32,932

with associates and equity investments 29,098 30,876

with affiliated companies not included in the consolidated financial statements 1,487 2,056

Total trade payables 633,818 573,893

32  Trade liabilities

see note 43 for more detailed explanations about receivables 
from leases.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Receivables from finance leases 29,057 35,707

other non-current assets 604 2,640

Subtotal other financial assets 29,661 38,347
advance payments 1,233 1,179

prepaid expenses 3,523 1,411

plan assets 1,827 1,968

Total 36,244 42,905

31  Other non-current assets

deferred taxes that were recognised in other comprehensive income in the prior-year period:
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the advance payments received and reported relate primarily to 
services not yet rendered in full. other non-financial liabilities 

include mainly liabilities from outstanding invoices or credit 
notes of € 126,170 thousand (prior year: € 141,581 thousand).

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Non-current Current non-current Current

derivatives 88,843 5,622 126,839 18,655

other financial liabilities 10,765 157,123 941 190,254

Subtotal other financial liabilities 99,608 162,744 127,781 208,909
other taxes 0 46,782 0 40,167

accrued personnel liabilities 0 190,645 0 169,631

advance payments received on orders 0 22,701 984 19,577

deferred revenue 93,517 115,904 107,607 118,649

other non-financial liabilities 159 19,267 0 0

Total 193,284 558,043 236,371 556,934

33  Other liabilities

the main components of provisions are presented below:

Pension provisions
the Hella Group provides pension benefits to the vast majority 
of its employees in Germany. employees in many of the interna-
tional Hella companies also receive occupational pension ben-
efits. there are both defined benefit and defined contribution 
pension plans.

the benefits provided by the German companies mainly consist 
of pension payments, the amount of which is based on length of 
service and which are paid in the form of old age, disability, and 
survivors’ pensions. in addition, one company has a pension 
scheme whereby members receive a fixed sum depending on 
the income band in which they are classified. all employees can 
also participate in a contribution-based scheme through deferred 
compensation.

the companies continue to remain liable for fulfilment of the pen-
sion entitlements assigned to the pension fund, acting as guar-
antor in the event of non-performance, meaning that the pen-
sion liabilities and trust assets will be included on a net basis in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

the defined benefit pension scheme in Great Britain and ireland 
was closed to newcomers to the company. the same scenario 
is true for the old-age pension provision in the dutch company, 
which also has a defined benefit arrangement. the benefits of 
both of these schemes are calculated on the basis of length of 
service and salary and are paid out when retirement age is reached 
or in the event of disability or death. the dutch scheme also 
allows for additional employee contributions. the various plans 

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Non-current Current non-current Current

pension provisions 242,478 218 241,291 374

other provisions 88,410 65,041 116,355 72,270

Total 330,888 65,259 357,646 72,644

34  Provisions



158 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT notes to tHe statement oF FinanCial position

the funding status and the reconciliation to the balance sheet amounts are presented below:

the amounts carried are made up of the following balance sheet items:

asset cover for the pension provisions was as follows:

31 May 2016 31 may 2015

€ thousand Present value Plan assets present value plan assets

without asset cover 233,106 0 231,310 0

at least partial asset cover 143,659 135,853 150,843 142,444

Total 376,765 135,853 382,153 142,444

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

defined Benefit obligation (dBo) at end of fiscal year 376,765 382,153

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the fiscal year – 135,853 – 142,444

amount not recognised in assets due to asset ceiling 0 4

Recognised amount 240,912 239,713

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

assets from covered pension plans – 1,784 – 1,952

pension provisions 242,696 241,665

Sum of the individual amounts 240,912 239,713

offered by the norwegian company also provide pension pay-
ments. However, the benefits under the employer-financed plan 
are calculated taking into account statutory pension provision. 
the pension is supplemented by an additional employee-financed 
plan.

Besides these systems, whose benefits are paid on an annuity 
basis, employees of the companies in mexico, Korea, india and 
the philippines receive benefits in the form of a single capital 
payment. the amount of the obligation from the respective defined 
benefit plan is determined on the basis of the salary and number 
of years of service. in mexico, the guaranteed pension benefits 
are supplemented by a contribution-based Flex plan into which 
the employer can pay variable contributions. employees in Bos-
nia, slovenia, and France receive a one-off lump capital sum on 

retirement based on their salary. in italy and turkey, a capital 
sum is paid out at the end of the working relationship, irrespec-
tive of the reason for the relationship ending.

Granting of defined benefit plans entails the customary long life, 
inflation, interest rate and market (investment) risks; these risks 
are regularly monitored and assessed.

in the Usa, australia, and mexico, as well as in many european 
and asian companies, employees receive company pension ben-
efits in the form of defined contribution plans. Furthermore, in 
the Usa there are liabilities for the medical care of active employ-
ees, although the costs of these benefits are not borne for for-
mer employees after retirement.
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Change in the present value of pension liabilities:

development of plan assets: 

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

DBO at start of fiscal year 382,153 334,222
Current service cost 8,632 7,661

past service cost 0 – 157

expenses (+)/income (–) plan settlements – 332 0

interest expense 7,490 9,222

actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to changes in demographic assumptions – 430 14

actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to changes in financial assumptions – 8,450 40,181

actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) due to changes in experience-based assumptions  – 753 261

pension payments – 11,280 – 11,045

payments for plan settlements – 295 0

tax payments – 67 – 1

Contributions paid by beneficiaries from the plan 2,315 1,270

Currency effects – 2,218 525

DBO at end of fiscal year 376,765 382,153

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Fair value of plan assets at start of fiscal year 142,444 138,933
expected income from plan assets 2,731 3,810

actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) from the plan assets – 2,269 6,639

employer contributions 1,386 835

Beneficiary contributions 2,315 1,270

pension payments from plan assets – 9,423 – 9,544

payments for plan settlements – 295 0

administrative costs – 86 – 53

Currency effects – 950 554

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the fiscal year 135,853 142,444
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development of the asset ceiling:

the pension cost of the pension plans is broken down as follows:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Current service cost 8,632 7,661
past service cost 0 – 157

expenses (–) / income (+) plan settlements – 332 0

administrative costs 86 53

net interest expense 4,759 5,412

Expense recorded in the consolidated net profit/loss for defined benefit pension plans 13,145 12,969
actuarial gains (–) / losses (+) from scope of obligations – 9,633 40,456

actuarial gains (–) / losses (+) from the plan assets  2,269 – 6,639

actuarial gains (–) / losses (+) from the asset ceiling – 4 4

Income (–) / Expense (+) from revaluation recognised in other comprehensive income – 7,368 33,821
Expense recorded in comprehensive income for defined benefit pension plans 5,777 46,790

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Asset ceiling at start of fiscal year 4 1,528
interest expense 0 0

actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) – 4 4

Reclassification of pensions 0 – 1,528

Asset ceiling at end of fiscal year 0 4

development of the balance sheet amounts

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Balance sheet amount at start of fiscal year 239,713 196,817
service costs 8,386 7,557

net interest expense 4,759 5,412

expense from revaluation recognised in other comprehensive income – 7,368 33,821

pension payments – 1,857 – 1,501

employer contributions – 1,386 – 835

tax payments – 67 – 1

Currency effects – 1,268 – 29

Reclassification of pensions 0 – 1,528

Balance sheet amount at end of fiscal year 240,912 239,713
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actuarial gains/losses recognised in equity:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) at start of fiscal year – 99,487 – 67,058
actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) during the fiscal year 7,368 – 33,821

Reclassification of pensions 0 1,528

Currency effects 240 – 136

other changes 2 0

Actuarial gains (+)/losses (–) at end of fiscal year – 91,877 – 99,487

the present value was measured on the basis of the following assumptions:

the cost of the pension plans was calculated on the basis of the following assumptions:

Germany International
Weighted average in % 31 May 2016 31 may 2015 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

dBo (in € thousand) 337,638 340,925 39,127 41,228

discount rate (in %) 2.02 1.92 3.00 2.74

wage and salary trend (in %) 3.00 3.00 2.31 2.32

pension trend (in %) 1.75 1.75 1.19 1.24

Germany International
Weighted average in % 2015/2016 2014/2015 2015/2016 2014/2015

discount rate 1.92 2.71 2.74 3.66

wage and salary trend 3.00 3.00 2.32 2.88

pension trend 1.75 2.00 1.24 1.20
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the discount rate was determined in 2016 on the basis of the 
yields on the capital markets in the various relevant regions.

the average duration of the defined pension liabilities, weighted on the basis of the present values, is 18 years (prior year: 18 years).

the following table shows how the present value of the defined 
pension liabilities would have changed at the reporting date if 
individual key assumptions had varied.

  31 May 2016 31 may 2015

discount rate
+ 0.5 percentage points – 8.2 % – 8.6 %

– 0.5 percentage points 9.4 % 10.0 %

pension dynamics
+ 0.5 percentage points 5.9 % 6.1 %

– 0.5 percentage points – 5.2 % – 5.5 %

salary dynamics
+ 0.5 percentage points 0.4 % 0.4 %

– 0.5 percentage points – 0.3 % – 0.3 %

mortality risk
+ 10 percentage points – 3.0 % – 3.1 %

– 10 percentage points 3.3 % 3.5 %

Breakdown of plan assets:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

shares 5.39 % 7.11 %

Fixed-income securities 55.27 % 54.59 %

    thereof: no price quotation in an active market 2.04 % 1.47 %

Real estate 0.52 % 0.64 %

    thereof: no price quotation in an active market 0.52 % 0.64 %

investment funds 0.47 % 0.31 %

insurance 36.09 % 35.04 %

    thereof: no price quotation in an active market 36.09 % 35.04 %

Cash 1.87 % 1.87 %

other investments 0.39 % 0.44 %

Total all investment types 100.00 % 100.00 %

the domestic plan assets are largely managed by a pension 
fund. proper management and use of the trust assets is super-
vised by external trustees. the pension fund is also subject to 
supervision by the German Federal Financial supervisory author-
ity (BaFin).

the plan assets do not include any own financial instruments or 
assets used by the Group itself. 

Current income from the plan assets amounted to € 462 thou-
sand in the past fiscal year (prior year: € 10,449 thousand).

the probable contributions for defined benefit pension plans for 
2016/2017 are € 1,181 thousand (prior year: € 1,524 thousand).
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the following overview shows the payments expected for the next ten fiscal years (not discounted, excluding payments from the 
plan assets):

€ thousand  
2016/2017  11,395 

2017/2018  12,448 

2018/2019  12,180 

2019/2020  12,540 

2020/2021  19,876 

total of the years 2021/2022 to 2026/2027  73,375 

Group liabilities arising from defined contribution pension plans 
were recognised in profit and loss in the operating result. the 
expenses amounted to € 78,259 thousand in the fiscal year (prior 
year: € 83,134 thousand). these expenses also include contribu-

tions to public pension insurance funds outside Hella KGaa, 
which total € 73,032 thousand (prior year: € 74,398 thousand) 
for the fiscal year.

other provisions

provisions for warranty obligations comprise burdens for con-
crete isolated cases in the automotive segment, in particular, for 
which the current portion amounts to € 28,969 thousand (prior 
year: € 26,246 thousand). 

provided it meets the capitalisation requirements, the compen-
sation expected in connection with warranty claims is accounted 
for under other assets (€ 4,928 thousand, prior year: 
€ 16,343 thousand). 

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

present value of liability 47,248 45,196

Fair value of plan assets – 28,790 – 26,404

Provision for partial retirement programme 18,458 18,792

 
€ thousand

  
1 June 2015

 
additions

 
Reversals

 
Compounding

 
other Utilisation

 
31 May 2016

severance benefits 11,679 1,568 – 335 0 – 122 – 11,013 1,777
partial retirement programme 18,792 12,341 0 434 – 2,387 – 10,722 18,458

profit-sharing and  
other bonuses 33,398 8,858 – 4,325 2,197 – 1,394 – 5,553 33,181
warranty obligations 71,338 32,832 – 24,626 1,568 – 3,796 – 24,916 52,400
losses on trade receivables 36,708 13,626 – 1,114 1,264 – 1,430 – 13,276 35,778
other provisions 16,710 13,748 – 4,016 174 – 396 – 14,363 11,857
Total 188,625 82,973 – 34,416 5,637 – 9,525 – 79,844 153,451
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the provision for partial retirement programmes corresponds 
to the present value of the obligation on the reporting date less 
the fair value of plan assets on the reporting date. a discount rate 

of 0.45 % was applied (prior year: 0.63 %). the deducted plan assets 
are securities. the change in the fair value of the plan asset is 
recognised under “other” in the provisions table.

Current financial liabilities maturing within a year amounted to 
€ 86,880 thousand (prior year: € 100,221 thousand). 

non-current financial liabilities amounted to € 1,064,789 thou-
sand (prior year: € 1,038,886 thousand) including € 299,426 thou-
sand (prior year: € 298,983 thousand) attributable to a bond with 
a 1.25 % coupon maturing in september 2017 with a nominal vol-
ume of € 300,000 thousand and € 497,723 thousand attribut able 
to a bond with a 2.375 % coupon (prior year: € 497,142 thousand) 
maturing in 2020 and a nominal volume of € 500,000 thousand.

the item also includes € 96,907 thousand (prior year: € 88,268 thou-
sand) attributable to notes certificates denom inated in yen issued 
in 2002 and 2003 with a 30-year maturity, and € 85,223 thousand 
(prior year: € 80,867 thousand) attribut able to a loan granted in 
yen, both of which are fully currency-hedged to a value totaling 
€ 175,177 thousand (prior year: € 175,177 thousand). 

participatory capital of € 5,000 thousand (prior year: € 5,444 thou-
sand), and finance lease liabilities amounting to € 60 thousand 
(prior year: € 700 thousand) are also recognised. 

35 Financial liabilities

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 585,134 602,744

Financial assets 328,790 405,077

Current financial liabilities – 86,880 – 100,221

non-current financial liabilities – 1,064,789 – 1,038,886

Net debt – 237,745 – 131,286
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on the equity and liabilities side, share capital is recognised at 
its nominal value under the “subscribed capital” item. the share 
capital amounts to € 222,222 thousand. the no-par value shares 
are issued to the bearer. all issued shares are fully paid up. each 
share confers a right to vote and a right to dividends if distribu-
tions are agreed. 

other retained earnings of the parent company and past earn-
ings of consolidated companies are included under the item “other 
retained earnings/profit carried forward”, unless they have been 
distributed. this item also includes the statutory reserve of the 
parent company. the statutory reserve is subject to the distribu-
tion restrictions specified in the German stock Corporation act 
(aktiengesetz – aktG).

offsetting of differences in assets and liabilities arising from the 
capital consolidation of subsidiaries consolidated before 1 June 
2006, and the adjustments recognised directly in equity for the 
first-time adoption of iFRs are also included in this item. ac -
tuarial gains and losses recognised directly in equity, the differ-
ences arising from the currency translation of the annual finan-
cial statements of foreign subsidiaries not recognised in the 
income statement and the impact arising from the measure-
ment of derivative financial instruments acquired for hedging 
purposes and financial assets not recognised in profit or loss, as 
well as financial assets from the available-for-sale category, 
are also recognised in this item. a detailed overview of the com-
position and changes in the results recognised directly in equity 
is presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

actuarial losses before taxes of € 7,368 thousand (prior year: 
losses of € 33,821 thousand) were recognised in the period. the 
change in value of the defined benefit liabilities or of the assigned 
plan assets is attributable to calculation parameters and in par-
ticular the discount rate used here, which was 2.02 % at the end 
of may 2016 (may 2015: 1.92 %).

on 25 september 2015, dividends totalling € 85,556 thousand 
(€ 0.77 per no-par value share) were distributed to owners of 
the parent company. dividends in the amount of € 1,056 thou-
sand were paid to non-controlling interests during the period. 

on 30 september 2015, further shares in the polish company 
inter-team were acquired. the purchase price was € 33,296 
thousand. this did not lead to any change in the accounting 
method, as inter-team was already fully consolidated. the 
company now holds a 100 % share in inter-team after the pur-
chase. specifically, the Group recognised:

  a € 6,889 thousand reduction in non-controlling interests
  a € 26,262 thousand reduction in other retained earnings
  a € 146 thousand reduction in the currency translation 
reserve.

the carrying amount of the net assets of inter-team in the con-
solidated financial statements amounted to € 13,778 thousand at 
the time of acquisition.

36 Equity
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the following is a summary of the impact of changes in the Group’s 
investment in inter-team:

€ thousand
share of company as at 1 June 2015 6,291

impact of increase in the investment 6,889

share of comprehensive income 2,208

Share of company as at 31 May 2016 15,388

Furthermore, the remaining 21.01 % share in the danish auto-
motive parts wholesaler FtZ was also acquired during the period 
under review for a purchase price of € 24,493 thousand. the 
company holds a 100 % share in FtZ after the purchase. as FtZ 
was already fully consolidated, this did not lead to any change in 
the accounting method. specifically, the Group recognised:

  a € 18,556 thousand reduction in  
non-controlling interests
  a € 5,923 thousand reduction in other retained earnings
  a € 13 thousand reduction in the currency translation 
reserve.

the carrying amount of the net assets of FtZ in the consolidated 
financial statements amounted to € 88,326 thousand at the time 
of acquisition.

the following is a summary of the impact of changes in the Group’s 
investment in FtZ:

€ thousand
share of company as at 1 June 2015 64,171

impact of increase in the investment 18,556

share of comprehensive income 19,468

Share of company as at 31 May 2016 102,195

the remaining 40 % of the american company Hella mining were 
also acquired and the company was subsequently merged with 
Hella inc. the negative share of non-controlling interests of 
€ 145 thousand was reclassified accordingly as a capital reserve. 
specifically, the Group recognised:

  a € 145 thousand reduction in non-controlling interests
  a € 123 thousand reduction in other retained earnings
  a € 22 thousand reduction in the currency translation 
reserve.

the Group aims to maintain a strong equity base. the Group 
strives to strike a balance between a higher return on equity, 
which would be possible through greater leverage, and the advan-
tages and security offered by a solid equity position. the Group 
is aiming for a ratio of less than 1.0 for net debt to operating 
result before depreciation/amortisation (eBitda) in the long term. 
on 31 may the ratio was 0.3. 
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net cash flow from financing activity includes dividends paid of 
€ 86,612 thousand. they consist of payments of € 85,556 thou-
sand (€ 0.77 per share) to the owners of the parent company 
and payments to non-controlling interests amounting to 
€ 1,056 thousand.

Hella makes considerable investments in customer-specific 
operating equipment, which is capitalised as economic property 
in the Group’s non-current assets. due to the considerable up-front 
investments in such operating equipment, Hella sometimes 
receives from customers – as an advance on delivery of parts 
– reimbursement payments, which are reported as deferred 
income as prepayment on sales.

in accordance with ias 7, payments for procuring operating equip-
ment must be allocated to investing activities in the cash flow 
statement, whereas cash proceeds from customer reimburse-
ments as a prepayment on sales must be economically assigned 
to operating activity.

Regardless of the means of presentation in accordance with the 
accounting standard, the cash flows from procurement of oper-

ating equipment and customer reimbursements are grouped in 
internal reporting together with the other payments for and pro-
ceeds from property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
to give the key indicator “net capital expenditure”, since advance 
payment of the customer reimbursements reduces the funding 
requirement for capital expenditures at the time they are needed 
and is therefore a major factor in investment decisions. 

adjusted operating cash flow is used as a performance indicator 
for internal Group management. this indicator is designed to 
show cash flows from business operations. it is calculated based 
on cash generated from operating activities as well as incoming 
and outgoing payments for investments in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment. Cash flows from income or 
expenses which are non-recurrent in nature are not taken into 
consideration when calculating adjusted operating cash flow. 
the cash flow resulting from the reduced sale of trade receiva-
bles amounting to € 30,000 thousand is not included on account 
of its non-operational character. the development of adjusted 
operating cash flow is shown in the table below:

37  Notes to the cash flow statement

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Net cash flow from operating activities 602,153 559,922
Cash proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 9,049 16,458

Cash proceeds from the sale of intangible assets 4,940 3,602

payments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment – 489,869 – 429,489

payments for the purchase of intangible assets – 70,735 – 68,449

- total cash investments – 546,615 – 477,878

= Operating cash flow 55,538 82,044
+ severance and partial retirement payments 15,094 38,449

+ loss of supplier 33,758 0

+ Reduction in factoring volume 30,000 0

= Adjusted operating cash flow 134,390 120,493
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the business relationships with related parties operate under 
normal market conditions. they do not fundamentally differ 
from supply and service relationships with third parties. the 
Hella Group concluded no significant transactions with related 
party individuals.

For assuming personal liability in its role as General partner, 
Hella Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH receives a fee of 
€ 1 thousand (prior year: € 1 thousand). 

in addition, this company is entitled to claim compensation from 
Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. for all of the expenses arising in con-
nection with the management of the company’s business activi-
ties, including the remuneration of the management bodies. 

Remuneration for management in key positions:

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

short-term benefits 16,753 19,887

post-employment benefits 386 347

other long-term benefits 846 219

termination benefits 6,720 0

Total 24,705 20,453

Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. and its subsidiaries maintain busi-
ness relationships with many companies and individuals in the 
course of their normal operations. in addition to the business rela-
tionships with fully consolidated companies, relationships exist 
with joint ventures, associates and companies in which an inter-
est is held that are classified as related parties under ias 24.

there are supply and service relationships between companies 
within the scope of consolidation and related parties, particularly 
with associates and non-consolidated affiliates. the outstanding 
items from the purchase and sale of goods and services between 
companies in the scope of consolidation and associates, as well 
as non-consolidated affiliates, are presented under the respec-
tive items. For further information on goods and services, see 
notes 23 and 32.

the following transactions were made with related parties:

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015
Income from the sale of goods and services 201,679 216,898
 with associates 14,748 10,217

 with joint ventures 186,174 206,233

 with investments 0 0

 with affiliated companies not included in the consolidated financial statements 757 448

Expenses from the purchase of goods and services 158,799 142,315
 with associates 831 260

 with joint ventures 123,850 99,108

 with investments 1,038 1,067

 with affiliated companies not included in the consolidated financial statements 33,080 41,880

38  Information on related  
party relationships 
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members of the management in key positions at Hella KGaa 
Hueck & Co. are the management Board (the managing General 
partner dr. Jürgen Behrend and the managing directors of Hella 

the Chairman of the supervisory Board, dr. michael Hoffmann- 
Becking, is a partner in a law firm which provides legal advisory 
services to Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. and the Group in several 
different fields of law, including company law, securities law, 
labour law and competition law. during fiscal year 2015/2016, the 
Group was billed a total of € 456 thousand plus sales tax for these 
advisory services (prior year: € 2,401 thousand plus value added 
tax). specifically, the advisory services provided during fiscal year 
2015/2016 consisted largely of support for the first ordinary 
annual general meeting of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. moreover, 
supervisory Board member Christoph thomas, as the owner of an 
architecture firm, received a fee of € 93 thousand (prior year: € 134 
thousand) for the provision of advisory and support services con-
nected to the planning of the second Hella company crèche. 
no other payments or benefits were granted to members of the 

Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft GmbH), as well as members of 
the shareholder Committee and the supervisory Board.

supervisory Board for products and services, in particularly for 
advisory and placement services.

€ 8,990 thousand (prior year: € 9,604 thousand) was appropri-
ated for the pension liabilities to former members of the manage-
ment Board of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. and the former man-
aging directors of the predecessor company and their surviving 
dependants. this was partially born by allianz pensionsfonds 
aG. the plan assets absorbed by the liabilities for this group of 
people amounted to € 4,001 thousand (prior year: € 4,408 thou-
sand).

no loans or advances were granted to the members of the man-
agement Board, the supervisory Board or the shareholder Com-
mittee.

total remuneration paid to the management bodies:

€ thousand 2015/2016 2014/2015

Total remuneration paid to the active institution members 16,753 19,887
 management Board 15,453 18,622

 supervisory Board 400 397
 shareholder Committee 900 868

Total remuneration paid to the former institution members and their surviving dependants 7,068 351
 management Board 7,068 351

General information on financial instruments
we set out below the carrying amounts and fair values of classes 
of financial instruments and the carrying amounts in accord-

on 28 may 2015, the General partners as well as the shareholder 
Committee and the supervisory Board of KGaa Hueck & Co. 
(“Company”) approved a joint declaration of Conformity in accord-
ance with section 161 aktiengesetz (aktG – German stock Cor-
poration act) which states that the recommendations of the Ger-

ance with ias 39 measurement categories as at 31 may 2016 
and the prior year.

man Corporate Governance Code have been and will be complied 
with as well as which recommendations have not been or are not 
being applied. this and the updated version of 31 may 2016 have 
been made permanently accessible on the Company’s website at 
www.hella.com/declarationofconformity

40  Disclosures on financial instruments

39  Declaration of Conformity with  
the Corporate Governance Code
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€ thousand

measure ment 
category  

under ias 39

Carrying 
amount  

31 May 2016
Fair value  

31 Mai 2016

Carrying 
amount  

31 may 2016
Fair value  

31 mai 2015
Fair value  
hierarchy

Cash and cash equivalents laR 585,134 585,134 602,744 602,744

trade receivables laR 937,471 937,471 839,322 839,322

Financial assets

 available-for-sale financial assets afs 328,117 328,117 402,778 402,778 level 1

 loans laR 339 339 204 204

 other bank balances laR 334 334 2,095 2,095

other financial assets

 derivatives used for hedging n.a. 1,751 1,751 2,276 2,276

 derivatives not used for hedging Hft 4,724 4,724 3,181 3,181

  other receivables associated with financing activities laR 32,176 32,176 37,706 37,706

Financial assets (current) 1,890,046 1,890,046 1,890,307 1,890,307

Financial assets

 available-for-sale financial assets afs 10,595 10,595 11,074 11,074 level 2

 loans laR 6,407 6,407 8,559 8,059 level 2

 other receivables associated with financing activities laR 31 31 20 20 level 2

other financial assets

 trade receivables laR 29,661 29,661 38,347 38,347 level 2

Financial assets (non-current) 46,694 46,694 58,000 57,500
Financial assets 1,936,740 1,936,740 1,948,307 1,947,807  

Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities to banks FlaC 85,901 85,901 97,153 97,153

 Financial lease liabilities n.a. 979 979 3,068 3,068

trade payables FlaC 633,818 633,818 573,893 573,893

other financial liabilities

 derivatives used for hedging n.a. 4,378 4,378 11,897 11,897 level 2

 derivatives not used for hedging Hft 1,244 1,244 6,224 6,224 level 2

 other financial liabilities FlaC 157,123 157,123 190,254 190,254

Financial liabilities (current) 883,442 883,442 882,489 882,489
 

Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities to banks FlaC 170,673 223,269 153,793 152,506 level 2

 Bonds FlaC 894,056 971,568 884,393 942,616 level 1

 Financial lease liabilities n.a. 60 60 700 700

other financial liabilities

 derivatives used for hedging n.a. 88,843 88,843 118,625 118,625 level 2

 derivatives not used for hedging Hft 0 0 8,214 8,214 level 2

 other financial liabilities FlaC 10,765 10,765 941 941

Financial liabilities (non-current) 1,164,397 1,294,505 1,166,666 1,223,602
Financial liabilities 2,047,839 2,177,947 2,049,155 2,106,091  

of which aggregated under ias 39 measurement categories:

Financial assets Hft 4,724 4,724 3,181 3,181  

laR 1,591,553 1,591,553 1,528,998 1,528,498

afs 338,712 338,712 413,853 413,853  

Financial liabilities Hft 1,244 1,244 14,438 14,438  

FlaC 1,952,336 2,082,444 1,900,427 1,957,363  

Financial assets, derivatives used for hedging 1,751 1,751 2,276 2,276  

Financial liabilities, derivatives used for hedging 93,221 93,221 130,522 130,522  
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level 1: measurement of market value based on listed, unadjusted 
prices on active markets.

level 2: measurement of market value based on criteria for assets 
and financial liabilities that can be either directly or indirectly 
derived from prices on active markets.

level 3: measurement of market value based on criteria that can-
not be derived from active markets. 

the Group reports possible transfers between different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period in which 
the change occurred. as in the prior year, no transfers were 
made between different levels of the fair value hierarchy during 
the 2015/2016 reporting period. the carrying amounts of short-
term financial instruments at the reporting date correspond to 
the market value owing to their short residual term and the fact 
that they are recognised at market value. 

the carrying amounts of non-current financial liabilities also 
largely correspond to the market values owing to the mostly 
variable interest rates. long-term financial instruments on the 

assets side are mainly determined by the other investments and 
loans. the fair values of these equity components measured at 
acquisition costs could not be determined as no stock exchange 
or market prices were available. as the market value cannot be 
reliably determined, the other investments and non-consoli-
dated affiliated companies reported here are carried at acquisition 
costs in the amount of € 10,595 thousand (prior year: € 11,074 thou-
sand). the change in value compared with the prior year is due 
to a permanent impairment. 

at the reporting date, there were no plans to sell the other invest-
ments and non-consolidated affiliates measured at acquisition 
cost.

Pledged collateral
as at 31 may 2016, fixed-term deposits of € 28,773 thousand 
(prior year: € 26,404 thousand) were pledged to a trustee as stat-
utory insolvency protection for partial retirement fund assets. 
occasionally, collateral is pledged from the business assets to a 
limited extent as security for bank loans. these may, for exam-
ple, be categorised as receivables.

Net profit/loss per measurement category
the following table shows the net result from financial instruments for each ias 39 measurement category:

when determining the net result from financial instruments, 
goodwill impairments/write-ups, income and expense result-
ing from the application of the effective interest method, income 
and expenses from currency translation, gains or losses on dis-
posals, and other changes in the fair value of financial instru-
ments recognised in the income statement are taken into account.

Financial risk management
the Hella Group is exposed to various financial risks in the 
course of its operations. in particular, these include liquidity, cur-
rency and interest rate risk. Risk management is carried out by 
the central financial management department in accordance with 
the guidelines adopted by the corporate bodies. detailed infor-
mation is provided in the management report.

€ thousand interest dividends
Fair value meas-

urement
Currency  

gains/losses
 

2015/2016
loans and receivables 7,612 0 – 1,890 754 6,476
available for sale 4,718 1,160 – 2,963 0 2,915
liabilities measured at amortised cost – 34,372 0 0 443 – 33,929
Financial derivatives held for trading (net) 0 0 – 24,121 0 – 24,121
Total – 22,042 1,160 – 28,974 1,198 – 48,659

€ thousand interest dividends
Fair value meas-

urement
Currency  

gains/losses
 

2014/2015
loans and receivables 7,258 0 – 1,724 5,185 10,719
available for sale 5,605 1,270 – 98 0 6,777
liabilities measured at amortised cost – 40,953 0 0 – 3,464 – 44,417
Financial derivatives held for trading (net) 0 0 8,333 0 8,333
Total – 28,090 1,270 6,511 1,721 – 18,588

the fair value measurement of the loans and receivables corresponds to the impairments of unrecoverable elements.
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on the procurement side, commodity price risks and risks relating 
to the general security of supply exist, among others. moreover, 
credit risks arise from trade receivables, and also from receivables 
relating to financial transactions, such as the investment of cash 
or cash equivalents or the acquisition of securities. liquidity risk 
can arise from a significant decline in the operating business 
performance as well as from the risk categories mentioned 
above.

Management of liquidity risks
Hella works with mainly centralised liquidity structures in order 
to pool liquidity across the Group. the centralised liquidity is cal-
culated on a regular basis and planned using a bottom-up pro-
cess. Hella actively manages its loan portfolio on the basis of 
the liquidity planning. 

the following tables show the maximum settlements. the pres-
entation shows the worst-case scenario for Hella, i. e. the ear-
liest possible contractual payment date. this takes into account 
creditor cancellation rights. Foreign currency positions are always 
converted at the spot rate applicable on the reporting date. 
interest payments for positions with variable interest rates are 
always measured at the reference interest rate applicable on 
the reporting date. in addition to non-derivative financial instru-
ments, derivative financial instruments (e. g. foreign currency 
forwards and interest rate swaps) are taken into account. For 
derivatives where gross payments are settled between the par-
ties involved, only the settlements are presented in line with the 
worst-case scenario. these settlements are offset by cash 
proceeds, which are also presented. in addition, loans granted 
but not yet drawn in full and financial guarantees issued are 
included in the settlements.

maximum future settlements as at 31 may 2016 
€ thousand

less than  
1 year

Between 1 and  
5 years

 
more than 5 years

 
total

non-derivative financial liabilities 906,817 1,107,115 360,176 2,374,108

derivative financial instruments 594,684 64,644 340,661 999,989

loan commitments/financial guarantees 0 0 0 0

Total 1,501,501 1,171,759 700,837 3,374,097
Cash proceeds from gross derivatives 587,576 34,200 254,757 876,533

maximum future settlements as at 31 may 2015 
€ thousand

less than  
1 year

Between 1 and  
5 years

 
more than 5 years

 
total

non-derivative financial liabilities 917,202 1,064,511 320,466 2,302,179

derivative financial instruments 611,556 73,033 354,578 1,039,167

loan commitments/financial guarantees 0 1,000 565 1,565

Total 1,528,758 1,138,544 675,609 3,342,911
Cash proceeds from gross derivatives 589,464 40,293 242,267 872,024
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the Group’s liquidity supply is also sufficiently assured through 
cash and bank balances on hand, marketable short-term secu-

rities on hand, and the available unused bank lines of credit. the 
following table shows the significant liquidity instruments:

the total of the cash lines of credit available to the Hella Group 
amounts to roughly € 705,553 thousand (prior year: € 769,367 thou-
sand). this figure was made up of a syndicated loan sized at 
€ 450,000 thousand (maturing in 2021 with a one-year extension 
option, utilisation as at 31 may 2016: 0 %) and short-term money 
market lines of credit in the amount of € 255,553 thousand (uti-
lisation as at 31 may 2016: 28 %). in some cases, standard cred-
itor cancellation rights apply to the latter (as part of financial 
covenants). these covenants are reviewed on an ongoing basis 
as part of corporate planning and are currently rated as non-crit-
ical. owing to the broad and international base of its core banks, 
the funding risk is considered very low. 

Management of currency risks
Currency risks (in the context of transaction risks) arise from 
receivables, liabilities, liquid funds, securities, and executory con-
tracts in a currency other than the functional currency. Currency 
derivatives, primarily foreign currency forwards, are used to hedge 
against exchange rate-related fluctuations impacting these pay-
ments and positions. the currency risk of the Hella Group is 
continuously monitored and managed on the basis of the net expo-
sures calculated for the Group. net exposure is calculated by 
aggregating planned foreign currency cash flows. 

as at 31 may 2016, significant net exposures of the Hella Group 
for fiscal year 2016/2017 were identified in Usd (4 million short, 
prior year: 67 million long), mXn (800 million long, prior year: 
499 million short), Cny (531 million long, prior year: 152 million 
long) and CZK (4,192 million short, prior year: 20 million long); 
(information is provided in the respective currency).

Currency derivatives are only used to hedge the currency risks 
arising from underlying transactions. speculative transactions 
are not permitted. 

in principle, the fair value of currency derivatives is recognised. 
in the case of cash flow hedge accounting within the meaning of 

ias 39, the unrealised gains and losses from the hedging trans-
action are initially recognised in the statement of changes in 
equity, with no impact on the income statement. the gains and 
losses are only realised when the hedged underlying transac-
tion is also recognised in profit or loss.

Hella mainly designated currency derivatives to hedge foreign 
currency cash flows from funding in yen maturing in 2032 or 
2033 under cash flow hedge accounting. other currency deriva-
tives used to hedge currency risks from operating cash flow, 
with a maturity of less than one year in almost all cases, were 
also designated as cash flow hedge accounting. 

Hedge accounting was not applied to other currency derivatives 
used to hedge underlying financial transactions. measurement 
changes are recognised in the income statement.

in fiscal year 2015/2016, changes in the market value of the above- 
mentioned derivatives used for cash flow hedge accounting 
amounting to € 29,700 thousand (prior year: € –39,399 thou-
sand) were recognised in equity. all in all, market values of cur-
rency derivatives used for hedging purposes amounting to 
€ –94,109 thousand (prior year: € –130,649 thousand) were rec-
ognised in equity at the reporting date. equity gains of € 461 
thousand were recognised in the income statement in fiscal 
year 2015/2016 (prior year: € –13,702 thousand). Currency deriv-
atives not presented in accordance with hedge accounting showed 
changes in the market value of currency derivatives recognised 
in the income statement of € 4,431 thousand (prior year: 
€ 7,924 thousand).

the following sensitivity analyses show the effects a 10 % change 
in the exchange rate of each foreign currency would have on 
equity or on net profit/loss for the year (before taxes). the anal-
ysis is based on the respective risk position on the reporting date 
and only takes into account the largest gross exposure in the 
Hella Group.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Cash and bank balances on hand 585,134 602,744

marketable securities 328,117 402,778

Cash line of credit 705,553 769,367

Total 1,618,804 1,774,889
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the relatively high sensitivity of the equity to exchange rate fluc-
tuations of the Jpy results from the hedging of the funding issued 
in this currency (aFlaC). it will be listed this year instead of the 
dKK sensitivity. the sensitivities for 31 may 2015 have been 
adjusted accordingly. the relatively high sensitivity of the net 
profit/loss for the year is largely attributable to market fluctua-
tions of non-derivative financial instruments and planned cash 
flows that are not hedged within the meaning of ias 39. the 
sensitivity analysis is performed on the basis of the hedging 
ratios as at the reporting date. they are reviewed regularly in 
the course of the fiscal year and may be above or below the level 
at the reporting date. 

Management of interest rate risks
interest rate risks arise when fluctuations in interest rates lead 
to changes in the value of financial assets and liabilities on the 
statement of financial position of Hella. these may affect the 
amount of the interest income and expenses in the fiscal year as 
well as the market value of the derivatives concluded and other 
financial assets measured at fair value. as at 31 may 2016, inter-
est rate-sensitive net financial debt stood at € 573 million (prior 
year: € 652 million). 

these risks are managed by the Hella Group through natural 
hedging, i. e. the elimination of interest rate risks by assuming 
offsetting items and through the targeted use of derivatives. the 
derivative financial instruments used are usually interest rate 
swaps. interest rate derivatives are generally used to mitigate 
cash flow risks.

as with currency derivatives, interest rate derivatives are settled 
mainly by Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. the use of interest rate deriv-
atives is also always associated with underlying transactions. 
interest rate derivatives used to hedge interest rate risks from 
non-derivative financial instruments are designated as cash flow 
hedge accounting. speculative transactions are not permitted. 

the following sensitivity analyses show how a one percentage 
point movement in the respective market interest rate would 
change equity and net profit/loss for the year (in each case before 
taxes). the analysis is based on the respective risk position on 
the reporting date. as at the reporting date on 31 may 2016 the net 
present value method was introduced as the new calculation 
method, replacing modified duration, in order to enable the Com-
pany to take into account the hedging of non-current liabilities in 
Jpy. the figures for 31 may 2015 have been adjusted accordingly.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

exchange rate
 
Foreign currency

depreciates by 
10 %

appreciates by 
10 %

depreciates by 
10 %

appreciates by 
10 %

Change in equity owing to fluctuations in the market 
value of currency derivatives used for hedging purposes 
(cash flow hedge accounting) 

Cny 1,717 – 2,099 4,715 – 5,762

CZK – 2,038 2,491 – 11,770 14,385

Jpy – 10,794 13,951 – 6,794 8,522

mXn – 4,596 5,618 – 6,336 7,745

pln 44 – 54 – 3,016 3,686

Usd 4,909 – 6,000 14,395 – 17,593

Change in net profit/loss for the year owing to unhedged 
currency exposures in the case of non-derivative 
financial instruments and fluctuations in the market 
value of derivative financial instruments

Cny – 6,583 8,045 – 2,031 2,482

CZK 14,102 – 17,236 – 66 80

Jpy 979 – 1,196 – 6,055 7,401

mXn – 3,548 4,337 2,691 – 3,289

pln – 3,612 4,414 47 – 57

Usd 365 – 446 – 5,587 6,828
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Management of other price risks
other price risks arise for Hella through investments in current 
or non-current, non-interest-bearing securities, largely equities 
and funds that are classified as “available for sale” and therefore 
measured at fair value in equity. in addition, price risks arise 
from other investments that belong to the “available-for-sale” 

Management of commodity price risks
the Hella Group is exposed to various commodity price risks 
through the purchase of components. these risks are managed 
by the Hella Group through natural hedging, i. e. the elimina-
tion of commodity price risks by means of offsetting effects from 
purchasing and sales, and through the targeted use of derivatives. 
the derivatives used are commodity swaps. as at 31 may 2016, 
there were no commodity derivatives with a material market 
value (market value in the prior year: € 0 thousand). 

category, provided they are measured at fair value. these items 
are shown in the following table. investments measured at acqui-
sition cost because the fair value cannot be reliably determined 
are not exposed to balance sheet risk and are therefore not 
included in the presentation.

Commodity (net) exposure for 2016/2017 is expected to amount 
to € 2.0 million (prior year: € 8.5 million). 
 
the following sensitivity analysis shows what effects fluctua-
tions of 10 % in the market prices of underlying commodities 
would have had on net profit/loss for the year (before taxes). 

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

 
market interest rate

rises by  
1 percentage point

falls by 
1 percentage point

rises by  
1 percentage point

falls by 
1 percentage point

Change in equity owing to fluctuations in the market 
value of fixed-income securities recognised directly in 
equity at fair value – 15,649 20,356

 
 

– 11,244

 
 

16,348

Change in net profit/loss for the year owing to variable 
interest items in the case of non-derivative financial 
instruments and fluctuations in the market value of 
derivative financial instruments 5,726 – 5,726

 
 
 

6,527

 
 
 

– 6,527

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Commodity price rises by 10 % falls by 10 % rises by 10 % falls by 10 %

Changes to net profit/loss for the year
owing to fluctuations in the market value of hedged 
items and commodity derivatives used

 
 

– 198

 
 

198

 
 

– 850

 
 

850
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Hella actively manages the price risks. By continuously observ-
ing and analysing the markets, it is possible to manage invest-
ments in real time. negative developments on the capital markets 
can thus be identified at an early stage and appropriate measures 
taken. derivatives are only used to manage other price risks in 
exceptional cases.

the following sensitivity analyses show what effects fluctuations 
of 10 % in the market values of non-derivative and derivative finan-
cial instruments would have had on equity or on net profit/loss 
for the year (before tax). the analysis is based on the respective 
volumes on the reporting date.

Management of default risks
default risks arise for the Hella Group from its business oper-
ations and from financial investments and financial derivatives 
with positive fair values. 

the maximum default risk for the financial assets corresponds 
to their carrying amount. netting off is not carried out due to the 
full or partial lack of offsetting criteria under ias 32.

derivative transactions are concluded by Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. 
solely on the basis of the German master agreement for Finan-
cial derivatives transactions (dRv). this does not meet the 
requirements for netting off, since offsetting of outstanding 
amounts would be legally enforceable only subject to future 
events, such as the insolvency of a contractual partner. the table 
below shows the potential for offsetting the financial instruments 
that are recognised by Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. and are subject 
to the stated agreements.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

securities price rises by 10 % falls by 10 % rises by 10 % falls by 10 %

Change in equity owing to changes in prices of 
unimpaired securities and investments in public funds

 
 

2,607
 

– 2,607

 
 

3,699
 

– 3,699

Change in net profit/loss for the year owing to changes 
in prices of impaired securities

 
117

 
– 117

 
80

 
– 80

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

price risk positions of the non-derivative assets 27,239 49,547

 31 May 2016

 
 
€ thousand

 
 

Gross

 
 

ias 32.42

net prior to  
potential for 

offsetting

 
potential for 

offsetting

 
 

net

Assets – derivatives 6,475 0 6,475 2,458 4,017
Liabilities – derivatives – 94,448 0 – 94,448 2,458 – 91,990
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Financial derivatives and financial investments are only entered 
into with banks with good credit ratings.

operational risk is mainly managed by continuously monitoring 
receivables. if a specific default risk is identified, this risk is taken 
into account by recognising impairments in the corresponding 
amount. 

in individual cases, Hella Group companies also demand collat-
eral to secure receivables. this includes warranties, performance 
guarantees, and advance securities. Hella has a directive in place 
regarding the acceptance of securities. the only acceptable collat-
eral providers are banks and insurance firms with good credit 
ratings. Furthermore, many supplies to customers are subject 
to retention of title.

the maximum default risk for the financial assets corresponds 
to the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. 

However, these are to be offset against the collateral accepted by 
the Hella Group, so that the actual default risk is lower. 

lending commitments to companies that are not fully consoli-
dated or to third parties are only made by Hella Group compa-
nies in a few isolated cases. the default risk here is limited to 
the loan amount. as at 31 may 2016 no loan commitments were 
granted to companies not fully consolidated or to external third 
parties (prior year: € 1,565 thousand). 

trade receivables are essentially spread over key accounts from 
the automotive and automotive supply industry. the recover-
ability of all the receivables, which do not include overdue or 
impaired financial assets, is considered very high. this assess-
ment is based primarily on the fact that the Hella Group has a 
long-standing business relationship with most of its customers. 
the historical default rate for these trade receivables is extremely 
low.

Financial assets that are overdue but not impaired are shown below:

 31 may 2015

 
 
€ thousand

 
 

Gross

 
 

ias 32.42

net prior to  
potential for 

offsetting

 
potential for 

offsetting

 
 

net

assets – derivatives 5,457 0 5,457 – 4,896 561

liabilities – derivatives – 144,960 0 – 144,960 4,896 – 140,064

31 May 2016 31 may 2015

 
€ thousand

up to  
30 days

31 days to  
60 days

61 days to  
90 days

more than
90 days

up to  
30 days

31 days to  
60 days

61 days to 90 
days

more than
90 days

trade receivables 20,980 1,139 3,530 2,922 38,078 2,496 1,236 3,395

Financial receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

other financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 20,980 1,139 3,530 2,922 38,078 2,496 1,236 3,395
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an analysis of the individual impaired financial assets is shown below:

31 May 2016 31 may 2015

 
€ thousand

Gross  
carrying amount Impairment

Net  
carrying amount

Gross  
carrying amount impairment

net  
carrying amount

trade receivables 980,855 13,723 967,132
 

894,085
 

16,416
 

877,669

Financial receivables 594,613 2,732 591,881 613,270 1,763 611,507

other financial assets 379,260 1,533 377,727 460,664 1,533 459,131

Total 1,954,728 17,988 1,936,740 1,968,019 19,712 1,948,307

the following table shows the development of impairments in respect of financial assets in fiscal year 2015/2016 and the prior year:

€ thousand trade receivables Financial receivables other financial assets total

As at 1 June 2014 14,883 960 1,752 17,595

additions 3,702 803 0 4,504

Utilisation – 741 0 0 – 741

Reduction – 1,427 0 – 219 – 1,646

other effects 0 0 0 0

As at 31 May 2015 16,417 1,763 1,533 19,712

additions 2,261 969 0 3,230

Utilisation – 4,607 0 0 – 4,607

Reduction – 330 0 0 – 330

other effects – 18 0 0 – 18

As at 31 May 2016 13,723 2,732 1,533 17,988

with regard to the financial assets that are neither overdue nor 
impaired, there is currently no indication that further value adjust-
ments will be needed due to defaults.

Capital risk management
the Hella Group manages its capital with the aim of ensuring 
that all Group companies can continue to operate as going con-
cerns. By optimising the debt-equity ratio as needed, capital costs 
are kept as low as possible. these measures help to maximise 
shareholder income.

the capital structure consists of the current and non-current lia-
bilities in the statement of financial position less the cash repre-
senting net borrowings and the balance sheet equity. the Risk 
management Committee assesses and reviews the Group’s cap-
ital structure on a regular basis. Risk-adjusted capital costs are 
taken into account in this assessment.

the overall capital risk management strategy pursued in the cur-
rent fiscal year has not changed from the prior year.
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there were contractual obligations to purchase or use property, 
plant and equipment amounting to € 5,218 thousand as at the 
reporting date (prior year: € 11,036 thousand). in addition, there 

were contractual obligations to purchase intangible assets 
amounting to € 27 thousand (prior year: € 4,623 thousand). 

in prior fiscal years, Hella had already reported that european 
and Us authorities had in parallel commenced anti-trust inves-
tigations into Hella and other companies in the automotive 
lighting sector in 2012, the outcome of which is still not fore-
seeable at present. in material terms there were no significant 
activities in the eU proceedings during the past fiscal year; in 
formal terms the eU Commission has announced to us that it is 
initiating proceedings for payment of a fine. we will continue to 
cooperate fully with the eU Commission. in the Us proceedings 
there were no activities in the past fiscal year. 

according to eU regulations, a fine of up to 10 % of consolidated 
sales in the fiscal year before the decision to impose the fine can 
be imposed for violations of antitrust law. Fines and penalties 
imposed by the Us authorities may amount to up to 20 % of the 

sales in the Us affected by the cartel agreements. in addition, 
third parties who suffer loss as a result of violations of antitrust 
law can claim damages both in europe and the Usa.

the investigations Hella has itself conducted with the assis-
tance of external law firms revealed a number of incidents that 
constitute anti-competitive behaviour in accordance with exist-
ing practice of the european Commission. with regard to the eU 
proceedings, however, it cannot be predicted at present what view 
the european Commission will take of the scope and severity of 
potential breaches in its final decision. there were no changes in 
the Us proceedings in the past fiscal year. Consequently, it is at 
the moment not possible to put a reliable figure on the possible 
financial charges in connection with the proceedings in europe 
and the Usa. no provisions have therefore been set aside. 

41  Contractual obligations

42  Contingent liabilities

Hella KGaa regularly acts as lessee. these are operating as 
well as finance leases.

Operating leases as lessee
the expenses under operating leases recognised in the income 
statement amounted to € 28,273 thousand in the fiscal year (prior 
year: € 21,905 thousand). some lease contracts include exten-
sion options. Hella’s liability from operating leases largely relates 
to leases for passenger vehicles, office equipment, and smaller 
machinery.

43 Disclosures on leases

distribution of the present values of minimum lease payments:

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Up to 1 year 14,890 16,863

Between 1 and 5 years 29,630 33,546

more than 5 years 2,424 8,095

Total 46,944 58,504
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distribution of minimum lease payments (not discounted):

distribution of the present values of minimum lease payments:

Liabilities arising from finance leases as lessee
the leased items contained in the statement of financial position in 
the context of finance leases largely relate to development services 

and machine leasing. the lease terms generally range from three 
to six years. some leases contain extension or purchase options.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Up to 1 year 979 3,068

Between 1 and 5 years 60 700

more than 5 years 0 0

Total 1,039 3,768

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Up to 1 year 963 3,069

Between 1 and 5 years 77 700

more than 5 years 0 0

Future financing costs under finance leases – 1 – 2

Total 1,039 3,768

distribution of minimum lease payments (not discounted):

distribution of the present values of minimum lease payments:

Receivables from finance leases as lessee
in the aftermarket segment, Hella concludes finance lease agree-
ments with garages for its portfolio of diagnostic testing equip-
ment, garage equipment and a/C servicing equipment. these 

as at 31 may 2016, impairments for unrecoverable receivables amounted to € 207 thousand (prior year: € 179 thousand).

agreements generally have 5-year terms. all lease agreements 
are concluded in euros and relate exclusively to business within 
the eU.

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Up to 1 year 12,670 10,963

Between 1 and 5 years 29,057 24,744

more than 5 years 0 0

Total 41,727 35,707

€ thousand 31 May 2016 31 may 2015

Up to 1 year 14,764 12,817

Between 1 and 5 years 31,774 27,246

more than 5 years 0 0

Future financing costs under finance leases – 4,811 – 4,356

Total 41,727 35,707
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lippstadt, 19 July 2016

the managing General partners of Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. 

dr. Jürgen Behrend

Hella Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH

dr. Rolf Breidenbach        markus Bannert        
(Chair)

stefan osterhage dr. matthias schöllmann 

there were no events after the reporting date which required 
reporting. 

the total fee for the services of the auditor KpmG aG wirtschaft-
sprüfungsgesellschaft invoiced for fiscal year 2015/2016 amounts 
to € 1,063 thousand (prior year: € 931 thousand) and includes 
the fees and expenses for the audit. an additional € 11 thousand 

(prior year: € 258 thousand) for other audit services, € 370 thou-
sand (prior year: € 287 thousand) for tax consulting services and 
€ 213 thousand (prior year: € 7 thousand) for other services were 
recognised as expenses.

44 Events after the reporting date

45 Audit fees
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Scope of consolidation
Fiscal year 2015/2016

affiliated companies included in the consolidated financial statements:

investment
number Company Country City in % in

1 Hella KGaa Hueck & Co. Germany lippstadt 100.0

2  Hella innenleuchten-systeme GmbH 1 Germany wembach 100.0 1

3   Hella innenleuchten-systeme Bratislava, s.r.o. slovakia Bratislava 100.0 2

4  Hella Fahrzeugkomponenten GmbH 1 Germany Bremen 100.0 1

5   HFK liegenschaftsgesellschaft mbH Germany Bremen 100.0 4

6  Hella electronics engineering GmbH 1 Germany Regensburg 100.0 1

7  Hella aglaia mobile vision GmbH 1 Germany Berlin 100.0 1

8  Hella distribution GmbH 1 Germany erwitte 100.0 1

9  Rp Finanz GmbH 1 Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

10   Hella Finance nederland the netherlands nieuwegein 100.0 9

11  docter optics se 1 Germany neustadt an der orla 95.8 1

12   docter optics inc. Usa Gilbert, aZ 100.0 11

13   docter optics Components GmbH Germany neustadt an der orla 100.0 11

14   docter optics s.r.o. Czech Republic skalice u Ceské lípy 100.0 11

15    HoRtUs Grundstücks-vermietungsgesellschaft 
mbH & Co. objekt neustadt/orla KG  

Germany düsseldorf 94.0 11

16  Hella saturnus slovenija d.o.o. slovenia ljubljana 100.0 1

17  Hella werkzeug technologiezentrum GmbH 1 Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

18  Hella Corporate Center GmbH 1 Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

19  Hella Gutmann Holding GmbH 1 Germany ihringen 100.0 1

20   Hella Gutmann solutions GmbH Germany ihringen 100.0 19

21   Hella Gutmann anlagenvermietung GmbH Germany Breisach 100.0 19

22   Hella Gutmann solutions international aG switzerland Hergiswil 100.0 19

23   Hella Gutmann solutions a/s denmark viborg 100.0 19

24    Hella Gutmann solutions as norway porsgrunn 100.0 23

25  Hella ooo Russia moscow 100.0 1

26          avitea GmbH work and more Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

27          Hella Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

28  Hella Holding international GmbH 1 Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

29   Hella shanghai electronics Co., ltd. China shanghai 100.0 28

30   Hella Changchun tooling Co., ltd. China Changchun 100.0 28

31   Hella Corporate Center (China) Co., ltd. China shanghai 100.0 28

32    Changchun Hella automotive lighting ltd. China Changchun 100.0 28

33   Beifang Hella automotive lighting ltd. China Beijing 100.0 28

34   Hella (Xiamen) automotive electronics Co. ltd. China Xiamen 100.0 28

35   Hella asia pacific pty ltd. australia mentone 100.0 28

36    Hella australia pty ltd. australia mentone 100.0 35

37    Hella-new Zealand limited new Zealand auckland 100.0 35

38    Hella-phil., inc. philippines dasmariñas 90.0 35

39    Hella asia pacific Holdings pty ltd. australia mentone 100.0 35

40     Hella Korea inc. south Korea seoul 100.0 39

41     Hella india automotive private limited india Gurgaon 100.0 39

42   Hella UK Holdings limited Great Britain Banbury 100.0 28
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investment
number Company Country City in % in

43    Hella limited Great Britain Banbury 100.0 42

44     Hella ireland limited ireland dublin 100.0 43

45   Hella Corporate Center Usa, inc. Usa plymouth, mi 100.0 28

46    Hella electronics Corporation Usa plymouth, mi 100.0 45

47    Hella inc. Usa peachtree City, Ga 100.0 45

48   Hella españa Holdings s. l. spain madrid 100.0 28

49    manufacturas y accesorios electricos s.a. spain madrid 100.0 48

50    Hella s.a. spain madrid 100.0 48

51   Hella Handel austria GmbH austria vienna 100.0 28

52    Hella Fahrzeugteile austria GmbH austria Großpetersdorf 100.0 51

53   Hella s.a.s. France le Blanc mesnil-Cedex 100.0 28

54    Hella engineering France s.a.s. France toulouse 100.0 53

55   Hella Benelux B.v. the netherlands nieuwegein 100.0 28

56   Hella s.p.a. italy Caleppio di settala 100.0 28

57   nordic Forum Holding a/s denmark odense 100.0 28

58    inteR-team sp. z o.o. poland warsaw 100.0 57

59    FtZ autodele & værktøj a/s denmark odense 100.0 57

60     p/f FtZ Faroerne Faroe islands tórshavn 70.0 59

61    Hellanor a/s norway skytta 100.0 57

62     automester a/s norway skytta 100.0 61

63    Ucando GmbH Germany Berlin 100.0 57

64     Ucando sp. z o.o. poland warsaw 100.0 63

65   Hella lighting Finland oy Finland salo 100.0 28

66   Hella autotechnik nova s.r.o. Czech Republic mohelnice 100.0 28

67   Hella CZ, s.r.o. Czech Republic Zruc nad sazavou 100.0 28

68   Hella Hungária Kft. Hungary Budapest 100.0 28

69   Hella polska sp. z o.o. poland warsaw 100.0 28

70   intermobil otomotiv mümessillik ve ticaret a.s. turkey istanbul 56.0 28

71   Hella Centro Corporativo mexico s.a. de C.v. mexico tlalnepantla 100.0 28

72    Hella automotive mexico s.a. de C.v. mexico tlalnepantla 100.0 71

73    Grupo administracion tecnica s.a. de C.v. mexico tlalnepantla 100.0 71

74    petosa s.a. de C.v. mexico tlalnepantla 100.0 71

75    Hellamex s.a. de C.v. mexico naucalpan 100.0 71

76   sistemas iluminacion s.a. de C.v. mexico tlalnepantla 100.0 28

77   Hella a/s denmark aabenraa 100.0 28

78   Hella india lighting ltd. india new delhi 82.5 28

79   Hella asia singapore pte. ltd. singapore singapore 100.0 28

80    Hella trading (shanghai) Co., ltd. China shanghai 100.0 79

81     Hella auto service Center ltd. China shanghai 100.0 80

82    Changchun Hella shouxin led lighting Co. ltd. China Changchun 51.0 79

83   Hella slovakia Holding s.r.o. slovakia Kocovce 100.0 28

84    Hella slovakia signal-lighting s.r.o. slovakia Bánovce nad Bebravou 100.0 83

85    Hella slovakia Front-lighting s.r.o. slovakia Kocovce 100.0 83
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associates:

investment
number Company Country City in % in

86   Hella Romania s.r.l. Romania Ghiroda-timisoara 100.0 28

87   Hella do Brazil automotive ltda. Brazil são paulo 100.0 28

88   Hella automotive south africa pty. ltd. south africa Uitenhage 100.0 28

89   Hella middle east FZe United arab emirates dubai 100.0 28

90   Hella-Bekto industries d.o.o. Bosnia and Herzegovina Gorazde 70.0 28

91   Hella China Holding Co., ltd. China shanghai 100.0 28

92   Hella (Xiamen) electronic device Co. ltd. China Xiamen 100.0 91

93   Jiaxing Hella lighting Co. ltd. China Jiaxing 100.0 91

94   Hella (thailand) ltd. thailand Bangkok 100.0 28

95   Hella vietnam Company limited vietnam Ho Chi minh City 100.0 28

investment
number Company Country City in % in

96 Behr-Hella thermocontrol GmbH Germany lippstadt 50.0 1

97  Behr-Hella thermocontrol (shanghai) Co., ltd. China shanghai 100.0 96

98  Behr-Hella thermocontrol inc. Usa wixom, mi 100.0 96

99  Behr-Hella thermocontrol india private limited india pune 100.0 96

100  Behr-Hella thermocontrol Japan K.K. Japan tokyo 100.0 96

101  Behr-Hella thermocontrol eood Bulgarien Bulgaria sofia 100.0 96

102  BHtC mexico s.a. de C.v. mexico queretaro 100.0 96

103    BHtC servicios s.a. de C.v. mexico san miguel de allende 100.0 102

104 Behr-Hella service GmbH Germany schwäbisch Hall 50.0 1

105  Behr Hella service south africa pty ltd. south africa Johannesburg 100.0 104

106  Behr Hella Comércio de peças automotivas s.a. Brazil arujá 100.0 104

107  Behr service iam Usa inc. Usa troy, mi 100.0 104

108  Behr Hella service north america, llC Usa peachtree City, Ga 100.0 104

1 the company exercises the exemption pursuant to section 264 (3) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).
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investment
number Company Country City in % in

109 Beijing samlip automotive lighting ltd. China Beijing 24.5 39

110  Beijing Haohua special lighting ltd. China Beijing 49.0 109

111 Hsl electronics Corporation south Korea daegu 50.0 39

112 mando Hella electronics Corp. south Korea incheon 50.0 28

113  mando-Hella electronics (suzhou) Co. ltd. China suzhou 100.0 112

114    mando-Hella electronics automotive 
 india private limited

india sriperumbudur 100.0 112

115 merca trading oy ab Finland espoo 50.0 59

116  ooo orum merca Russia st. petersburg 100.0 115

117 asia aftermarket Holding GmbH Germany poing 50.0 28

118 HBpo Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH Germany lippstadt 33.3 1

119  HBpo GmbH Germany lippstadt 100.0 118

120   HBpo Germany GmbH Germany meerane 100.0 119

121   HBpo slovakia s.r.o. slovakia lozorno 100.0 119

122   HBpo automotive spain s.l. spain arazuri 100.0 119

123   HBpo mexico s.a. de C.v. mexico Cuautlancingo 100.0 119

124   HBpo Czech s.r.o. Czech Republic mnichovo Hradiste 100.0 119

125   HBpo north america inc. Usa troy, mi 100.0 119

126   HBpo UK limited Great Britain Banbury 100.0 119

127   HBpo Canada inc. Canada windsor 100.0 119

128   HBpo Korea ltd. south Korea Busan 100.0 119

129   HBpo Rastatt GmbH Germany Rastatt 100.0 119

130   HBpo ingolstadt GmbH Germany ingolstadt 100.0 119

131   HBpo China ltd. China shanghai 100.0 119

132   HBpo manufacturing Hungary Kft Hungary Kecskemét 100.0 119

133   sHB automotive module Company ltd. south Korea Gyeongbuk 50.0 119

134   HBpo automotive Hungaria Kft. Hungary Györ 100.0 119

135   HBpo Regensburg GmbH Germany Regensburg 100.0 119

136   HBpo pyeongtaek ltd. south Korea pyeongtaek 100.0 119

137   HBpo Beijing ltd. China Beijing 100.0 119

138   HBpo asia ltd. south Korea seoul 100.0 119

139   HBpo Japan K.K. Japan tokyo 100.0 119

140   HiCom HBpo sdn BHd malaysia shah alam 40.0 119

141   HBpo management sevices mX s.a. mexico Cuautlancingo 100.0 119

142   HBpo services mX s.a. mexico Cuautlancingo 100.0 119

143   HBpo Brasil automotive servicos ltda. Brazil são paulo 95.0 119

144 Hella Behr it services GmbH i.l. Germany lippstadt 50.0 1

145 aRteC advanced Reman technology Germany illingen 50.0 1

146  md Hungaria Kereskedelmi Hungary Hernad 100.0 145

147 Changchun Hella Faway automotive lighting Co., ltd. China Changchun 49.0 29

148  Chengdu Hella Faway automotive lighting Co., ltd. China Chengdu 100.0 147

149 innosent GmbH Germany donnersdorf 50.0 1

150 Hella pagid GmbH Germany essen 50.0 1

151 Beijing Hella BHap automotive lighting Co., ltd. China Beijing 50.0 91

152  Hella BHap (sanhe) automotive lighting Co., ltd. China sanhe 100.0 151



186 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT sCope oF Consolidation

the companies listed below were not consolidated as they are 
of minor significance for the Group’s net assets, financial posi-
tion, and results of operations. For this reason, the other disclo-

sures under section 313 (2) (4) HGB could also be omitted. the 
Group’s shares in these companies were recognised at amor-
tised cost as no market prices were available. 

Companies not included in the consolidated financial statements:

investment
number Company Country City in % in

153 hvs verpflegungssysteme GmbH Germany lippstadt 100.0 1

154 electra Hella’s s.a. Greece athens 73.0 28

155 Hella Japan inc. Japan tokyo 100.0 28

156 automester danmark aps denmark odense 100.0 59

157 din Bilpartner aps denmark odense 100.0 59

158 Cmd industries pty ltd. australia mentone 100.0 39

159 tec-tool s.a. de C.v. mexico el salto, Jalisco 100.0 71

160 Hella property investments ltd. Great Britain Banbury 100.0 42

161 astra-phil., inc. philippines manila 30.0 35

162 Hella-stanley Holding pty ltd. australia mentone 50.0 1

163 H+s invest GmbH & Co. KG Germany pirmasens 50.0 1

164 FwB Kunststofftechnik GmbH Germany pirmasens 20.1 163

165 H+s verwaltungs GmbH Germany pirmasens 50.0 1

166 intedis GmbH & Co. KG Germany würzburg 50.0 1

167 intedis verwaltungs-GmbH Germany würzburg 50.0 1

168 sl – Hella slovakia s.r.o. slovakia nové mesto 49.0 83
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investments:

since no significant influence is exercised over the following com-
panies, they were treated as investments.

investment
number Company Country City in % in

169 paRtsliFe GmbH Germany neu-isenburg 9.7 1

170 tecalliance GmbH Germany ismaning 7.0 1

171 emC test nRw GmbH electromagnetic compatibility Germany dortmund 11.6 1

172 Cartec technologie- und entwicklungsCentrum GmbH Germany lippstadt 16.7 1

173 KFe Kompetenzzentrum Fahrzeug elektronik GmbH Germany lippstadt 12.0 1
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Auditor’s report

“we have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared 
by Hella KGaa Hueck & Co., lippstadt, comprising the consol-
idated income statement, the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated 
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and the notes to 
the consolidated financial statement together with the Group man-
agement report for the fiscal year from 1 June 2015 to 31 may 
2016. the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report in accordance with iFRss, as 
adopted by the eU, and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to section 315a (1) of the German 
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB) are the responsi-
bility of the company’s management. our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
on the Group management report on the basis of our audit. 

we conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with § 317 HGB and German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by 
the institute of public auditors in Germany (institut der wirtschaft-
sprüfer – idw). those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the 
presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations in the consolidated financial statements in accord-
ance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in 
the Group management report are detected with reasonable 
assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the eco-
nomic and legal environment of the Group, and expectations as 
to possible misstatements, are taken into account in the deter-
mination of audit procedures. the effectiveness of the account-
ing-related internal control system and the evidence supporting 
the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report are examined primarily on the basis 
of spot checks within the framework of the audit. the audit 

includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 
entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities 
to be included in the scope of consolidation, the accounting and 
consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements and Group management 
report. we believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

our audit has not led to any reservations.

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-
dated financial statements comply with iFRss, as adopted by 
the eU, the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315a (1) HGB and give a true and fair view of 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 
Group in accordance with these requirements. the Group man-
agement report is consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments and as a whole provides an accurate view of the Group’s 
position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of 
future development.”

Bielefeld, 2 august 2016

KpmG aG
wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

prof. dr. andrejewski dr. Hain
(auditor) (auditor)  
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To the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial state-
ments and annual financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group and the company in accordance with applicable account-
ing principles, and the Group management report and manage-
ment report include a fair review of the development and per-

formance of the business and the position of both the Group and 
the company, together with a description of the principal oppor-
tunities and risks associated with the expected development of 
the group.

Lippstadt, 19 July 2016

Responsibility statement
on the consolidated financial statements, annual financial statements, Group management  
report and management report of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co. dated 31 May 2016.

Dr. Jürgen Behrend
(Managing General Partner  
of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co.)

Markus Bannert  
(Managing Director of
HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH)

Dr. Matthias Schöllmann
(Managing Director of
HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH)

Dr. Rolf Breidenbach
(President and CEO of HELLA  
Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH)

Stefan Osterhage
(Managing Director of
HELLA Geschäftsführungsgesellschaft mbH)
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Supervisory Board of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co.

Prof. Dr. Michael Hoffmann-Becking 
attorney-at-law, Chairman of the supervisory Board

Alfons Eilers
trade union secretary, first deputy chairman

Laura Behrend 
student

Paul Berger
member of the works council

Michaela Bittner
senior executive

Heinrich Georg Bölter
member of the works council

Manuel Frenzel
student

Elisabeth Fries
Housewife

Stephanie Hueck
entrepreneur

Susanna Hülsbömer
member of the works council 

Klaus Kühn
privatier, Chairman of the supervisory Board of Flossbach
von storch, member of the supervisory Board of morphosys aG

Manfred Menningen
trade union secretary on the executive  
Board of the German metalworkers’ Union (iG metall)

Manuel Rodriguez Cameselle
member of the works council

Marco Schweizer
master mechanic

Dr. Konstanze Thämer
doctor

Christoph Thomas
architect

Bodies of HELLA KGaA Hueck & Co.



191OVERVIEW OF BODIES

Shareholder Committee

Manfred Wennemer
Former CEO of Continental AG,  
Chairman of the Shareholder Committee

Roland Hammerstein
Attorney-at-law, deputy chairman

Moritz Friesenhausen
Business consultant

Dr.-Ing. Gerd Kleinert
Former CEO of Kolbenschmidt Pierburg AG 

Klaus Kühn
Former member of the Management Board 
of Bayer AG, Leverkusen
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Markus Bannert
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until 30 November 2015

Dr. Wolfgang Ollig
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Stefan Osterhage
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Glossary

Adjusted EBIT 
earnings before interest and income taxes and the non-recur-
ring charges arising from the loss of the supplier in China,  
as well as the costs incurred in conjunction with the voluntary 
partial retirement and severance payment programme.

Adjusted EBIT margin 
earnings before interest and income taxes and the non-recur-
ring charges arising from the loss of the supplier in China,  
as well as the costs incurred in conjunction with the voluntary 
partial retirement and severance payment programme  
relative to sales. 

Adjusted EBITDA 
earnings before depreciation and amortisation, interest and 
income taxes and the non-recurring charges arising from  
the loss of the supplier in China, as well as the costs incurred  
in conjunction with the voluntary partial retirement and  
severance payment programme relative to sales. 

Adjusted EBITDA margin 
earnings before depreciation and amortisation, interest, 
income taxes and the non-recurring charges arising from the 
loss of the supplier in China, as well as the costs incurred  
in conjunction with the voluntary partial retirement and sever-
ance payment programme relative to sales. 

AFLAC 
acronym for “american Family life assurance Company”.  
american insurance company specialised in health and life 
insurance.

Asia/Pacific/RoW
the asia/pacific region comprises the countries of asia as  
well as australia and new Zealand. “Rest of world” is the  
term used to cover all other countries outside of those regions 
mentioned specifically, such as the african states. 

Associates
associates are companies over which the Group  
exercises significant influence but no control. 

At equity
inclusion in the consolidated financial statements  
using the equity method with proportional equity

Compliance
adherence to statutory and internal Company provisions

DBO (defined benefit obligation)
value of obligations arising from  
the company pension scheme

EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes)
earnings before interest payments and income taxes

EBIT margin
Return on sales (ratio of eBit to sales)

EBITDA (earnings before interest,  
taxes, depreciation and amortisation)
earnings before depreciation, amortisation,  
interest and income taxes

EBITDA margin
Ratio of eBitda to sales

EBT (earnings before taxes)
profit before income taxes

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards)
international accounting rules for company financial  
statements to guarantee international comparability of  
annual and consolidated financial statements
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Joint ventures
Joint ventures are joint arrangements in which Hella  
exercises joint control together with other partners and  
also has rights to the arrangement’s equity.

KGaA 
acronym for “Kommanditgesellschaft auf aktien”, a partner-
ship limited by shares. the KGaa combines the elements  
of a stock corporation with those of a limited partnership. 

NAFTA 
acronym for “north american Free trade agreement”. the 
north american Free trade agreement is a trade association 
between Canada, the Usa and mexico, and forms a free  
trade zone in north america.

Net capital expenditures 
payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets less cash proceeds from the sale of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets as well as 
payments received for series production. 

Net debt 
net debt as the balance of cash and cash equivalents and  
current financial assets and current and non-current financial 
liabilities.

North and South America  
this region comprises all countries of north and south america. 

Operating cash flow 
Cash generated from operating activities after capital expenditure, 
excluding company acquisitions and restructuring measures

Rating 
in terms of financial accounting, the rating is a method for 
classifying creditworthiness. this rating is issued by independ-
ent rating agencies on the basis of a company analysis.

R&D
Research and development

Rest of Europe 
this region comprises all countries in europe including  
turkey and Russia but excluding Germany. 

Return on equity 
the return on equity is a ratio calculated by dividing  
net income by shareholders’ equity. 

ROIC (return on invested capital)
the ratio of operating income before financing costs  
and after taxes (return) to invested capital. 

Segment sales 
sales with third-party companies and other business  
segments

Segment sales of the business division
sales with third-party companies, other business segments 
and other business divisions of the same business segment

SOE, Special OE (Special Original Equipment)
designation of “special original equipment” at Hella. in  
this division Hella systematically taps customer target groups 
outside the automotive original equipment market, such as 
manufacturers of caravans/motorhomes, agricultural machin-
ery and construction machinery as well as municipalities. 

Tier-1 supplier 
First-level supplier
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Global Presence
Employees and Locations

  23,094
employees

employees
4,690

employees
5,905

LEGEND   Sales  Production  Development

Austria   
Belgium 
Bosnia- 
Herzegowina    
Czech Republic   
Denmark   
Finland   
France  
Germany   

Greece  
Hungary  
Ireland  
Italy  
Norway  
Poland  
Portugal  
Romania   
Russia  

Slovakia   
Slovenia  
Spain  
Switzerland  
The Netherlands  
Turkey  
UK  

EUROPE

Brazil     
Mexico   
USA    

NORTH AND SOUTH AMERICA

Australia   
China   
Dubai  
India   
Japan  
New Zealand   

ASIA, PACIFIC, ROW

Singapore  
South Africa 
South Korea    
Thailand 
The Philippines  
Vietnam 

Last updated: 31 May 2016 
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